WANKA ONLINE INC.
BEMEBRARLF

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with Limited Liability)
(RBEHEEMBELZERAT)

Stock Code B {45 : 1762

s -\l T
i \ > [

A |
<% ®
@ %" 0
VS A @ !

| ng ol

X ) - \‘" v = | :
SNV e =
i ! ty ® TN '.

2018

ANNUAL REPORT
F

12 WANKAONLINE

* For identification purposes only £ 1t & 7l



Contents

B %

Corporate Information

ATER 2
Annual Memorabilia 2018

B \EEEXER 5
Chairman’s Statement

EFRES 7
Honours and Awards

B8R iy
Financial Highlights

PSR 1
Management Discussion and Analysis

I ERES 14
Directors and Senior Management

EERSREEE 28
Report of the Directors

EFERE 35
Corporate Governance Report

LEELRE 67
Independent Auditor’s Report

B ZBENER & 81
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

GAatEmE 88
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

HE2ElER 89
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FEMBRAR 90
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GREtEREER 92
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FEHRERER 94
Notes to the Financial Statements

A TS ERERMI & 96
Definitions

B 265




Corporate Information

ATEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. GAO Dinan (Chairman

and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. ZHENG Wei (Vice Chairman)
Ms. ZHOU Yan

Non-executive Directors

Ms. XIE Guowang
Mr. SONG Chunyu
Mr. ZHU Jing

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Baoguo
Mr. LIANG Zhanping
Ms. ZHAO Xuemei

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. CHEN Baoguo (Chairman)
Ms. ZHAO Xuemei
Mr. ZHU Jing

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. LIANG Zhanping (Chairman)
Mr. CHEN Baoguo
Mr. ZHENG Wei

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. GAO Dinan (Chairman)
Mr. LIANG Zhanping
Ms. ZHAO Xuemei

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. CHAN Chi Keung

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. GAO Dinan
Mr. CHAN Chi Keung

EEE
YITES

BEBRE (FEREFEHATE)

BE KL (BIE/E)
Azt

ERITEE
Lzt
RERE

BIEPITES
REELE
HEMEZ L

EREEE

PREE KL (£/F)
HEELL
RERE

HWNEESE
REF L (25

RERLE
Lebined

REESE
BHBEE (TR)
RETF %
HBML T

ATHE
BRI E

RIERR
BHBEE
AR E

& Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018



Corporate Information

ATEH
 J
AUDITOR ZRUED
Ernst & Young RKE BB
Certified Public Accountants PIEET AT
22/F, CITIC Tower &8
1 Tim Mei Avenue HIR
Central SR
Hong Kong hiERE221
LEGAL ADVISERS LA
As to Hong Kong law: BEEEZE -
Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati HEHE o RFE o hF o BIVHBERMEBISA
Suite 1509, 15F, Jardine House FBPIR
1 Connaught Place REEIZ 15
Central Hong Kong TR AE 15421509 F
As to PRC law: BEHELEE -
Jia Han Law Firm bR EHEMEBEREAT
Suite 1619, Huaye International Centre Tower B FE]
No. 39 East 4th Ring Road Middle tREHEE
Chaoyang, Beijing SRPUIR A& 395K
PRC EEFERFPOBEIG19E
COMPLIANCE ADVISER B AR
Somerley Capital Limited FEANREERAT
20th Floor, China Building BEPER
29 Queen’s Road Central EREREFR295E
Central, Hong Kong EA1T2018
REGISTERED OFFICE EE g Y

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

1001 Admiralty Centre Tower 1
18 Harcourt Road
Hong Kong

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands
FETELRME,

&8
ERE18E
BEROE1001E

—E2-\FiH BNSBARATE J\



Corporate Information

ATAR

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN CHINA

4/F, Building No. 6
Runfeng Deshang Yuan
60 Anli Road
Chaoyang, Beijing

PRC

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 22, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

China Merchants Bank, Huizhong Beili Branch
1/F, Building 305

Chaoyang District

Beijing, PRC

Huaxia Bank, Andingmen Branch
No. 68 Andingmenwai Avenue
Dongcheng District

Beijing, PRC

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.wankaonline.com

STOCK CODE
1762

DATE OF LISTING
21 December 2018

BEB R PEEEEEME,

FEl

b =ERRS
2 56055
R e
61412

FEREEERDIBFEE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEEKRRHIBRERE
HEERSFETERAT
i)

EREKEBR183E
SRFL2218

FEFKRERIT
BERTERILELRT
ARt

5 E

305551818

EERTREMIZT
PE R

HHE
ZEPISNAT685E
AT HHSh

www.wankaonline.com

Rz 43 1X55%

1762

LB
—2-N\HE+-A=+—H

& Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018



Annual Memorabilia 2018

“E-N\FFEXER

MAJOR EVENTS T EEH)

MARCH 2018 —&—/\{£=H

The Group sponsored a release conference for introducing
Quick App standards.

IER D P i A IR R A B RS -
ﬁﬂ AY I 55 F & BF ﬂﬁ S

HMHME i E r.l\'l!“\ﬂ

G \‘f' SO T, =

The Group successfully acquired Shanghai Chile, further

R B R expanding our business scope.
AR SR | E— SRR PR -

iR E R

MAY 2018 —F—/\fHA

The Group received the AAA Enterprise Credit Evaluation
Certificate from China Software Industry Association.

REBES T PESATERSRTFHAAREREEEE -

JUNE 2018 —F—/\¥£XH

The Group unfolded the Quick App Nationwide Tour as the
lead sponsor.

RERZBEKEDEEHHAREERRR °
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Annual Memorabilia 2018

“E-)N\FFEXSERL

AUGUST 2018 —E&—/\f£/\ A

We organised the fourth MHA Carnival Night during the
China Digital Entertainment Expo & Conference.

EMETRERBREBRERESZH T ENR T ENEE
B BREE e

OCTOBER 2018 —&—/\¥f+1+A

) BT

Quick App “Qinglizi”, a statistical tool, officially became
online.

St TAREAIENFJEXEL-

DECEMBER 2018 —&—/\f+=H

HBUNE W HEPRE
Stock Code: 1

The Company was successfully listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange.

RABREBERZ IERBIN LT

The Group as a lead sponsor organised the Annual Black
Stone Awards Ceremony in Beijing.

AEBESEMRSELRER —F-ENRARERAE -
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBES

Mr. GAO Dinan
EHBRE

Chairman, Executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer

ZE BITEEREEHITE

Dear Shareholders,

In 2018, we achieved a remarkable milestone in our corporate
history. On 21 December 2018, we were successfully listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The
Listing has strengthened the capital base of the Company, further
preparing us well to capture the development opportunities arising
from the mobile internet and the upcoming 5G market. | am pleased
to present to the Shareholders the first annual report as a listed
company, for the year ended 31 December 2018 following our
successful Listing.

RESULTS

Our total revenue in 2018 amounted to RMB1,546.3 million,
representing an increase of 218.4% from RMB485.6 million in
2017. During the same period, gross profit grew by 372.0%
from RMB46.0 million in 2017 to RMB217.1 million in 2018. The
operating profit significantly increased from RMB12.9 million in 2017
to RMB101.9 million in 2018. The adjusted net profit significantly
surged to RMB127.0 million, representing a year-to-year increase of
1,603.5%, which is mainly attributable to an increase in both total
revenue and profit margin.

HBRURR
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TLIER218.4% c AHEFNH-_Z—LFHA
RE46.0EBTERI7T2.0%E=-E—N\F
MWARB217TAEEL - KE BB =-F—
+tEHARE1295BTAIEERZE2018F
WARE101.9BE T - KA FFBERLL
KIg#EK1,603.5% FEARME127.08E T
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Chairman’s Statement

EREEE

BUSINESS REVIEW

We connect smartphone users efficiently by utilising our core DAPG
platform to optimise various customised promotions and deliver
customised contents created by marketers to target smartphone
users. Under the close strategic partnership with MHA in 2018, we
were in a position to build an Android-based mobile ecosystem
that serves industrial players through approaching the largest
group of smartphone users in China at any time anywhere. The
ecosystem we have built had helped our distribution channels,
particularly those of smartphone manufacturers, to maximise their
monetisation potential by matching online advertising opportunities
with marketers seeking to advertise their contents. It also provides
marketers with access to a massive user base accumulated by
smartphone manufacturers in a cost-effective manner. Revenue
from our mobile advertising significantly grew from RMB485.6
million in 2017 to RMB1,443.3 million in 2018, while the number of
mobile apps and mobile games we helped advertise increased from
2,817 in 2017 to 3,869 in 2018.

Leveraging our first mover advantage in connecting isolated
Android-based systems of Chinese smartphone manufacturers with
other participants in our Android-based ecosystem, we completed
a cross-industry acquisition for the first time in 2018. In March
2018, we strategically acquired Shanghai ChiLe, and achieved
revenue of RMB67.4 million by providing online video distribution
services to a large number of marketers in 2018. In addition, based
on our in-depth knowledge and extensive experience in the online
game industry in our early stage, we also recently began to provide
game co-publishing services for mobile game developers. By the
end of 2018, we co-published 13 games. We believe that we will
expand into additional vertical markets in the future and empower
businesses to promote and deliver their contents and services to
smartphone users in more efficient and innovative manners.

|
BERMZONDAPGTE S » RI(EHSN
thEEEEFHAS  #ME(REFET
XEFNEEIE YREEFHERAER
BETEEFAZNEMIERR - ZF—N
FHEABRHEEREBZNEBESET &
1P 7T LA B B 8 1t 332 A8 2 AR B B K Y 25 B TR
AFEE  BETREMNMTIESHENZER
BERRS c RPBENERERSE T LIED
BN DERE LHESFHEER
BBEG I EEREHESERBHEATESW
TEZFETHAELR  FFRIEBND
BEEERERENNREARL - FEF > KM
TREETERFURARRGE A NF AEEE
HEEEBERTREANAFER - KNS
HEEREH—E-—tENARE485.68
ETAREEE-ZE-N\ENARYE1,443.38
B ZRERMETHEENBIEARAR
BEREENEER_Z=—tF2,817EIEZE
—Z— )\ 3,869 °
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBES

Together with 10 leading Chinese smartphone manufacturers,
namely vivo, Huawei, OPPO, Xiaomi, Lenovo, Gionee, Meizu, ZTE,
Nubia and Oneplus, we co-founded the QAA in March 2018. As the
eco-platform service provider of the QAA, we have launched official
guidelines to the Quick App development. In addition, we have
published comprehensive Quick App development kits and related
technical files which are available on Quickapp.cn, the official
website for Quick App development administered by us, providing
Quick App developers solutions to a host of issues they face in
developing Quick Apps. Following the launch of the Quick App,
we continue to assist smartphone manufacturers in improving the
functions of Quick App so that they are easier for users to detect
and promote the development process. The Quick App will connect
users to a large number of online and offline services, including
retail, e-commerce, community services, government affairs and
living issues. By December 2018, the Quick App developers in
China exceeded 10,000, and approximately 1 billion Android-based
devices support Quick App functions.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK AND STRATEGIES

In 2019, we will continue to build a leading distribution platform for
online contents and further foster our ecosystem, thereby providing
better services to our customers and business partners, and better
value for our shareholders. Our main strategies include:

° We will continue to invest significant resources in research
and development. Centering on the 5G technology, we
will enhance our technologies used for data and scenario
analytics in order to manage effectively the huge amount of
network traffic arising from a dramatic increase in the quality
transmission of data and video contents in the future;

—E-)\F=8 BAETAKPEEETFH
R  BEvivo > A >~ OPPO ~ /K »
BEA8 ~ &7~ MMR - P - BEET R — N
BRI IREREE - RFERRERNELE
FEREAELIRERAMENERES - It
o RFBRHETEAVNREAREIAS
R ARBIEAT SRS - I EEHRRFIEIERRE
FABIE'E F 45 — Quickapp.cn @ A 1RFEH
HEEEHRRERSIERN —R5IBE
RMEMBAFTR - BREREL LR » KM
ENMPS B TFUREETREARERNI
B UEFERZWRAFPEERIL(EEREB
B -REREHAFEBZNESRET RS
HEIZHER . GEEE BTHEK > £ERK
REBREEZ - BUE—ZT-NF+=AK:
EFPEMNIREAMZECEB1IE > Y10
BREREE I IFRERIEE -

R 22 B SRl
“E-NFRMSEEEZRELNEBRAR
BOBRVTAEUFEEREMNBENERR
7o BERBRMANEFREBSERH
ABRAEEE - RANEZRBEUT

o EMBEERAKREERANIHERER
BT ERSGRINMERFAERE
RESH DM - LB RRERE
BREBEAR SR mE N ARIERA S
BB KRERE
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Chairman’s Statement

EREEE

@

e We will actively develop and deepen our cooperation with o  KMESEERFMELEERSEHE
ecosystem participants, diversify our service offerings, and WEME  ZrltHRMNREEE A%
create more meaningful and attractive value-added potential ERASEEMEFEARERWS|I W
for ecosystem participants; BEBD

e We will use indirect sales in conjunction with our direct sales o KMEEEEEHEREEHEEEER
efforts to expand into these new regional markets, especially THER  BRERZFNEEMHS
in second- and third-tier cities in China; REREFRE= - =&

e We strive to lower the technical barrier for developing Quick o F{MBR O FRIKFE S IRIE ARV TP
Apps with the aim of redirecting the focus of more mobile app BREELZEHEAEXEZEINER
developers to Quick App development to meet the evolving EOREMARE  UWENREESNS
market demand; and BER IR

e We intend to expand further into large overseas markets in o RMETEIGEKE —SEOERNEN
order to attract global mobile app developers to develop % - LIRS 2B EEAREFRHER
applications compatible with the Android-based smartphones FREs A B E RS R S B R FHAER
produced in China, which will help Chinese smartphone AWERER - EEETESEE
manufacturers grow their user base globally. HEEBRRERENAFERE -

APPRECIATION ES )

The Board would like to take this opportunity to thank our
dedicated staff and management team for their commitment,
diligence and professionalism. The Board would also like to express
our sincere gratitude to the continuing support of our shareholders
and stakeholders. We will continue to enrich our platforms with
quality services for the development of a healthy and prosperous
Android ecosystem.

Mr. GAO Dinan
Chairman, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
22 March 2019

ESRRUARMABLOIANEIREEE
BOER  BRRBEBGOHE TS o
EERTERARTRMTREBHRER
R ERE RO BT o RGEENE
BERBHFTE  BHORRE LRGN
ERREE .

BRBRE
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Honours and Awards

RERIER
o

HONOURS AND AWARDS #8118 [E)

i
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Deloitte

e InJanuary 2018, the Group received the 2017 Outstanding High-tech Company from China Financial Market.
“E-N\F-B -FEEREFERE-_ZT-tFEHELREQT -

e In May 2018, the Group received the Innovation Award from Top Digital.
—E—-N\FHA - ~EBE%ETop Digital B F K 2& -

e InJune 2018, Mr. GAO Dinan, Chairman, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
received the Award “China’s 20-Year Internet: Special Contribution to Mobile Internet”.
“E-NERA-AQAER  PTESREFPITES F B AERE PR EHHE20F B8 5 BRABEISHRER
2]

e In September 2018, Mr. GAO Dinan, Chairman, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
was named as one of the business elites in China Fortune’s “40 Under 40” list.

“E-NFIA -FALAFEE - JTESRERVTES BB AENE(UE) ZF—N\FHEL0 405 A TERE
AR -

e In October 2018, the Group received the 2018 Ernst & Young Fudan China Most Potential Enterprise.

“E-N\FTA-FrEERE_Z-N\KEBFEGEBENLHER] -

¢ In November 2018, the Group received the Ram Charan Management Practice Award.

=B N\Ft—f - AEBEENIS « SHERERSA -

¢ In November 2018, the Group received 2018 Deloitte Technology Fast 50 & China Rising Star.
“E-N\F+-B -FEEREEY T - N\FESRESHES0E °

e In December 2018, the Group received the 2018 Best Al Service Platform from i China.

ZE-N\FFZA-FEEKERIR  —T-\FEREATERRETS -
—E-\FH BWMEHERAE Q/.\



Financial Highlights
A=

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR FEEmR

LOSS
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=t—HLFE
2015 2016 2017 2018
—E-RF ZE-RE ZEB—tF ZT-N\FE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETRT AR®TT ARETR
Revenue W #s 15,295 40,552 485,636 1,546,316
Cost of sales SHERAR (17,045) (54,358)  (439,638) (1,329,190)
Gross profit/(loss) E£7(£88) (1,750) (13,806) 45,998 217,126
Other income and gains Hlg A R s 1,017 2,133 961 11,661
Selling and distribution expenses $5&E R 285BI (1,142 (2,017) (5,712) (16,729)
Research and development cost  FfF 2% AN (7,017) (10,189) (15,866) (26,344)
Administrative expenses THRAX (3,709) (4,056) (8,665) (74,635)
Other expenses and losses Hinpax REE (5) (32) (1,976) (1,084)
Share-based payment expenses AR P BERMAREEX (502) (28,297) (1,866) (8,119)
Operating profit/(loss) BERR(E518) (13,108) (56,264) 12,874 101,876
Finance costs U E 9N - (1,710) (3,528) (6,216)
Loss on termination of convertible #&1F T[# AR EHHYEIE
bonds - - - (14,270)
Fair value losses on convertible A& R &% A FEEE
bonds - - - (3,202)
Fair value losses on preferred BERNATEEEE
shares (3,053) (35,405)  (134,443)  (217,123)
Fair value losses on warrants RREFN AL EEE - (4,748) (16,239) (261,791)
Loss before tax BB RIS TE (16,161) (98,127) (141,336)  (400,726)
Income tax expense FrSfimx - - (3,758) (20,815)
Loss for the year FREE (16,161) (98,127) (145,094) (421,541)
Non-HKFRS Measures FEBYBEHREER
(unaudited) iTE (RAER)
Adjusted EBITDA #538% EBITDA (12,494) (27,604) 17,422 166,625
Adjusted net profit KRR RT (12,606) (29,677) 7,454 126,978

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018




Financial Highlights
AT e

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ZEeMBRRAE (gRIER)
POSITION (SELECTED ITEMS)

As at 31 December
Rt=ZA=+—H
2015 2016 2017 2018
ZEB-RFE ZE-RF ZEB—tHF ZFT-N\FE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR%®TRT AR®BTR ARETT

Assets EE
Non-current assets FRBEE 622 1,360 37,896 255,494
Current assets REBEE 38,911 34,785 287,815 1,057,440
Total assets s E 39,533 36,145 325,711 1,312,934
Equity and liabilities Enkas
Equity attributable to owners BAREE AELER

of the parent (5,540) (76,696) (172,472) 875,494
Non-controlling interests =R R 314 (166) - -
Total equity LS 4R (5,226) (76,862)  (172,472) 875,494
Non-current liabilities FREERE 22,414 82,409 362,325 6,473
Current liabilities B I=RE 22,345 30,598 135,858 430,967
Total liabilities HEE 44,759 113,007 498,183 437,440
Total equity and liabilities S RERE 39,533 36,145 325,711 1,312,934

—E-\FH BMEHERAS {\




Management Discussion and Analysis

BEETR RS
s

Total Revenue &5
(RMB in millions AR¥EET)

1,546.3

485.6

2017 2018

Operating Profit &84 7
(RMB in millions AR¥HET)

101.9
12.9
2017 2018
15 Non-HKFRSs measures.

1. JEEBUBHESERE -

Gross Profit £F|
(RMB in millions AR¥EET)

2171

46.0

2017 2018

Adjusted net profit' 5% R F]"
(RMB in millions AR¥EHET)

127.0
1603.5%
7.5
2017 2018
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREF R R

REVENUE

Our revenue increased significantly from RMB485.6 million in 2017
to RMB1,546.3 million in 2018, due to the increase in the number
of mobile apps and mobile games we advertised. As we enhanced
our business relationships with smartphone manufacturers and
other suppliers of distribution channels, we were able to expand the
number of mobile apps and mobile games we advertised from 2,817
in 2017 to 3,869 in 2018.

In addition, we launched our online-video distribution services and
game co-publishing services in 2018, which generated revenues
of RMB67.4 million (2017: Nil) and RMB10.5 million (2017: Nil),
respectively.

The following table sets forth the comparative figures for the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

W ts

BB EHR=—E—tFHNARK485.6H
BT ARENE=Z—-N\FHARKE1,546.3
BET RERARMEENBBEREFR
BEREEBERE I - BERMESEFHE
R RE N E M AR A E TR
B RS UERMPEENBEIERARFR
BEERHEER-—ZT—tFEMN2,817EEZR
—E—N\FH3,8691E °

o RPN - N\FHHAZRIEER
DERBRERBERY  2REEKREA
R¥674HEBT (ZE—tF : T)RARE
105HEBT (ZE—tF 1 &) o

TREJBE-Z-NFRZZB—LF+=
A=+ - HILEFENLRHF -

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1+—B1LEE

2018 2017
—E-)\&E —E—tF

% of total % of total
RMB’000 revenues RMB’000 revenues
1548 25 5 15481 2 1Y
ABRHEFIT BRIt ARETFT Bt

Revenues gy
Mobile advertising BEBES 1,443,338 93.3% 485,636 100%
Online-video distribution PEGRIEERD R 67,442 4.4% = =
Game co-publishing TR EE 10,459 0.7% - -
Others’ HAb 25,077 1.6% = =
Total st 1,546,316 100% 485,636 100%

* Includes revenue from IT development related services

* BREITHERBRE KR

—E-\FH BMEHERAS {\



Management Discussion and Analysis

BEETR RS

Mobile Advertising Services

We generated revenues by distributing advertisements of marketers’
mobile apps and mobile games in the distribution channels of
our MHA members, non-MHA smartphone manufacturers and
non-smartphone manufacturer distribution channel suppliers. We
also offered a variety of advertising formats across our distribution
channels, including app store search ads, in-feed ads, banner
ads, interstitial ads and splash screen ads, to suit our customers’
specific needs. The following table sets forth a breakdown of our
advertising revenue by source for the years ended 31 December
2018 and 2017:

BEIEERT
BMEBEERBERES  SFERBBRER
FHRUEERFERFRRER S BREMH

RN BRRETIBRITEEFNEBER
RFEREBEBESUEERS - RATR

TERBIPREUZBEEL (BERRARE
FREESES  FEAAERS BEE

FBEAESRMARES) ASEMER
MEERR - TREINBE-Z-N\FR=
FE-tF+Z A=t - HUEFERMRFER
0 MRS WA

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1+—B1LEE

2018 2017
—E-)\#&E —E—tF
% of total % of total
RMB’000 revenues RMB’000 revenues
15482209 1548 W a2 7Y
AR¥Fir Bt AR#FrT Bt
Mobile game distribution BaEE o 1,005,630 69.7% 267,352 55.1%
Mobile app distribution BEREARFOR 437,708 30.3% 218,284 44.9%
Total 485t 1,443,338 100% 485,636 100%

Our mobile advertising revenue generated from distribution of
mobile games increased significantly from RMB267.4 million in
2017 to RMB1,005.6 million in 2018, representing an increase of
RMB738.2 million, or 276.1% from 2017. The increase is primarily
because we expanded the number of mobile games we marketed
and obtained new mobile game distribution channels from
smartphone manufacturers, especially from the MHA members.
Our mobile advertising revenue from mobile app distribution
increased from RMB218.3 million in 2017 to RMB437.7 million in
2018, representing an increase of RMB219.4 million, or 100.5%
from 2017, primarily because we had been actively expanding our
advertisement distribution channels for mobile apps and increased
the number of mobile apps we marketed.

BPREEHEESRNBBES KGR
E-—+HEARK267T 4R ETHEESRRE
E-N\FARK1,005.6H8T  B-ZT—+
FHRRARME738.2HETH276.1% ° 21
REIZERABRMERT RMAEENBEIE
BEEREBESHFREER (LEERBERH
BRE)ESHBEESDREE - BMKRE
BEHEARFRIBNBIESREHR_-ZF
tEARE2I1I83EERNEE_ZTE—-\FA
REEA77TEHEBL  BZE—tHFEMAR
#219.4EB BT » ;100.5%  FERHAAERK
1F“ﬁf$«‘ﬂ}§j:ﬁia1ﬁa’ﬁz§bﬁéﬁﬁkrﬁt‘i"ﬁé
BERIZNTRMAKENBEEARFREE -
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Online-video Distribution Services

Leveraging our success and experience in providing advertising
services, we have expanded into additional business verticals and
strategically acquired Shanghai ChilLe, a limited-liability company
incorporated on 18 June 2014 under the PRC laws, in March 2018.
We have since begun establishing our online-video distribution
network to unleash new monetisation opportunities.

Shanghai ChiLe was primarily engaged in marketing and promotion
of online-video content in China. With our stable relationships
with suppliers of content distribution channels and smartphone
manufacturers, especially the MHA members, we integrated the
operational know-hows and experience of Shanghai ChiLe in the
field of online-video distribution, and expanded our service offerings
to a broader range of marketers.

We began the business line of online-video distribution services in
2018, and generated a revenue of RMB67.4 million for this business
line in 2018. The videos we distribute are mainly in the areas of
finance, entertainment and movies.

Game Co-publishing Services

We offer one-stop game co-publishing services to game
developers, which include game optimisation, marketing,
promotion, distribution, monetisation and other user-related
services. Leveraging our extensive experience in game
co-publishing, amassed data volume and technical know-how, we
actively identified and sourced new as well as optimised existing
game content based on our in-depth understanding of user profiles,
preferences, tastes, and playing habits. Moreover, based on our
close relationship with various smartphone-based distribution
channels, we allocated game marketing and promotion resources
more efficiently and effectively, with insights into the effect of
timing of offer and type of virtual items based on user behavior and
in-game spending.
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We began to derive revenue from game co-publishing services in
January 2018, which amounted to RMB10.5 million in 2018. As at
31 December 2018, we had co-published the following 13 mobile

games in China.

Android-based

BAR=Z—N\F— ARK B EEEERS
BEkE RZE—N\FAAR¥10588
e RZBE—NF+ZA=+—H  EAR

PEIEE LA T 13 B B ©

Title operation platform Genre Initial launch time
=1 RERMEES 5 BRI B

A Legend Comes Mobile Role-playing game January 2018
BERT B8 BERREBR —E-N\§—A
A Monkey King Story Mobile Card game January 2018
REIME B M hE IR —E-N\E—A
The Travel Fairies Mobile Role-playing game May 2018

i B8 BERRER —E-N\FHA
Time lllusions Mobile Role-playing game May 2018

R 43R B BERREBE —E-N\FHA
Armor Girls of the Caribbean Mobile Simulation game June 2018
gL S e G B R B —E-N\FXA
March! Three Kingdoms Mobile Role-playing game July 2018

EEE ! =K B8 BERRERER —E-N\F+tA
Mobile Three Kingdoms Mobile Card game October 2018
EHh=H B HLhEIE IR —E-N\E+A
Battle Hymn of the Dragon City Mobile Role-playing game October 2018

BE B B AeNEEE —E-N\E+A
Righteous Ardor Mobile Role-playing game December 2018
HmeE B8 AR EEE —E-N\E+=A
Martial World Conquest Mobile Role-playing game December 2018
BIFERT B8 BERRER —E-N\E+=A
Fairy Realm Mobile Role-playing game December 2018
BER B8 BERREER —E-NF+=A
Zealous Monkey King Mobile Role-playing game December 2018
Rz B AR EER —E-N\F+=A
Journey to the West Runner Mobile Role-playing game December 2018
i i B8 BERRERER —E-N\E+=A
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COST OF SALES

Our cost of sales is primarily comprised of distribution fees incurred
for advertisement placements onto the distribution channels, labor
costs and amortisation and other related costs associated with the
cooperation agreements with certain smartphone manufacturers in
relation to their distribution channels.

Cost of sales increased significantly from RMB439.6 million in 2017
to RMB1,329.2 million in 2018. This increase was primarily driven
by an increase in distribution fees to our distribution channels from
RMB425.4 million in 2017 to RMB1,308.4 million in 2018, which
was in line with the increase in our revenues during 2018.

GROSS PROFIT AND MARGINS

As a result of the foregoing, our gross profit increased from
RMB46.0 million in 2017 to RMB217.1 million in 2018. The growth
in gross profit was primarily driven by our enhanced business
relationships with smartphone manufacturers and other distribution
channel suppliers. As our business model gains further recognition,
we began to enjoy economies of scale which enables us to increase
the number of mobile apps and mobile games we advertise without
incurring the same rate of increase in our cost of sales.

The increase in gross profit margin from 9.5% in 2017 to 14.0% in
2018 was primarily due to our enhanced efficiency in consummating
transactions on our DAPG platform.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Other income and gains increased significantly from RMB961,000
in 2017 to RMB11.7 million in 2018. This increase is primarily
due to certain government grants of RMB5.7 million we received
in connection with our online-video distribution business and
conference income of RMB4.0 million for a series of promotional
events we organised in connection with Quick Apps.
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SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Selling and distribution expenses primarily consisted of sales
employee salaries and related benefit expenses, traveling costs,
conference costs and marketing expenses. The increase of such
expenses from RMB5.7 million in 2017 to RMB16.7 million in 2018
was mainly attributable to the increase in marketing and advertising
expenses and the expansion of sales and marketing personnel.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COST

Research and development cost primarily included fees paid to
third party consulting service providers and employee salaries and
related benefit expenses. Our research and development expenses
increased by 65.4% from RMB15.9 million in 2017 to RMB26.3
million in 2018, as we recruited more research and development
employees to bolster and refine our data analysis capabilities.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Our administrative expenses increased significantly from RMB8.7
million in 2017 to RMB74.6 million in 2018, which was mainly driven
by the increase in employee benefit expenses and professional
service fees incurred in connection with the Listing.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT EXPENSES

Our share-based payment expenses increased significantly from
RMB1.9 million in 2017 to RMB8.1 million in 2018, because we
granted additional 2,126,700 RSUs (after share split in November
2018) to certain grantees during 2018.

OPERATING PROFIT

As a result of the foregoing, our operating profit increased
significantly from RMB12.9 million in 2017 to RMB101.9 million in
2018. Operating margin increased from 2.7% in 2017 to 6.6% in
2018.
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FINANCE COSTS

Our finance costs increased by 77.1% from RMB3.5 million in 2017
to RMB6.2 million in 2018, primarily due to higher interest expenses
incurred in connection with our new bank borrowings.

FAIR VALUE LOSSES ON PREFERRED SHARES
AND WARRANTS

Fair value losses on preferred shares and warrants increased by 2.2
times to RMB478.9 million in 2018, compared to RMB150.7 million
in 2017. Such loss increased significantly because our business
and company valuation continued to grow at a fast pace. On the
Listing Date, all our preferred shares were automatically converted
into our ordinary shares.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Our income tax expense increased significantly from RMB3.8
million in 2017 to RMB20.8 million in 2018. The increase was
primarily attributable to the increase in taxable profit of one of our
subsidiaries in China.

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Our loss increased significantly to RMB421.5 million in 2018,
compared to RMB145.1 million in 2017, primarily because of the
fair value loss of preferred shares and warrants.

NON-HKFRS MEASURES

To supplement our consolidated financial statements, which
are presented in accordance with the HKFRSs, we also use
adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net profit as additional financial
measures, which are unaudited and not required by, or presented
in accordance with, HKFRSs. We present these financial measures
because they are used by our management to evaluate our financial
performance by eliminating the impact of items that we do not
consider indicative of our business performance. We also believe
that these non-HKFRS measures provide additional information
to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our
consolidated results of operations in the same manner as they help
our management compare our financial results across accounting
periods and with those of our peer companies.
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We define adjusted EBITDA as losses for the year without
considering depreciation, amortisation, finance cost, income
tax, share-based payment expenses, listing expenses, loss
on termination of convertible bonds, and fair value losses on
convertible bonds, preferred shares and warrants (“Adjusted
EBITDA”). We define adjusted net profit as loss for the year without
considering share-based payment expenses, listing expenses,
loss on termination of convertible bonds, and fair value losses on
convertible bonds, preferred shares and warrants (“Adjusted Net
Profit”). The terms Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Profit are
not defined under the HKFRSs. The use of Adjusted EBITDA and
Adjusted Net Profit has material limitations as an analytical tool, as
they do not include all items that impact our loss for the relevant
years. The effect of items eliminated from Adjusted EBITDA and
Adjusted Net Profit is a significant component in understanding and
assessing our operating and financial performance.

In light of the foregoing limitations for Adjusted EBITDA and
Adjusted Net Profit, when assessing our operating and financial
performance, you should not view Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted
Net Profit in isolation or as a substitute for our loss for the year
or any other operating performance measure that is calculated in
accordance with HKFRSs. In addition, because these non-HKFRS
measures may not be calculated in the same manner by all
companies, they may not be comparable to other similarly titled
measures used by other companies.

The following tables reconcile our Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted
Net Profit for the periods presented to the most directly comparable
financial measures calculated and presented in accordance with
HKFRSs. Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Profit are not required
by, or presented in accordance with, HKFRSs.
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Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t+—HILEE

2018 2017

—E-N\E —E—+tF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFIT AREFT

Loss for the year FREE (421,541) (145,094)
Add: o

Depreciation nE 859 443

Amortisation of intangible assets EEE#E 11,757 2,239

Finance cost [P35 %S 6,216 3,528

Income tax expense FTi8RiREX 20,815 3,758

Share-based payment expenses DR BERNIRES 8,119 1,866

Loss on termination of convertible bonds HBIETTBRRESNER 14,270 =

Fair value losses on convertible bonds ABRESN QT EEE 3,202 =

Fair value losses on preferred shares BEBRHAFEEE 217,123 134,443

Fair value losses of warrants RREFN L TEEE 261,791 16,239

Listing expenses WX 44,014 =

Adjusted EBITDA (unaudited) EAEEBITDACRESR) 166,625 17,422

2018 2017

—T-N\F —E—+F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ABRETFIT AREFIT

Loss for the year FREE (421,541) (145,094)
Add: m:

Share-based payment expenses U mAERNAREX 8,119 1,866

Loss on termination of convertible bonds #IE R ES W EE 14,270 =

Fair value losses on convertible bonds R ESN AT EERE 3,202 =

Fair value losses on preferred shares BERNATFEEE 217,123 134,443

Fair value losses of warrants RIREEN D EEE 261,791 16,239

Listing expenses WX 44,014 =

Adjusted Net Profit (unaudited) EARFGRR CRESER) 126,978 7,454
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION FROM

HMEGFEMEIR R R IR

OUR CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF =g )
FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December
W+=A=+—H
2018 2017 Change
—E—N\E —E—+F =)
RMB’000 RMB’000
ABREFIT ARHFT
Cash and bank balances RERWITHER 337,753 11,490 2,839.5%
Bank borrowings RITAE 146,000 10,000 1,360.0%
Current assets RBEE 1,057,440 287,815 267.4%
Current liabilities RBaE 430,967 135,858 217.2%
Net current assets RBEEFHE 626,473 151,957 312.3%
Total equity PR LA 875,494 (172,472) N/A
TEA
Preferred shares BER - 259,944 N/A
iE
Cash and Bank Balances & R ERITHEER

As at 31 December 2018, we had cash and bank balances of
RMB337.8 million, as compared with RMB11.5 million as at 31
December 2017. The increase in cash and bank balances was
mainly due to the cash proceeds raised from the Listing that was
completed on 21 December 2018. Our cash and bank balances
were denominated in RMB, Hong Kong dollars and US dollars.

Bank Borrowings

Our bank borrowings of RMB10.0 million as at 31 December 2017
were secured by a property held by one of our Directors and
guaranteed by two Directors and their spouses, and had been
fully repaid before the Listing. As at 31 December 2018, our bank
borrowings increased significantly to RMB146.0 million, among
which, (1) the bank borrowings of RMB30.0 million are secured
by pledged deposits of US$5.0 million provided by one of our
subsidiaries, (2) the bank borrowings of RMB60.0 million are
guaranteed by one of our subsidiaries, and (3) the bank borrowings
of RMB40.0 million are guaranteed by two independent third
parties. All the bank borrowings as at 31 December 2018 were
denominated in RMB and will be mature in 2019, with fixed interest
rates ranging from 5.22% to 8% per annum.

RZE-N\F+ZA=+—8 HZAEER
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Net Current Assets

Our net current assets were RMB626.5 million as at 31 December
2018, compared to RMB152.0 million as at 31 December 2017. Our
current assets were RMB1,057.4 million as at 31 December 2018,
compared to RMB287.8 million as at 31 December 2017, primarily
due to the increase in accounts receivable, prepayments and cash
and bank balances. Our current liabilities were RMB431.0 million as
at 31 December 31 2018, compared to RMB135.9 million as at 31
December 2017, primarily due to the increase in contract liabilities
and bank borrowings.

Total Equity and Preferred Shares

As at 31 December 2018, our total equity was RMB875.5 million,
compared to negative equity of RMB172.5 million as at 31
December 2017, as all our preferred shares were automatically
converted into ordinary shares on the Listing Date and accounted
for as an increase in equity at initial public offering (the “IPO”) offer
price. At the same time, our preferred shares decreased to nil as
at 31 December 2018, compared to RMB259.9 million as at 31
December 2017.

KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS

RENEEFHE
ﬁfﬁﬂ’]um@]ﬁ%@%gﬁl\— = —}\flf+ )=
=t+—-BABAR¥626 5B M=-Z
tE+ZA=1+—HAAARK152.0658
T RPMABEER _—ZE—/\F+A=
+—BAARY1,0574858x M=
tFE+ZA=1T—HAAARYK287.88E
T FEHRERER BEIREESRIR
TEIZM - RPN FBEER == —N\F
+TZA=1t-—HAAR¥431.088 M
—E2—tHF+-A=T—HAIAAR®135.9
BET  FEARENAERBITEIIGM

BRAELREE R B
RZZB-NFE+ZA=1+—H » RAWKRE
HEAARMESIS5EEBT MZE—tF
+-A=+—HBRERABARM172.58
B FERARMAAMEELKEN LA
BERERATERTEERAAHEBE(Y
RAFBE DNBREEARERELN - F
B RPMNELBRR-_ZE-NFE+=A=1+
—BRALEZE MZE—tFE+ZA=1+—
HAEIBAR®250.9HETT ©

FEUFEEER

As at 31 December

BR+=-A=+—H
2018 2017
—E—\FE —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ABRBTFIT ARHFIT
Current ratio (times) mEItbER ((F8) O 2.5 2.1
Gearing ratio (%) @ EEESBHE%)® 33.3% 153.0%
Adjusted net profit margin (%) © AR FEFIZE (%)@ 8.2% 1.5%

Notes:

(1) Current ratio was calculated based on our total current assets divided by
our total current liabilities at the end of each financial period.

(2)  Gearing ratio was calculated based on our total liabilities divided by our
total assets at the end of each financial period.

(8)  Adjusted net profit margin was calculated based on our adjusted net
profit for the relevant period divided by our total revenue for the same
period.
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Current Ratio

Our current ratio increased from 2.1 as at 31 December 2017 to 2.5
as at 31 December 2018, primarily due to the increase in accounts
receivable and prepayments as a result of our business expansion.

Gearing Ratio

Our gearing ratio decreased from 153.0% as at 31 December 2017
to 33.3% as at 31 December 2018, mainly due to the decrease
of total liabilities as a result of the conversion of preferred shares
into ordinary shares upon the Listing, and an increase of total
assets due to the cash proceeds we raised from the Listing and
recognition of goodwill and intangible assets arising from our
acquisition of Shanghai ChilLe.

Adjusted Net Profit Margin

Our adjusted net profit margin increased from 1.5% in 2017 to
8.2% in 2018, primarily due to the increase of profitability of our
businesses. This was because we began to enjoy economies of
scale which enables us to increase the number of mobile apps and
mobile games we advertised.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND INVESTMENTS

Our capital expenditures consist of additions to property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets, excluding assets from the
acquisition of a subsidiary. Our capital expenditures amounted to
RMB316,000 and RMB198,000 in 2018 and 2017, respectively.

FUNDING AND TREASURY POLICIES

We expect to fund our working capital and other capital
requirements from a combination of various sources, including
but not limited to internal resources and external financing at
reasonable market rates. We continue to seek improving the return
of the equity and assets while maintaining prudent funding and
treasury policies.

mENEL 2
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Our Group’s subsidiaries primarily operate in the PRC and are
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollar and the Hong
Kong dollar. Therefore, foreign exchange risk primarily arose from
recognised assets and liabilities in our Group’s PRC subsidiaries
when receiving or to receive foreign currencies from, or paying or to
pay foreign currencies to, overseas business partners. We did not
hedge against any fluctuation in foreign currency during the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, we did not hold any significant
investments in the equity interests of any other companies.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, we did not have other plans
for material investments and capital assets for the year ended 31
December 2018.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

the Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Certain deposits placed with banks were used as pledged assets
for the Group’s bank borrowings. For more details, please refer to
the Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2018, we did not have any material contingent
liabilities (2017: nil).

DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: nil).
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OUR DIRECTORS

The biography of each Director is set out below.

Executive Directors

Mr. GAO Dinan (&3 5), aged 40, is our founder, an executive
Director and the chairman of the Board, and has served as our chief
executive officer since March 2014, being responsible for overall
management of the business, strategy and corporate development
of our Group. Mr. Gao has 15 years of experience in the technology
industry.

Prior to founding our Group, Mr. Gao served as a business
director of mobile business department of Baidu Online Network
Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (B EEERBRAM (L) ER A7)
from June 2008 to March 2014, a subsidiary of Baidu, Inc. (A E
‘A T]) which is a company listed on Nasdaq (stock symbol: BIDU),
specialising in Internet-related services and products and artificial
intelligence.

Mr. Gao obtained a master degree in business administration from
Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications (1t R E &S K £)
in July 2008.

Mr. ZHENG Wei (&%), aged 41, is our executive Director and the
vice chairman of the Board. Since he joined our Group in March
2016, Mr. Zheng has been primarily responsible for managing
overall strategy and developing the relationship with investors. He
has 12 years of experience in the technology industry.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zheng served as a partner of
Northern Light Investment Advisory (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (dt#&*#
RERER (L5) AR A F) from July 2015 to February 2016. Mr.
Zheng served as the general manager of the creation development
department and business cooperation department as well as a
vice general manager in the mobile service group of Baidu Online
Network Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. from July 2007 to July 2015.

Mr. Zheng obtained a bachelor degree in engineering mechanics
and a master degree in solid mechanics from Tsinghua University
(BEKE) in July 1999 and in July 2001, respectively. He also
obtained a degree of Ph.D. in informatics from Peking University (it
TAE) in July 2014.
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Ms. ZHOU Yan (FE¥%), aged 41, is our executive Director and
chief financial officer. Ms. Zhou is primarily responsible for the
management of financial strategy of our Group. Ms. Zhou joined our
Group in March 2017 and has served as the chief financial officer
of our Company since then. She was appointed as an executive
Director in June 2018. Ms. Zhou has 15 years of experience in
corporate finance.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Zhou served as senior management
of the finance department of Tsinghua Holding Co., Ltd. (¥
BAEPBR2AF]) from June 2016 to February 2017. From July 2015
to May 2016, she served as the general manager of the finance
department in Tsinghua Holding Venture Capital Co., Ltd. (B%
AIEIRE AR A F). From April 2014 to June 2015, she served as
the general manager of finance department in Tsinghua Holdings
Human Settlements Construction Group Co., Ltd. (BiZAEE:R
(5£E) AR TF). From July 2010 to March 2014, she served as a
vice general manager of finance department in Beijing Enterprises
Holding Investment Management Co., Ltd. (At FIZRIRESEFR
/A 1]), a subsidiary of Beijing Enterprises Holding Limited (3t F=i%%
BPFRAF) that is listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 392).
From December 2008 to February 2010, she served as a senior
accountant at Beijing Futian Cummins Engine Co., Ltd. (1tZR%&
HEAHTEE BI#A R A 7)), a subsidiary of Commins Inc. that is a
company listed on New York Stock Exchange (stock symbol: CMI).
From July 2004 to November 2008, she served as an accountant at
Beijing BOE Optoelectronics Technology Co., Ltd. (It IREEAKE
B AR 2 7)), a subsidiary of BOE Technology Group Co., Ltd. (1t
FERAREEERHEBRLQF) which is listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 000725 and 200725).

Ms. Zhou obtained a master degree in accounting from Jilin
University of Finance and Economics (& # & & KE2) in July 2004.
Ms. Zhou obtained a fund qualification certificate granted by China
Securities Investment Fund Association (TEIE5REE S E£IHS)
in April 2016, and a tax accountant qualification certificate granted
by China Association of Chief Accountants (FFEI#RE T HIHE) in
September 2012. She has been a senior-level accountant granted
by Beijing Municipal Bureau of Human Resources and Social
Security (b= A D ERELHLZRFE ) since October 2017.
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Non-executive Directors

Ms. XIE Guowang (SiE%E), aged 44, is a non-executive Director
and joined our Group since April 2017. Ms. Xie has been the
founding partner of Shenzhen Qianhai ADV Fund Management
Co., Ltd. (RYIATEREE S EEBR A ) since July 2015. Prior to
that, Ms. Xie served as the secretary general of Guangdong Equity
Investment Association (ERBRERERE) from July 2010 to
December 2014, the general manager of TDR Investment Holdings
Corporation from May 2008 to June 2010, the deputy general
manager of CITIC Securities Co., Ltd. (F{EEFRMEBR D7),
which is listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600030)
and the Stock Exchange (stock code: 06030), from March 2004 to
April 2008, and deputy general manager of Huatai United Securities
Co., Ltd. (EREASEFEREE AT, formerly known as United
Securities Co., Ltd. (BtEEFHBRE(EAA)) from August 1995 to
October 2001.

Ms. Xie received a bachelor degree in vocal music from Xinghai
Conservatory of Music (28 & %25%) in Guangzhou in July 1995.
Ms. Xie is currently a master candidate of HSBC Business School
of Peking University.

Mr. SONG Chunyu (%), aged 42, is a non-executive Director
and joined our Group since May 2016. Mr. Song has been working
at Lenovo Group Limited (B8 & EHBR A 7]), a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00992), and its subsidiaries
since July 2001 and served multiple positions successively, such as
managing director, partner and group vice president.

Mr. Song obtained a bachelor degree in automatic control and
a master degree in control theory and control engineering from
Harbin Institute of Technology (*aFIE L¥ AE2) in July 1997 and
July 2001, respectively.

Mr. ZHU Jing (%k%), aged 54, is a non-executive Director and
joined our Group since June 2018. Mr. Zhu has been the chairman
of board of Shanghai Fukun Investment Management Co., Ltd. (t
BEEREEEEMRAT), Shenzhen Fukun Venture Capital Group
Co., Ltd. (RYITm ZHAIFEIRELBEHBR/AH]) and Chengdu Fukun
Yingchuang Equity Fund Management Co., Ltd. (R # = #HZ& Al
BREEELEEARR AT since September 2004, April 2008 and
May 2014, respectively. He has been the director of Shenzhen DT
Richland Investment Management Co., Ltd. (FJIHREEHREE
EHPRAF)) since September 2010. Mr. Zhu also has been serving
as the adjunct professor at Shanghai University of Finance and
Economics (£ /2848 K E2) since October 2000.
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Mr. Zhu received a bachelor degree and a degree of Ph.D. in
economics from Fudan University (8 B X&) in June 1985 and June
1998, respectively. In January 1997, Mr. Zhu was awarded as a
senior economist in financial economics by Human Resources and
Social Security Department of Guangdong Province (BR& A NE
IRAE 2 RIERE).

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Baoguo (FREZE ), aged 54, is an independent non-
executive Director of our Group. Mr. Chen has been the deputy
secretary general of China Software Industry Association (57 Bl &4
1T¥1%E) since March 2018. From January 2008 to January 2018,
he was the deputy director of Institute of International Technology
and Economics (Bl & B R 22 FT) at State Council Development
Research Center (Bl#Bx 2 RAFZZH ).

Mr. Chen received a bachelor degree in material management from
Northern Jiaotong University (377 REAXEZ) in July 1986, and a
master degree in metal material and heat treatment from Yanshan
University (3L KZ) in June 1991. Then he obtained a degree
of Ph.D. in economics and management from Northern Jiaotong
University in May 2003.

Mr. LIANG Zhanping (&), aged 76, is an independent non-
executive Director of our Group. Mr. Liang has more than 50 years
of experience in information analysis and research. From May 1972
to June 2003, Mr. Liang served as a researcher and then as the
director of China Institute of Science and Technology Information
(FREARIE TS BHFZEAT). Mr. Liang also held multiple positions at
various institutions and organizations, such as adjunct professor of
information management department at Nanjing University (FAZ KX
E) from October 1999 to October 2002.

Mr. Liang received a bachelor degree in chemistry from Zhejiang
University (#7Z X 28) in September 1967.

Ms. ZHAO Xuemei (#2#§), aged 40, is an independent non-
executive Director of our Group. Ms. Zhao has been teaching in the
school of management at Qinhuangdao Campus of Northeastern
University (323t X&) in the PRC since July 2004.
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Ms. Zhao received a bachelor degree in accounting from
Zhengzhou Institute of Aeronautical Industry Management (ZRNfi
ZTHEEERT) in June 2001, and a master degree in accounting
from Jilin University of Finance and Economics (& #hEf 48 K £2)
in June 2004. Ms. Zhao was also accredited as a certified public
accountant by the Beijing Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(AL FEEMEETEHE) on 10 September 2010.

OUR SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. GAO Dinan (&3 5), aged 40, is our founder, an executive
Director, the chairman of the Board and our chief executive officer.
For further details, please see the paragraph headed “Directors and
Senior Management — Our Directors — Executive Directors” in this
section.

Mr. ZHENG Wei (&8)&), aged 41, is an executive Director and
the vice chairman of the Board. For further details, please see
the paragraph headed “Directors and Senior Management — Our
Directors — Executive Directors” in this section.

Ms. ZHOU Yan (%), aged 41, is an executive Director and our
chief financial officer. For further details, please see the paragraph
headed “Directors and Senior Management — Our Directors -
Executive Directors” in this section.

Mr. ZHANG Zhen (5R7E), aged 40, is our chief information officer
and joined our Group in August 2014. Mr. Zhang is primarily
responsible for corporate information management and overseeing
product testing of our Group. Mr. Zhang has nearly 15 years of
experience in technology industry.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zhang served as a manager of
wireless business department in Baidu Online Network Technology
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. from December 2010 to December 2013. From
December 2004 to March 2005 and from March 2006 to March
2011, he served as a technology director of wireless business
department in Sohu New Era Network Information Technology Co.,
Ltd. (IR AR EMEMERAQF), a subsidiary of Sohu.com
Inc., which is listed on Nasdaq (stock symbol: SOHU) and primarily
engaged in providing Internet services.

Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor degree in computer science and
technology from Beijing Institute of Technology (1tZXIE T K£2) in
August 2004.
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Mr. WU Yang (EB3), aged 39, is our chief strategy officer
and joined our Group in September 2014. Mr. Wu is primarily
responsible for strategy development of our Group. Mr. Wu has
nearly 18 years of experience in technology industry.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Wu served as a director of product
operations at Sohu New Era Network Information Technology
Co., Ltd. from September 2011 to August 2013. From June
2010 to October 2011, Mr. Wu served as the general manager of
business products department in Beijing D-Media Communication
Technology Co., Ltd. (I FFREEERHLBRAF), a subsidiary of
Beijing Ultrapower Software Co., Ltd. (It ¥ MEEEHHFRHDER
‘A|]) which is listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
300002). From October 2006 to October 2010, he served as a
product manager and a vice general manager at Beijing C-Platform
Co., Ltd. (AREE +HFEFHMBERAT]). From September 2001
to October 2006, he served as an engineer and a production
manager at Sohu New Era Network Information Technology Co.,
Ltd.

Mr. Wu obtained a bachelor degree in computer science and
technology from Northeastern University (383t X&) in July 2001.

Mr. NIU Chong (¥3), aged 32, is a vice president of technology
of our Company and joined our Group in August 2014. Mr. Niu is
primarily responsible for providing guidance on computer science.
Mr. Niu has nearly 6 years of experiences in computer sciences
application.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Niu served as a senior engineer at
Baidu Online Network Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd., from July
2013 to August 2014. He was responsible for research on cloud
computing platform.

Mr. Niu obtained a bachelor degree in computer science and
technology from Northeastern Petroleum University (R3tAJHAE)
in July 2013.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHAN Chi Keung, David (FR&3#), aged 32, is our company
secretary and deputy chief financial officer of our Company,
being responsible for the financial management of our Group and
secretarial matters of our Company. Mr. Chan joined our Group and
was appointed as a deputy chief financial officer in May 2018. He
was appointed as the company secretary of our Company in June
2018. Mr. Chan has over ten years of experience in accounting,
auditing, financial management and corporate governance matters.

Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Chan was the chief financial
officer, company secretary and authorised representative of ZH
International Holdings Limited from June 2016 to April 2018, a
property development company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 00185). From March 2015 to June 2016, Mr. Chan was
a senior manager in the finance department of CITIC United Asia
Investments Limited, a subsidiary of CITIC Limited (T B {ZRHE
PR 22 8]) which is listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00267).
Prior to that, he served in the assurance department of Ernst &
Young with last position as a manager from September 2008 to
March 2015.

Mr. Chan received a bachelor degree in business administration
and accountancy from City University of Hong Kong in November
2008. Mr. Chan has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since January 2014.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting
Period.

GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
November 7, 2014 as an exempted company with limited liability
under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s Shares were
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is a fast-growing technology company in the mobile
Internet market, helping connect businesses from various industries
to hundreds of millions of Android-based smartphone users in
China. It provides Android-based content distribution services for
marketers seeking mobile advertising, online-video distribution
and game co-publishing services. The activities of the principal
subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2018 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 88 of
this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended December 31, 2018 (2017: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review and performance analysis of the Group for
the Reporting Period is set out in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement” from pages 7 to 10 and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” from pages 14 to 27 of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on December 21, 2018 by way of Global Offering,
raising total net proceeds of approximately HKD194.7 million
(equivalent to approximately RMB171.2 million) after deducting
professional fees, underwriting commissions and other related
listing expenses. Since the Listing Date and as of December 31,
2018, the Group has not utilized any IPO Proceeds. The Group will
gradually utilize the IPO Proceeds in accordance with the intended
use of such proceeds as described in the Prospectus.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Group’s five largest
customers contributed to a total of 28.8% of the Group’s total
revenue and the Group’s largest customer contributed to a total of
10.5% of the Group’s total revenue.

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Group’s five largest
suppliers contributed to a total of 57.6 % of the Group’s total cost
of sales and the Group’s largest supplier contributed to a total of
23.2 % of the Group’s total cost of sales.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest suppliers or the Group’s five largest customers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Reporting Period are set out in Note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
Reporting Period are set out on pages 92 to 93 in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of December 31, 2018, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, amounted to approximately RMB820.5 million (as of
December 31, 2017: Nil).

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as
of December 31, 2018 are set out in Note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Group had not
made any loan or provided any guarantee for loan, directly or
indirectly, to the Directors, senior management of the Company,
the Controlling Shareholders or any of their respective connected
persons.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Relevant Period and up to the date of this
annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. GAO Dinan (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. ZHENG Wei (Vice Chairman)

Ms. ZHOU Yan

Non-executive Directors:
Ms. XIE Guowang

Mr. SONG Chunyu

Mr. ZHU Jing

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. CHEN Baoguo
Mr. LIANG Zhanping
Ms. ZHAO Xuemei

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, Mr.
GAO Dinan, Mr. ZHENG Wei and Ms. ZHOU Yan shall retire by
rotation, and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election
at the AGM.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set out in
the circular to the Shareholders to be dispatched before the AGM.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 28 to 34 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors, and the Company considers
such Directors to be independent during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company on November 3, 2018 for an initial term of three
years with effect from November 3, 2018.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into an
appointment letter with the Company on November 3, 2018. The
initial term for their appointment letters shall commence from the
Listing Date and shall continue for three years, until terminated in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the appointment letter
or by either party giving to the other not less than three months’
prior notice in writing.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company on November 3, 2018. The
initial term for their appointment letters shall be three years from
the Listing Date, until terminated in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the appointment letter or by either party giving to the
other not less than three months’ prior notice in writing.

None of the Directors has entered into a service contract which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the Reporting
Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during
the Reporting Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement that would enable the directors to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or
any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted
any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the
Company or any other body corporate or had exercised any such
right.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and the section headed
“Related Party Transactions” in Note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements contained in this annual report, no contract
of significance was entered into between the Company or any
of its subsidiaries and any Controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries during the year ended December 31, 2018 or subsisted
at the end of the year and no contract of significance for the
provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a
Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries was entered into
during the year ended December 31, 2018 or subsisted at the end
of the year.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

A remuneration committee was set up for reviewing the Group’s
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance of the Directors and senior
management and comparable market practices.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, and five highest paid
individuals during the Reporting Period are set out in Notes 8 and 9
to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong under the
rules and regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the participating
employees’ relevant income from the Group. When an employee
leaves the MPF Scheme, the mandatory contributions are fully
vested with the employee. The employees of the PRC subsidiaries
are members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the PRC government. The employees of the PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to this retirement benefits
scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme.
Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the
Group are disclosed in the section headed “Employee benefits”
set out in Note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As of December 31, 2018, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 of
the Listing Rules were as follows:
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Interests of Directors and Chief Executives in the
Company or Associated Corporation of the Company

EERIETHAEREKASHFAE
HHEEER R

Approximate
Percentage of

Shareholding
Capacity/ in the
Name of Nature of Number of Long/short Company"
Name Corporation Interest Shares position (%)
ERATRE
4 AT EH S, e B8 E 138/ WA BHESEO%)
Mr. GAO Dinan® The Company Interest in controlled 475,082,800 Long position 37.31
corporations;
interest held jointly
EEE: PR AN R EEER 475,082,800 3y 37.31
HEFE#ER
Mr. ZHENG Wei® The Company Interest in controlled 475,082,800 Long position 37.31
corporation;
interest held jointly
WEREEO N R EEER 475,082,800 ¥R 37.31
HEFE#ER
Mr. ZHU Jing® The Company Interest in controlled 81,087,470 Long position 6.37
corporation
RELE N S EES 81,087,470 ¥R 6.37
Ms. ZHOU Yan® The Company Beneficial owner 5,000,000 Long position 0.39
Bl gl /NG| BEREBA 5,000,000 " 0.39
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Notes:

)

The calculation is based on the total number of 1,273,216,350 Shares in
issue as of December 31, 2018.

Mr. GAO Dinan is deemed to be interested in the entire Shares as of
December 31, 2018 (i) held by Wanka Media Limited, a company wholly
owned by him and is interested in 262,284,300 Shares; and (i) held
by Mr. Zheng and his wholly-owned company, Countryside Tech Inc.,
which is interested in 212,798,500 Shares as they are parties acting in
concert.

Mr. ZHENG Wei is deemed to be interested in the entire Shares as of
December 31, 2018 (i) held by Countryside Tech Inc., a company wholly
owned by him and is interested in 212,798,500 Shares; and (i) held by
Mr. Gao and his wholly-owned company, Wanka Media Limited, which
is interested in 262,284,300 Shares as they are parties acting in concert.

Mr. ZHU Jing is deemed to be interested in the entire interests as of
December 31, 2018 held by (1) Shenshang VC, a company controlled
by Mr. ZHU Jing and is interested in 28,410,500 Shares; (2) Richland,
a company controlled by Richland Cayman Limited and is interested
in 34,236,130 Shares, which is ultimately controlled by Mr. ZHU Jing;
(3) Investnet, a company controlled by Mr. ZHU Jing and is interested
in 12,631,000 Shares; and (4) Richforest, a company controlled by Mr.
ZHU Jing and is interested in 5,809,840 Shares.

Ms. ZHOU Yan is interested in RSUs granted to her under the RSU
Scheme entitling her to receive 5,000,000 Shares.
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Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2018, none of the
Directors or the chief executives of the Company had or was
deemed to have any interest or short position in the Shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or required to be
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As of December 31, 2018, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
the following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of
the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:
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Approximate
Percentage of
Shareholding in

Capacity/Nature Number Long/short  the Company!"
Name of Interest of Shares position (%)
B SAG
e &l S #ERitE 38 E A XA BOBESLEY (%)
Wanka Media Limited® Beneficial Interest; interest held 475,082,800 Long position 37.31
jointly with another person
Wanka Media Limited® BnfEs ) BE - AT HE 475,082,800 LSy 37.31
HENER
Mr. GAO Dinan®@ Interest in a controlled 475,082,800 Long position 37.31
corporation; interest
held jointly
SEBEER FErEES  RRSEEER 475,082,800 "R 37.31
Ms. LU Haiyan® Interest of spouse 475,082,800 Long position 37.31
PEEH L L@ EfBER 475,082,800 Ha 37.31

—E-\FH BMEHERAS {\



Report of the Directors

/M Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

e~ A
EEERE
o
Approximate
Percentage of
Shareholding in
Capacity/Nature Number Long/short  the Company!
Name of Interest of Shares position (%)
AN 12
LYt 5 sty EiREE BE e BHESEO (%)
Countryside Tech Inc.® Beneficial Interest; interest held 475,082,800 Long position 37.31
jointly with another person
Countryside Tech Inc.® BE&nfs ) HE— AT HE 475,082,800 weE 37.31
BEWER
Mr. ZHENG Wei® Interest in a controlled 475,082,800 Long position 37.31
corporation; interest
held jointly
ERIEEHEO ZELEELS  HEREEER 475,082,800 e 37.31
Ms. FENG Chun® Interest of spouse 475,082,800 Long position 37.31
BEZLO BB 475,082,800 #E 37.31
Goodluckshome Inc.® Beneficial owner 120,246,320 Long position 9.44
Goodluckshome Inc.® BEnfEn 120,246,320 we 9.44
Mr. HUA Xinjiang® Interest in controlled 120,246,320  Long position 9.44
corporations
EIT A T L EER 120,246,320 o) 9.44
Ms. WANG Ying® Interest of spouse 120,246,320 Long position 9.44
Tzt iR 120,246,320 #E 9.44
Korea Investment Interest in controlled 105,391,430 Long position 8.28
Partners Co., Ltd.® corporations
Korea Investment SEEEER 105,391,430 e 8.28
Partners Co., Ltd.®
Korea Investment Interest in controlled 105,391,430 Long position 8.28
Holdings Co., Ltd.® corporations
Korea Investment TEEEER 105,391,430 e 8.28
Holdings Co., Ltd.®
Mr. ZHU Jing® Interest in controlled 81,087,470 Long position 6.37
corporations
KEFLEO FELERER 81,087,470 #E 6.37
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Notes:

)

The calculation is based on the total number of 1,273,216,350 Shares in
issue as of December 31, 2018.

Mr. GAO Dinan is deemed to be interested in the entire interests as of
December 31, 2018 held by (i) Wanka Media Limited, a company wholly
owned by him; and (i) Mr. ZHENG Wei and his wholly-owned company,
being Countryside Tech Inc., as they are parties acting in concert. Ms.
LU Haiyan, spouse of Mr. GAO Dinan is deemed to be interested in Mr.
GAO Dinan’s entire interest.

Mr. ZHENG Wei is deemed to be interested in the entire interests as of
December 31, 2018 (i) Countryside Tech Inc., a company wholly owned
by him; and (i) Mr. GAO Dinan and his wholly-owned company, being
Wanka Media Limited, as they are parties acting in concert. Ms. FENG
Chun, spouse of Mr. ZHENG Wei, is deemed to be interested in Mr.
ZHENG Wei’s entire interest.

Mr. HUA Xinjiang is deemed to be interested in the entire interests as of
December 31, 2018 held by Goodluckshome Inc., a company wholly-
owned by him. Ms. WANG Ying, spouse of Mr. HUA Xinjiang, is deemed
to be interested in Mr. HUA Xinjiang’s entire interest.

The general partnership of both KIP Overseas and KIP Bright is Korea
Investment Partners Co., Ltd., which is controlled by Korea Investment
Holdings Co., Ltd. Therefore, Korea Investment Partners Co., Ltd. and
Korea Investment Holdings Co., Ltd. is deemed to be interested in the
entire interests as of December 31, 2018 held by KIP Overseas and KIP
Bright, namely 99,331,500 and 6,059,930 Shares.

As of December 31, 2018, Mr. ZHU Jing is deemed to be interested in
the entire interests held by (1) Shenshang VC, a company controlled by
Mr. ZHU Jing and was interested in 28,410,500 Shares; (2) Richland,
a company controlled by Richland Cayman Limited, which is ultimately
controlled by Mr. ZHU Jing and was interested in 34,236,130 Shares;
(3) Investnet, a company controlled by Mr. ZHU Jing and was interested
in 12,631,000 Shares; and (4) Richforest, a company controlled by Mr.
ZHU Jing and was interested in 5,809,840 Shares.
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Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2018, the Directors
were not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in
the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein.

2016 SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

Our Company adopted its 2016 Share Incentive Scheme as
approved by the Board resolution passed on January 6, 2016 and
amended by the Board resolution passed on May 24, 2018. The
2016 Share Incentive Scheme is not subject to the provisions of
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules as it does not involve the grant
of options by the Company to subscribe for new Shares. Certain
principal terms and details of the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme are
summarized as follows:

The purpose of the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme is to incentivize
Directors, senior management and employees for their contribution
to our Group, to attract, motivate and retain skilled and experienced
personnel to strive for the future development and expansion of
our Group by providing them with the opportunity to own equity
interests in our Company.

Persons eligible to receive RSUs under the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme are existing employees, directors (whether executive or
non-executive, but excluding independent non-executive directors)
or officers of our Company or any member of our Group (the “RSU
Eligible Persons”). Our Board selects the RSU Eligible Persons
to receive RSUs under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme at its
discretion.
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A RSU gives a participant in the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme (the
“RSU Participant”) a conditional right when the RSU vests to obtain
Shares, less any tax, stamp duty and other charges applicable,
as determined by our Board in its absolute discretion. Each
RSU represents one underlying Share. A RSU may include, if so
specified by our Board in its entire discretion, cash and non-cash
income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-
cash and non-scrip distributions in respect of those Shares. A RSU
Participant does not have any contingent interest in any Shares
underlying the RSUs unless and until such Shares are actually
transferred to the RSU Participant. Further, a RSU Participant may
not exercise voting rights in respect of the Shares underlying the
RSUs prior to their exercise and, unless otherwise specified by our
Board in its entire discretion in the RSU Grant Letter to the RSU
Participant, nor do they have any rights to any cash or non-cash
income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-
cash and non-scrip distributions from any Shares underlying the
RSUs.

The 2016 Share Incentive Scheme will be valid and effective for a
period of ten (10) years, commencing from the adoption date of
the scheme, being March 31, 2016 (unless it is terminated earlier in
accordance with its terms) (the “Scheme Period”).

Our Company has appointed The Core Trust Company Limited (the
“RSU Trustees”) as the trustee to assist in the administration and
vesting of the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme. Our Company may (i)
allot and issue Shares to the RSU Trustees to be held by the RSU
Trustees and which will be used to satisfy the Shares underlying
the RSUs upon exercise and/or (ii) direct and procure the RSU
Trustees to receive existing Shares from any Shareholder or
purchase existing Shares (either on-market or off-market) to satisfy
the Shares underlying the RSUs upon exercise. Our Company shall
procure that sufficient funds are provided to the RSU Trustees
by whatever means as our Board may in its absolute discretion
determine to enable the RSU Trustees to satisfy its obligations in
connection with the administration of the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme. All the Shares underlying the RSUs granted and to be
granted under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme will be transferred,
allotted or issued to the RSU Trustees.
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Our Board can determine the vesting criteria, conditions and the
time schedule when the RSUs will vest and such criteria, conditions
and time schedule shall be stated in the RSU Grant Letter. Within
a reasonable time after the vesting criteria, conditions and time
schedule have been reached, fulfilled, satisfied or waived, our
Board will send a vesting notice (the “Vesting Notice”) to each of
the relevant RSU Participants. The Vesting Notice will confirm the
extent to which the vesting criteria, conditions and time schedule
have been reached, fulfilled, satisfied or waived, and the number of
Shares (and, if applicable, the cash or non-cash income, dividends
or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-cash and non-scrip
distributions in respect of those Shares) involved.

The maximum number of RSUs that may be granted under the
2016 Share Incentive Scheme in aggregate (excluding RSUs that
have lapsed or been canceled in accordance with the rules of the
2016 Share Incentive Scheme) shall be such number of Shares held
or to be held by the RSU Trustee for the purpose of the 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme from time to time. The Company has allotted
and issued to the nominee of the RSU Trustee 62,500,000 Class
B Ordinary Shares underlying all the grants under the 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme, representing 4.91% of the number of Shares in
issue as of December 31, 2018 (without taking into account of any
Share which may be issued pursuant to the exercise of any option
that may by granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme).

As of December 31, 2018, we had granted RSUs representing
48,837,240 Shares to 60 grantees under the RSU Scheme,
including the following senior management and other current or
former key employees of our Company, including RSUs granted
and vested pursuant to the RSU Plan to our Director and senior
management as set out below:

EERUREZRFBRMDENNEFEBZE

R R EFER - MZIRE - {'MHF&E—IF?E/A
HAZREBRDEMETR - EEBELE -
BREREFERCEER - BT  EBEHER
REN—BREERERN EZESOE5EH
SRERNENSHEBREEBREN(FE
BH]) - REBHKERER - BT EX
REHRENEBEE RUERREARNEER
DR RBRAOEHE (R (WMER)ZERNG

HEANRERFRESRA - RESDIRR,
FHEFRERIFBENDIRWAERE) °

AREBEZZE—ANEROEEEFUREH
ZRERNVDEMNEE LRAE (FERFERE
T ARERMDBEEERAC KRR T
H’JWE%JH’:H PEENL) EAZREIRMOEMZF
AR ZE—RERDEBFTETRZEIS
BENROEE - AATREEZRHERMDE
NZFEAR B AR KR E1T62,500,0000% =
E-XRERGBEFETHRERTHEBNB
BEER  HEREBZE=Z—/\FE+=ZA=
+—-BEBTRHOEBE 14.91% (WETRIE
BERX A HBREABRETEMIEREN
1R BE AR REEE 1T 56 0 A BE R 1T AR AR D) ©

BE-Z—-/\F+ZA=+—8  &MARE
SIRHIRMDEMTEIEME0RERARHERRE
48,837,240 R IR DV Z IR FIMR D EN - BIF
AABNTISHEREAE R HEARERE
EEXEES  BEREBEIREIBRMENE
BEENSREEAERHTEENZ R
RPN ESINT ¢

/% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018



Report of the Directors

EEERE
J
Number
of Shares Number Number Number Number of
underlying of Shares of Shares of Shares Shares
the RSUs underlying underlying underlying  underling the
Granted  theexercised  the cancelled the lapsed RSUs as of Exercise
Name of Director/ Date of asofthe  RSUs during during the duringthe ~ December 31,  Vesting Price
Senior Management Grant Listing Date the Period Period Period 2018 Date (USS)
HECR-I\E
REHEY BmEfTE +ZB=t+-8
SRR ZRHRS HERHRG
it Etitem Efit) HACEEN  BRCEY g i
EE/ROEEASHE RUEY Eh¥E EH¥E  ERRGEE  AERHEE Eih#E HEY (%7)
Ms. ZHOU Yan 30 June 2017 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 21 December 2018 0.0000002
Shares shares
Bt 3t 5,000,000 - - - 5000000 ZE-N\% 0.0000002
AA=TH Rkt Rt +=A=t-H
Mr. NIU Chong 31 March 2016 6,094,000 - - - 6,094,000 21 December 2018 0.0000002
Shares shares
4r%x “B-5F 6,094,000 - - - 6094000 ZZ-NE 00000002
=h=t-A Rkt RE#h  +=A=t-H
Mr. ZHANG Zhen 31 March 2016 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 21 December 2018 0.0000002
Shares shares
FELE “E-RE 5,000,000 - - - 5000000 ZE-N\F 0.0000002
=A=t-A LGy RE#  +t=A=t-H
Movements in the number of RSUs outstanding are as follows: EARTENZREROECEEEHOT ¢
Number of RSUs
SRR EMEE
As of Listing Date 48,837,240
R EmBH 48,837,240
Granted 48,837,240
Bk 48,837,240
Forfeited -
=hcdly -
Exercised -
E{TfE -
Outstanding balance as of December 31, 2018 48,837,240
R-T—N\FE+ZA=+—B8ERTESR 48,837,240
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POST-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On November 3, 2018, the Company adopted the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme, which falls within the ambit of, and is subject to,
the regulations under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to attract,
retain and motivate employees, Directors and other participants,
and to provide a means of compensating them through the grant
of options for their contribution to the growth and profits of the
Group, and to allow such employees, Directors and other persons
to participate in the growth and profitability of the Group.

The Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and other share
option schemes of our Company (and to which the provisions of the
Listing Rules are applicable) shall not exceed 127,321,635 Shares
(i.e. 10% of the aggregate of the Shares in issue on the Listing Date
(“Scheme Mandate Limit”) and as at the date of this annual report).
Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating this
Scheme Mandate Limit.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the
exercise of the options granted to or to be granted to each eligible
person under the Share Option Scheme (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10
years from November 3, 2018 and the options granted have a 10-
year exercise period. Options may be vested over such period(s)
as determined by the Board in its absolute discretion subject to
compliance with the requirements under any applicable laws,
regulations or rules.

The exercise price of the option shall be such price as determined
by the Board in its absolute discretion at the time of the grant of
the relevant option (and shall be stated in the letter containing the
offer of the grant of the option), but in any case the subscription
price shall not be less than the higher of (a) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a business day, (b) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets
of the Stock Exchange for the five (5) business days immediately
preceding the date of grant, and (c) the nominal value of a Share.

No share options have been granted or agreed to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme during the year ended December 31,
2018.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share incentive plans as described above, no equity-
linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares, or that require the Company to enter into any agreements
that will or may result in the Company issuing shares, were entered
into by the Company from the Listing Date to December 31, 2018
or subsisted at the end of the year of 2018.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the Relevant Period, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries or consolidated affiliated entities has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors had engaged in or had any interest in any
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during the Reporting
Period.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

The Company does not have any other disclosure obligations under
Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

No related party transactions disclosed in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted as a connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which should be
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed below in this annual report, during the year
ended December 31, 2018, the Company had no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which fell to
be disclosed in accordance with the provisions under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in relation to the disclosure of connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions.
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Contractual Arrangements

Our Group has entered (1) the Huanju Times Contractual
Arrangements with the WFOE, Huanju Times and Huanju
Times Registered Shareholders, and (2) the ChiLe Contractual
Arrangements with the WFOE, Shanghai ChiLe and ChiLe
Registered Shareholders, to enable us to, among others, (1) receive
substantially all of the economic benefits from Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChiLe in consideration for the services provided
by our Company thereto; (2) exercise effective control over the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities; and (3) hold an exclusive option
to purchase all or part of the equity interests in Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChiLe when and to the extent permitted by PRC
laws. Accordingly, through the Contractual Arrangements, our
Consolidated Affiliated Entities’ results of operations, assets and
liabilities, and cash flows are consolidated into our Company’s
financial statements.

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic
benefits from our Consolidated Affiliated Entities to our Group
stipulated under the Contractual Arrangements:
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=) Beneficial ownership in equity interests
mnny Beneficial ownership through contractual arrangements

(1) Control of WFOE over the Registered Shareholders through (i) Exclusive
Option Agreements, (i) Equity Pledge Agreements, and (iii) Voting Rights
Proxy Agreements and Powers of Attorneys

2) Control of WFOE over the business of Consolidated Affiliated Entities
through Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements

(8)  The ChiLe Registered Shareholders refer to the registered shareholders
of Shanghai ChiLe. Shanghai ChiLe is owned as to 51% by Mr. Gao
and 49% by Beijing JinChi, which in turn is owned as to 38.5% by Mr.
HUA Xinjiang (Z2%7/1), 56% by Tibet Jiukun Investment Consulting
Co., Ltd. (AR EEFABRR A E) and 5.5% by Shanghai Jiazhuo
Investment Limited Partnership (E/82HERESBLE(BRAEE)).
Both Tibet Jinkun Investment Consulting Co., Ltd. and Shanghai Jiazhuo
Investment Limited Partnership are controlled by Mr. HUA Xinjiang.

(4)  The Huanju Times Registered Shareholders refer to the registered
shareholders of Huanju Times. Huanju Times is owned as to 72% by Mr.
Gao and 28% by Mr. Zheng.

A brief description of each of the specific agreements that comprise
the Contractual Arrangements is set out as follows:

(@) Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements

Pursuant to (1) the exclusive business cooperation agreement
dated June 15, 2018 between Huanju Times and the WFOE
and (2) the exclusive business cooperation agreement
dated June 15, 2018 between Shanghai ChiLe and the
WFOE (collectively the “Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreements”), the WFOE agreed to be engaged as the
exclusive provider to Huanju Times Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and Shanghai ChiLe Consolidated Affiliated Entities
of comprehensive technical support, business support
and relevant consultation services for annual service fees,
including but not limited to the following services in respect
of the Relevant Businesses: providing business management
consultation; providing marketing and promotional services;
providing system integration and maintenance services;
providing financial support; and providing equipment and
properties transfer, leasing and disposal services.
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(b)
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Under Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements, the
service fee shall be of reasonable prices in accordance with
nature of the services and shall consist of 100% of the total
consolidated profit of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities,
after deduction of any accumulated deficit in respect of
the preceding financial year(s), operating costs, expenses,
taxes and other statutory contributions. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the WFOE may adjust the scope and amount of
service fees according to, among others, scope and nature of
services and relevant market prices. The service fees shall be
paid on an annual basis and in accordance with the payment
instructions of the WFOE. Notwithstanding the payment
arrangements in Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements,
the WFOE also has the right to adjust the payment time and
payment method. Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe agree to
accept any of such adjustment.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements have an
initial term of ten years commencing from their respective
effective date, namely March 1, 2016 and March 9, 2018,
and will be automatically renewed for additional ten years.
The WFOE also has the right to renew the term at its will and
Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe shall agree to any such
renewal. The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements
shall not be terminated unless (a) in writing by the WFOE; or (b)
term of such agreement is expired.

Exclusive Option Agreements

Pursuant to (1) the exclusive option agreement dated June
15, 2018 entered into among the WFOE, Huanju Times
and Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and (2) the
exclusive option agreement dated June 15, 2018 entered
into among the WFOE, Shanghai ChiLe and the Shanghai
ChilLe Registered Shareholders (collectively the “Exclusive
Option Agreements”), the WFOE has the right to require the
Huanju Times Registered Shareholders or ChiLe Registered
Shareholders to transfer any or all their equity interests in
Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe to the WFOE and/or a
third party designated by it, in whole or in part at any time
and from time to time, for considerations equivalent to the
minimum purchase price permitted under the PRC laws. The
Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and ChiLe Registered
Shareholders have also undertaken that, subject to the
relevant PRC laws and regulations, they will return to the
WEFOE any consideration that they receive in the event WFOE
exercises the options under the Exclusive Option Agreements
in such way required by the WFOE to acquire the equity
interests and/or assets in Huanju Times or Shanghai ChilLe.
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(c)

Each of the Exclusive Option Agreements have an initial
term of ten years commencing from their respective effective
dates, namely March 1, 2016 and March 9, 2018. The WFOE
has the right to renew the term at its will and Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChilLe shall agree to any such renewal. None
of the Exclusive Option Agreement shall not be terminated
unless in writing by the WFOE. Without prior written consent
of the WFOE, none of Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe or
their respective shareholders may terminate such agreement.

Equity Pledge Agreements

Pursuant to (1) the equity pledge agreements dated June
15, 2018 entered into among the WFOE, Huanju Times and
each of the Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and (2)
the equity pledge agreements dated June 15, 2018 entered
into among the WFOE, Shanghai ChiLe and each of the ChiLe
Registered Shareholders (collectively the “Equity Pledge
Agreements”), Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and
ChiLe Registered Shareholders agreed to pledge all their
respective existing and future equity interests in Huanju
Times or Shanghai ChiLe, where applicable, including any
interest or dividend paid for the shares, to the WFOE as a
security interest to guarantee the performance of contractual
obligations and the payment of outstanding debits.

The pledge in respect of Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe
took effect upon the completion of respective registration
with the relevant administration for industry and commerce,
which are April 15, 2016 and March 12, 2018 respectively for
the Huanju Times Contractual Arrangements and the ChiLe
Contractual Arrangements, and shall remain valid for an initial
term of ten years commencing from the respective effective
dates, which may be renewed by the WFOE in writing. If
there is outstanding debts of Huanju Times Registered
Shareholders, ChiLe Registered Shareholders, Huanju
Times or Shanghai ChiLe under the relevant Contractual
Arrangements, the valid period of Equity Pledge Agreements
may be renewed in writing by the WFOE to the date when all
such outstanding debts have been fully paid.
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Voting Rights Agreements and Powers of Attorney
Pursuant to (1) the voting rights proxy agreement dated June
15, 2018 entered into between the WFOE and the Huanju
Times Registered Shareholders and (2) the voting rights proxy
agreement dated June 15, 2018 entered into between the
WFOE and the ChiLe Registered Shareholders (collectively,
the “Voting Rights Proxy Agreements”), each of Huanju Times
Registered Shareholders and ChiLe Registered Shareholders
irrevocably appointed the WFOE and its designated persons
(including but not limited to the Directors and their successors
and liquidators replacing the Directors, but excluding those
who are Huanju Times Registered Shareholders or ChilLe
Registered Shareholders) as his/her attorneys-in-fact to
exercise on his/her behalf, and agreed and undertook not
to exercise without such attorneys-in-fact’s prior written
consent, any and all right that he/she has in respect of his/her
equity interests in Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe.

The valid period of each of the Voting Rights Proxy
Agreement commenced from their respective effective dates,
namely March 1, 2016 and March 9, 2018, and shall not
be terminated unless (i) in writing by the WFOE or (i) all the
equity interests or assets of Huanju Times or Shanghai Chile,
where applicable, is transferred to the WFOE.

Each of Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and ChilLe
Registered Shareholders, through the respective power of
attorney (“Power of Attorney(s)”) dated June 15, 2018 issued
by him, irrevocably appointed the WFOE and/or its designated
person as his proxy, effective from March 1, 2016 or March
9, 2018, where applicable, to the date when the Voting Rights
Proxy Agreement expires.

(d)
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Spousal Undertakings and Beijing JinChi Shareholder
Undertaking

On June 15, 2018, the spouse of each of Mr. GAO Dinan, Mr.
ZHENG Wei and Mr. HUA Xinjiang, where applicable, signed
an undertaking (collectively, the “Spouse Undertakings”) in
favor of the Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that (1)
her spouse’s existing and future equity interests in Huanju
Times and Shanghai ChiLe (together with any other interests
therein) are separate properties of her spouse; her spouse or
the ultimate beneficial owners are entitled to deal with his own
equity interests and any interests therein in Huanju Times and
Shanghai ChiLe in accordance with the respective Contractual
Arrangements. Each spouse also further confirmed that
she will fully assist to the performance of the respective
Contractual Arrangements at any time; (2) unconditionally
and irrevocably waives any right or benefits on such equity
interests and assets in accordance with applicable laws and
confirms that she will not have any claim on such equity
interests and assets; (3) her spouse may further amend or
terminate the Contractual Arrangements or enter into other
alternative documents without the need for authorization or
consent by the spouse; and (4) they will be bound by the
terms of the Contractual Arrangements as amended from time
to time if she has obtained any equity interests, directly or
indirectly, in Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe for whatever
reasons.

On June 15, 2018, all of the ultimate beneficial owners of
Beijing JinChi, namely Mr. HUA Xinjiang, his spouse and
two brothers, signed an undertaking (the “Beijing JinChi
Shareholder Undertaking”) to the effect, among others,
that each of such person unconditionally and irrevocably
(1) confirmed and agreed with the execution of agreements
in connection with the Chile Contractual Arrangements by
Beijing JinChi and (2) agreed to execute any document and
take any action as necessary to fulfill their obligations under
such agreements, including transfer of their equity interests in
accordance with the Exclusive Option Agreements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other new contractual
arrangements entered into, renewed and/or reproduced
between our Group and our Consolidated Affiliated Entities
during the year ended December 31, 2018. There was no
material change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the
circumstances under which they were adopted during the
year ended December 31, 2018.

(e)
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For the year ended December 31, 2018, none of the
Contractual Arrangements had been unwound on the basis
that none of the restrictions that led to the adoption of
the Contractual Arrangements had been removed. As of
December 31, 2018, we had not encountered interference or
encumbrance from any PRC governing bodies in operating
our businesses through our Consolidated Affiliated Entities
under the Contractual Arrangements.

The revenue of Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe and their
respective subsidiaries amounted to RMB13.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2018, representing an increase by
219.5% from RMB4.1 million for the year ended December
31, 2017. For the year ended December 31, 2018, the revenue
of Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe and their respective
subsidiaries accounted for approximately 84.4% of the
revenue for the year of our Group (2017: 84.1%).

Reasons for Adopting the Contractual Arrangements

Our distribution of mobile applications and games and mobile co-
publishing business as well as online-video distribution services
operated through the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and their
respective subsidiaries are subject to foreign investment restrictions
in accordance with the Administrative Measures of Foreign
Investment Admission (Negative List) (2018 Revision) (JNERE
A RIEIRETE (BB E) (20184 4R)). Since foreign investment in
such business areas in which we currently operate are subject to
restrictions under the current applicable PRC laws and regulations,
as advised by our PRC legal advisor, we determined that it was
not viable for our Company to hold our Consolidated Affiliated
Entities directly through equity ownership. For details of the foreign
investment restrictions relating to the Contractual Arrangements,
please refer to the sections headed “Contractual Arrangements —
PRC Regulatory Background” and “Contractual Arrangements —
Development in the PRC Legislation on Foreign Investment” of the
Prospectus.
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Our Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors)
are of the view that (1) the Contractual Arrangements and the
transactions contemplated thereunder are fundamental to our
Group’s legal structure and business, (2) such transactions have
been and will be entered into in the ordinary and usual course
of business of our Group, are on normal commercial terms and
are fair and reasonable and in the interest of our Group and our
Shareholders as a whole, and (3) the parties to (a) the Company’s
undertaking dated May 24, 2018 issued by the Company and (b)
the Shareholders’ undertaking dated May 24, 2018 issued by Mr.
Gao, Mr. Zheng, and all then existing shareholders of our Company
relating to the Contractual Arrangement, have complied with such
undertaking. Accordingly, notwithstanding that the transactions
contemplated under the Contractual arrangements and any new
transactions, contracts and agreements or renewal of existing
agreements to be entered into between any of our Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and any member of our Group (“New Intergroup
Agreements” and each of them, a “New Intergroup Agreement”)
technically constitute continuing connected transactions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, our Directors consider that, given
that our Group is placed in a special situation in relation to the
connected transactions rules under the Contractual arrangements,
it would be unduly burdensome and impracticable, and would
add unnecessary administrative costs to our Company if such
transactions are subject to strict compliance with the requirements
set out under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, including, among
others, the reporting, announcement, independent shareholders’
approval and annual review requirements.

Risks Relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks that are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements, including:

° If the PRC government finds that the agreements that
establish the structure for operating the businesses in China
do not comply with the applicable PRC laws and regulations,
or if there are regulations or their interpretations change in
the future, we could be subject to severe consequences,
including the nullification of the Contractual Arrangements
and the relinquishment of our interest in our Consolidated
Affiliated Entities.

o Our Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in
providing operational control as direct ownership. Huanju
Times, Shanghai ChilLe or any of their shareholders may fail to
perform their obligations under our Contractual Arrangements.
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° We may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by our
PRC Holdcos that are material to our business operations if
our PRC Holdcos declare bankruptcy or become subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

° The ultimate shareholders of Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe
may have conflicts of interest with us, which may materially
and adversely affect our business.

° If we exercise the option to acquire equity ownership and
assets of Huanju Times or Shanghai ChilLe, the ownership
or asset transfer may subject us to certain limitations and
substantial costs.

° Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the enactment
timetable, interpretation and implementation of the Draft
Foreign Investment Law and how it may impact the viability
of our current corporate structure, corporate governance and
business operations.

Further details of these risks are set out in the section headed “Risk
Factors — Risks relating to Our Contractual Arrangements” of the
Prospectus.

Our Group has adopted measures to ensure the effective operation
of our Group’s businesses with the implementation of the
Contractual Arrangements and our compliance with the Contractual
Arrangements, including:

(@ major issues arising from the implementation and compliance
with the Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries
from government authorities will be submitted to our Board, if
necessary, for review and discussion on an occurrence basis;

(b) our Board will review the overall performance of and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements at least once
a year;

(¢) our Company will disclose the overall performance and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements in our annual
reports; and

(d) our Company will engage external legal advisors or other
professional advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to
review the implementation of the Contractual Arrangements,
review the legal compliance of WFOEs and our Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to deal with specific issues or matters arising
from the Contractual Arrangements.
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Listing Rules Implications and Waivers from the Stock iR Al % BB 3 Pah &R

Exchange

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements HRENZHENETIANTNS BB L% -

constitute continuing connected transactions of our Company MEEERIEFTSMBEBEAL  HIREL

under the Listing Rules upon Listing as certain of the parties to the THRA ENZHETRETHRSZR LT

Contractual Arrangements, namely Mr. GAO Dinan, Mr. ZHENG BRERADFNFERERS - RELHH

Wei and Beijing JinChi are connected persons. Mr. GAO Dinan and AIZE14A07T()R > FITEEREBRBRES S

Mr. ZHENG Wei, both of whom are executive Directors and our BRAREBEER EBSFERFILR

Controlling Shareholders, and Beijing JinChi, which is a substantial SR EATNEEAL -

shareholder of Shanghai ChilLe, are connected persons of our

Company under Rule 14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules.

In relation to the Contractual Arrangements, we have applied to the MENZHEMS - KR R AT EE B

Stock Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver e AR MR D TEHE AT L B

from strict compliance with (i) the announcement, circular and ()R EHIRBIE14A 105K B EME N LR

independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter HETRETHRZHREBEETLTR
14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions contemplated Al 14AEN DS - BRARBIRRHAER

under the Contractual Arrangements pursuant to Rule 14A.105 of TE ;5 (i) B R EASET LR RISE14A 531K R

the Listing Rules, (i) the requirement of setting an annual cap for EHNZHETRETHRBITLFE LRN

the transactions under the Contractual Arrangements under Rule BRE  Ri)BRBEEET LMRAIE14A.52
14A.53 of the Listing Rules, and (iii) the requirement of limiting REBENLZHERBRER=ZFRUAN
the term of the Contractual Arrangements to three years or less  3RE @ HAZ LU TEARR :

under Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules, for so long as our Shares

are listed on the Stock Exchange subject however to the following

conditions:

(@) no change without independent non-executive Directors’ (@ REBIFHTESMETSESE
approval;

(b) no change without independent Shareholders’ approval; b) KREBIBRRMERBESE ;

() the Contractual Arrangements shall continue to enable € EHZTHBEEZEIEEWREBRRE G
our Group to receive the economic benefits derived by the BEERNLERNR
Consolidated Affiliated Entities;

(d) on the basis that the Contractual Arrangements provide d) EEINTHBRAARREEZEZERHE
an acceptable framework for the relationship between our AR (—AH)EEHEBEER (5—7)
Company and its subsidiaries in which our Company has 2 EERRRTEIERNART
direct shareholding, on the one hand, and the Consolidated REBEEZHEPE IR AEERE
Affiliated Entities, on the other hand, that framework may be TR HERERETREEERINRE
renewed and/or reproduced upon the expiry of the existing BEARE B R EBNERERHIIE
arrangements or in relation to any existing or new wholly BELEREELAT (BESLQA)
foreign owned enterprise or operating company (including RBERE SN2 HRBER AR R EL
branch company) engaging in the same business as that of i BER RIEHZER  MBE
our Group which our Group might wish to establish when ESRRRALE &

justified by business expediency, without obtaining the
approval of the Shareholders, on substantially the same terms
and conditions as the existing Contractual Arrangements; and

—E-\FH BMEHERAS J\
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() we will disclose details relating to the Contractual
Arrangements on an on-going basis.

Annual Review by the Independent Non-Executive
Directors and the Auditor

Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that:

(@ the transactions carried out during the year ended December
31, 2018 had been entered into in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Contractual Arrangements;

(b) no dividends or other distributions had been made by our
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity
interests which were not otherwise subsequently assigned or
transferred to our Group;

(¢) no new contracts had been entered into, renewed and/
or reproduced between our Group and the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities; and

(d) the Contractual Arrangements had been entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business of our Group, are on
normal commercial terms and are fair and reasonable and in
the interest of our Group and our Shareholders as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board has
engaged the Auditor to perform certain procedures on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

After performing the procedures related to the disclosed continuing
connected transactions, the Auditor has concluded in a letter to the
Board that:

(@ nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
have not been approved by the Company’s Board;
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(b) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to (b) REBREIETMBEEHHRAZZCHK

believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions BREBEXGAREMBERLTERE
were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance REZERFNARERISORH]
with a series of contractual arrangements disclosed in the — R - RINEHZHET &

section headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus
governing such transactions; and

() nothing has come to their attention that causes them to € REEIEMSEIFEHEIREBER

believe that dividends or other distributions have been R DEhEREREMB AR R ERE
made by Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their respective S A A ELHBRN BMEEQEE T
subsidiaries to the holders of its equity interests which are not AEBFNRESEHMDIK o

otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

DONATIONS HRE

During the Reporting Period, the charitable and other donations ~ R¥REHR - AEEEHNES K Hihig
made by the Group amounted to approximately RMB312,000. # A EK¥312,0007T ©

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND COMPLIANCE LR R EHRER

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, for the year ended December BRHEBRERFFEEEN BE_FT—N\F+
31, 2018, the Company is in compliance with the relevant laws and ZA=t—BLFE  RKATESFHAAQT
regulations that have a significant impact on the Company. BERFENHEBEERER -
PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION AR EIRR

Under the Articles of Association, every Director or other officers REBEERMAR > AEAARESEEERETE
of the Company acting in relation to any of the affairs of the NRAEBHWEMBE  IERNEIRNTERE
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified against all actions, TRBEEEEREMURERIHBRN—Y)
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he may incur A AR BR - BX - BERBEXES
or sustain in or about the execution of his duties in his office. The FfE o N AR HEERBENEER
Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of AR HEEREEE -

legal action against its directors and officers.
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IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

The important events after the Reporting Period are disclosed in
Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had, together with the Auditor, reviewed the
accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group and the
consolidated financial statements during the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 67 to 80 of this annual
report.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group had 326 employees as of December 31, 2018, as
compared to 178 employees as of December 31, 2017. The Group
enters into employment contracts with its employees to cover
matters such as position, term of employment, wage, employee
benefits and liabilities for breaches and grounds for termination.
Remuneration of the Group’s employees includes basic salaries,
allowances, bonus and other employee benefits, and is determined
with reference to their experience, qualifications and general market
conditions. The emolument policy for the employees of the Group
is set up by the Board on the basis of their merit, qualification and
competence.
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The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong under the
rules and regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the participating
employees’ relevant income from the Group. When an employee
leaves the MPF Scheme, the mandatory contributions are fully
vested with the employee. The employees of the PRC subsidiaries
are members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the PRC government. The employees of the PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to this retirement benefits
scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme.
Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the
Group are disclosed in the section headed “Employee benefits”
set out in Note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the
best knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued shares, the prescribed minimum percentage of public
float approved by the Stock Exchange and permitted under the
Listing Rules, was held by the public at all times since the Listing
Date and as of the date of this annual report.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Company will hold the AGM on 6 June 2019, Thursday. The
register of members of the Company will be closed from 3 June
2019, Monday to 6 June 2019, Thursday, both days inclusive, in
order to determine the identity of the Shareholders who are entitled
to attend the AGM, during which period no share transfers will be
registered. To be eligible to attend the AGM, all properly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level
22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later
than 4:30 p.m. on 31 May 2019, Friday.
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Report of the Directors
ESERE

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holdings, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of
any rights in relation to, the Shares, they are advised to consult an
expert.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young was appointed as the Auditor during the Reporting
Period. The accompanying financial statements prepared in
accordance with HKFRS have been audited by Ernst & Young.

Ernst & Young shall retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, will offer itself for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as Auditor will
be proposed at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board
GAO Dinan

Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2019
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of
the Company for the Relevant Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has
adopted the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
as its own code of corporate governance. Save as disclosed in this
annual report, the Company has complied with all applicable code
provisions under the CG Code throughout the Relevant Period.
The Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business
and performance. The Board has delegated the authority and
responsibility for day-to-day management and operation of
the Group to the senior management of the Group. To oversee
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has
established three Board committees including the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination. The Board has
delegated to the Board committees responsibilities as set out in
their respective terms of reference which are published on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

All Directors have carried out duties in good faith and in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance in
respect of legal action against the Directors. The insurance
coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.

Board Composition

As of the date of this annual report, the Board comprises three
executive Directors, three non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. GAO Dinan (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. ZHENG Wei (Vice Chairman)

Ms. ZHOU Yan (Chief Financial Officer)
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Non-executive Directors:
Ms. XIE Guowang

Mr. SONG Chunyu

Mr. ZHU Jing

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. CHEN Baoguo

Mr. LIANG Zhanping

Ms. ZHAO Xuemei

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

During the Relevant Period, the Board has met at all times the
requirements under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive directors with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-executive
directors representing at least one-third of the Board.

The Company believes that the diversity of Board members will
be immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s
performance. Therefore, the Company has adopted a Board
diversity policy to ensure that the Company will, when determining
the composition of the Board, consider Board diversity in terms
of, among other things, skills, regional and industry experience,
educational background, culture, race, gender, age and other
qualities. All Board appointments will be based on merits, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board. The Board diversity
policy is available on the website of the Company.

As each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed
his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
the Company considers all of them to be independent parties.

None of the Directors has any personal relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationship)
with any other Director and chief executive.
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All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. Independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee.

As regards the code provision of the CG Code requiring directors to
disclose the number and nature of offices held in public companies
or organizations and other significant commitments as well as the
identity of the public companies or organizations and the time
involved to the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments and any subsequent change to the Company in a
timely manner.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding
of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her
responsibilities under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

In accordance with A.6.5 of the CG Code with regards to
continuous professional development, directors should participate
in appropriate continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. Internally-facilitated
briefings for Directors will be arranged and reading material on
relevant topics will be issued to directors where appropriate. The
Company also arranges trainings to provide Directors with updates
on latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and other
relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to time. The
Directors are provided with regular updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a
whole and each director to discharge their duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The company secretary of the Company has from time to time
updated and provided written training materials relating to the roles,
functions and duties of a director.

No training was held for the Directors during the Relevant Period,
except for written training material and monthly regulatory updates
provided to the Directors and senior management of the Company
during the Relevant Period which is less than one month. The
Company will fully comply with the CG Code and Listing Rules to
provide timely trainings to the Directors and senior management.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officers

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and performed by
different individuals. The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company are held by Mr. GAO Dinan. The Board
believes that vesting the roles of both chairman and chief executive
officer in Mr. GAO Dinan has the benefit of ensuring consistent
leadership within the Group and enables more effective and efficient
overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board considers that
the balance of power and authority for the present arrangement will
not be impaired and this structure will enable the Company to make
and implement decisions promptly and effectively. In light of the
above, the Board considers that the deviation from code provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code is appropriate in the circumstances of the
Company.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company on November 3, 2018 for an initial term of three
years commencing from November 3, 2018.

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter with the
Company for an initial term of three years on November 3, 2018
commencing from the Listing Date.

None of the Directors has entered into a service contract which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years and any new Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy
shall submit himself/herself for re-election by the Shareholders
at the first general meeting of the Company after appointment
and new Directors appointed as an addition to the Board shall
submit himself/herself for re-election by the Shareholders at
the next following annual general meeting of the Company after
appointment.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
composition and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-election of Directors and succession planning for
Directors.
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Board Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings
regularly, at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly
intervals. Notices of not less than fourteen days are given for all
regular Board meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity
to attend and include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice
is generally given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
dispatched to the Directors or Board Committee members at least
three days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient
time to review the relevant papers and are adequately prepared for
the meetings. When Directors or Board Committee members are
unable to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to
be discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known
to the Chairman prior to the meeting. Minutes of meetings are kept
by the company secretary of the Company with copies circulated
to all Directors or Board Committee members for information and
records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee meetings
are recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered by
the Board and the Board committees and the decisions reached,
including any concerns raised by the Directors/Board committee
members. Draft and final versions of the minutes of each Board
meeting and Board Committee meeting are sent to the Directors/
Board Committee members for comments and records respectively
within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is
held. Minutes of the Board meetings are open for inspection by
Directors.

No Board meeting or general meeting of the Company was
held during the Relevant Period. As the Company was listed in
December 2018, the Board did not have any matters to discuss
during the Relevant Period which is less than one month. The
Company will fully comply with the requirement under the code
provision A.1.1 of the CG Code to convene Board meetings at least
four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiries
of all Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that he/she has
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code
for the Relevant Period.
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The Group’s employees, who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Group, are also subject to the Model Code for
securities transactions. No incident of non-compliance of the Model
Code by the employees was noted by the Company.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision right for all major matters of
the Company, including: approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those that
may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant financial and operational matters.
Directors could have recourse to seek independent professional
advice in performing their duties at the Company’s expense and are
encouraged to access and to consult with the Company’s senior
management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group
are delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions
and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant
transactions entered into by the management.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. The Board recognizes that
corporate governance should be the collective responsibility of the
Directors which includes:

1. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

2. toreview and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

3. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;

4.  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board; and

5.  to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Company establishes an Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The Audit
Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. CHEN Baoguo
(Chairman), Ms. ZHAO Xuemei and Mr. ZHU Jing, majority of them
are independent non-executive Directors. The primary duties of
the Audit Committee are to review and supervise, and provide an
independent view of the effectiveness of, the financial reporting
process and the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group, oversee the audit process and perform other duties and
responsibilities as assigned by the Board.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Code provision C3.3(e) (i) of the CG Code provides that the terms
of reference of the Audit Committee shall have the terms that the
members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the Board and
senior management and the Audit Committee must meet at least
twice a year with the Auditor. The Company has included such
terms in relevant terms of reference, and thus complied with the
Code provision C3.3(e) (i) of the CG Code during the Relevant
Period. However, the Audit Committee did not hold any meetings
with the Auditor during the Relevant Period because the Audit
Committee did not have any matters that need to be discussed
with the Auditor shortly after the Company’s listing. The Audit
Committee will fully comply with its terms of reference.

Nomination Committee

The Company establishes a Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee
currently comprises three members, including one executive
Director namely Mr. GAO Dinan (chairman) and two independent
non-executive Directors namely Mr. LIANG Zhanping and Ms.
ZHAOQO Xuemei. The primary functions of the Nomination Committee
include, without limitation, reviewing the structure, size and
composition of the Board, reviewing the Board diversity policy,
assessing the independence of independent non-executive
directors and making recommendations to the Board on matters
relating to the appointment of directors.
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In recommending candidates for appointment to the Board, the
Nomination Committee will consider candidates on merit against
objective criteria and with due regards to the benefits of diversity
on the Board in accordance with the board diversity policy adopted
by the Company. Diversity of the Board will be considered from
a number of perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, industry experience,
technical and professional skills and/or qualifications, knowledge,
length of services and time to be devoted as a Director. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put
to the Board for decision. The written terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

No meeting of the Nomination Committee was held during the
Relevant Period.

Remuneration Committee

The Company establishes a Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee
comprises three members, including two independent non-
executive Directors namely Mr. CHEN Baoguo (chairman) and Mr.
LIANG Zhanping and one executive Director namely Mr. ZHENG
Wei. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
without limitation, (i) making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of directors
and senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedures for developing policy on such remuneration,
(ii) reviewing and approving performance based remuneration
proposals with reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved
by the Board, and (ii) making recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management, which include benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

No meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held during the
Relevant Period.
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Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Please refer to Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements for
details of remuneration of members of the Board for the year ended
December 31, 2018.

Details of the remuneration by band of Directors and senior
management of the Company, whose biographies are set out on
pages 28 to 34 of this annual report, for the year ended December
31, 2018 are set out below:

EERSREIREHN

BB E=ZT-\E+=-A=1+—-HLEEE
EESRENEFHNAE  F2HEEUHER
FRHIZES ©

BE-Z-/\F+ZA=+-HLEFEAXR

AEEREREERE (RENEEHNAF
RE28E4H) FIASBEFFHIIMT ¢

Number of individual

Remuneration band (RMB) FrsiE (ANRET) AL
0-1,000,000 0—1,000,000 12

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility of preparing the
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 to give
a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company and the Group
and of the Group’s results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation
and information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out
an informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements,
which are put to the Board for approval. The Company provides
all members of the Board with timely updates on Company’s
performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the
Company is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on page 81
to 87 of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is the Board’s responsibility to
ensure that the Company has established and maintained adequate
and effective risk management and internal control systems. The
Board delegates its responsibility to the Audit Committee to review
the establishment and practices of management with respect to
risk management and internal control systems formally on a half-
yearly basis. The Audit Committee also reviews the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems on an annual
basis. The Board is also responsible for overseeing the key
risks of the Company, including determining the level of risk the
Company expects and is able to take, and proactively considering,
analyzing and formulating strategies to manage the key risks that
the Company is exposed to. The Audit Committee oversees the
management of the design, implementation and monitoring of risk
management and internal control systems. The senior management
team also provides all necessary and relevant information to the
Board, giving the Directors sufficient explanation and information
they need to discharge their responsibilities and make an informed
assessment of financial and other information put before them
for approval. The internal audit team of the Company has direct
reporting lines to the Audit Committee. These systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

We have designated responsible personnel in our Company to
monitor the ongoing compliance by our Company with the relevant
PRC laws and regulations that govern our business operations and
oversee the implementation of any necessary measures. In addition,
we plan to provide our Directors, senior management and relevant
employees with continuing training programs and/or updates
regarding the relevant PRC laws and regulations on a regular basis
with a view to proactively identify any concerns and issues relating
to any potential non-compliance. In addition, we have adopted
a set of internal rules and policies governing the conduct of our
employees. We have established a monitoring system to implement
anti-bribery and anti-corruption measures so as to ensure that our
employees comply with our internal rules and policies as well as
the applicable laws and regulations. For example, our management
is responsible for conducting a fraud and bribery risk assessment
on an annual basis and our audit committee reviews and approves
our annual risk assessment results and policies. We have also
identified certain forbidden conducts in our internal anti-bribery and
anti-corruption policies, including, among others, the prohibition to
acceptance of bribes or rebates, embezzlement or misappropriation
of our assets, and forgery or alteration of our accounting records.

[ B B e P BB 4
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Risk Management

The Company is committed to continuously improving the risk
management system, including structure, process and culture,
through the enhancement of risk management ability, to ensure
long-term growth and sustainable development of the Company’s
business. The Company has established a risk management system
which sets out the roles and responsibilities of each relevant party
as well as the relevant risk management policies and processes.
Each business group of the Company, on a regular basis,
identifies and assesses risk factors that may negatively impact the
achievement of its objectives, and formulates appropriate response
measures.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in supervising the overall
risk status of the Company and evaluating the change in the nature
and severity of the Company’s major risks. The Audit Committee
considers that the management of the Company has taken
appropriate measures to address and manage the key risks which
they are responsible for at a level acceptable to the Board.

The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, continuously
reviews the risk management and internal control systems. The
review process comprises, among other things, meetings with
management of business groups, internal audit team, legal,
personnel and the external auditors, reviewing the relevant work
reports and information of key performance indicators, and
discussing the major risks with the senior management of the
Company. The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended
December 31, 2018, the risk management and internal control
systems of the Company are effective and adequate.

In addition, the Board believes that the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting functions have been performed by staff
with the appropriate qualifications and experience and that such
staff receives appropriate and sufficient training and development.
Based on the work report from the Audit Committee, the Board also
believes that the Company’s internal audit function is adequate with
sufficient resources and budget. The relevant staff has appropriate
qualifications and experience, and receives sufficient training and
development.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION ST

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by BE-_Z—\E+ZA=+—HLHFE
the Auditor to the Group during the year ended December 31, 2018 BREMpAEERENEZRIFEEZREN

was approximately as follows: BN T ¢
Amount
&%
(RMB’000)
Type of Services RRFSEERI (NR¥ETT)
Audit and audit related services* BN EZEERE 1,750
Non-audit services FEZIRTE 50
Total #ct 1,800

Note Mt

* The amount of audit and audit related services fee comprises the service = EZRECEARGSHERASBERIEREZA
fee for the audit of the Group’s 2018 consolidated financial statements. S8 T \FHEEUBERRNVREE -

COMPANY SECRETARY ATHE

Mr. CHAN Chi Keung has been appointed as the company REBCECEZEAERRATNATNWE -
secretary of the Company. See the section headed “Directors and EERETRAETNERE  F2EANERE
Senior Management — Company Secretary” in this annual report for ENENEEE - NTWE |—f -

the biography of Mr. CHAN Chi Keung.

For the year ended December 31, 2018, Mr. CHAN Chi Keung has BE-_E—N\E+-A=+—HILEE &
undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training HREECHS EHRAEI2MFETRD
respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. 15/ AR ) -
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group’s business, performance and strategies.
The Company also recognizes the importance of timely and non-
selective disclosure of information, which will enable Shareholders
and investors to make the informed investment decisions.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides opportunity
for the Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors. The
Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Remuneration
Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination Committee and, in
their absence, other members of the respective committees will be
available to answer questions at shareholder meetings. The Auditor
will also attend the AGM to answer questions about the conduct of
the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
Shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a
two-way relationship and communication between the Company
and the Shareholders and maintains a website of the Company
at www.wankaonline.com, where up-to-date information on the
Company’s business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information
are available for public access.

From the Listing Date up to the date of this annual report, the
Company did not convene any general meetings.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution will be proposed for each issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely
manner after each general meeting.
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Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting
Forward Proposals

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at
a general meeting of the Company according to the Articles of
Association. Any one or more members holding as of date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or any one of the joint company secretaries
of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting of
the Company to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall
be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the
procedures are available on the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about
the Company to the Board could send their enquiries to the
headquarters of the Company at 4/F, Building No. 6, Runfeng
Deshang Yuan, 60 Anli Road, Chaoyang, Beijing, PRC.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company has
been amended and restated with effect from December 21, 2018.

BHRERRFHIXERREESE

RESEMAR  RRARAQFARRAE L
REZZBUHER - A —BRULBEE
EEREHFAELARARRAELREZH
REAFTDR+22—HKRR - BRERERE
BOESEHARAEMN—BHELAWE
BRHEEER  ERESZAMAQATRR
BRAE  MEEEEERMIIANEMAE
He ARASANEXBREREMELR
BT - RNERXRBRAERE2ANRNESER
REEMAERAE  AERALARERSRK
BITEMABARE  MEBERALEES
SEREBAHAREMELENIESEEAEH
RATREBEERATETEN -

EREBRRUALZEEENER  JRA
REAFREHBERERF -

AESERHES
BROFZOESSELHEREARRANES
AREERFTEREADTEE » it HhE
ERHEIRG B % M B 60 5% B 5L 655184
=

BERXHMEY

RABWHEBER AR AR HERERTR
B YIR=F-N\F+ZA-+-BER -

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018



Independent Auditor’s Report

ENVREE LT

To the shareholders of Wanka Online Inc.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wanka
Online Inc. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 88 to 264, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit
addressed the matter is provided in that context.
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Key audit matters (continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion

on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

A {EAF S

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of the
Group’s goodwill was approximately RMB183,612,000,
which is subject to annual impairment test. Impairment
provision is required when the recoverable amounts
of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) to which the
goodwill is allocated are lower than the respective
carrying values of the respective CGUs.
R-ZZB-N\F+=ZA=+—H BEENHEREEY
A ARM183,612,000T » HEURAEFHURERR -
EARBREIBEENREELEN(REELE
LW aWEEENAEEREEEEVNREER
FEFHRBERE -

The calculation of the recoverable amounts of these
CGUs involved significant management’s estimation,
subjective assumptions and judgements, such as
expected future cash flows from the CGUs, budgeted
gross margins, revenue growth rates and discount
rates, and is sensitive due to business and market
volatility, and uncertain economic outlook.
HZERESELBENTRESENTESREEENE
BEME - THRERRAE  PINReEESBVMERT
RRBRERE  FFEEFE  WABREBHURBEAER
BERFEEBRETHEEBER KBNS N REEMLT
BEUR o

PSSt SIE (&)
BRMCRBET T ARS (BB Fif 575
BB HEARENEL) B BMNEE
BREEELERESTSEABNEML - HE
i HPINE TEEEHTARYETMEN
REPB|MRE N ERBLE R R
SEF - RMPTEARFNGR B8R
HTBAREFZEMDITHES - BEE
MBEHRBERREFIZREHRTER -

We performed the following audit procedures, among
others, on the impairment testing of goodwill:

EMYHERENRNTUTETEF (HPEHE)

° we assessed the key assumptions underlying the
cash flow forecasts, including revenue growth
rates, budgeted gross margins and discount
rates through enquiry with management and
by reference to the historical performance and
business plans of the relevant CGUs. We also
took into account the accuracy of previous
budgeting process;

e HMABABEERE Z2REBERSELEBEUNE
ERAMEEFETERAERSREBRINEER
RBEBAZBRE AEEFRKERE - HM
TERBIRERIBIZAERM

° we involved our internal valuation specialists to
assess the methodologies and certain significant
assumptions such as the discount rates used by
management in the impairment testing; and

o RMEFBANMESERTIMMLERE TERRR
PlaERBERENAPEANGERE &

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018



Independent Auditor’s Report
WAL ETR &

Key audit matters (continued)

Impairment assessment of goodwill (continued)

AE R EFS ()

Relevant disclosures of accounting policies,
accounting judgements and estimates and impairment
testing of goodwill are included in notes 2.4, 3, and 14
to the consolidated financial statements.
SETEE - STHHEREFTHEBEEUAREENRE
BB ERE I RRMEE2.4 - 3R 14 ©

PSSt HIE (&)

° we assessed the adequacy of disclosures in
relation to the Group’s goodwill impairment test in
the consolidated financial statements.

o  RMFIMGREMBHRRIEE EEEHERER
HHNEERERRE °

Provision for expected credit losses on accounts receivable

B PR TR IS B R 1R

Accounts receivable constituted a significant portion of
total assets of the Group as at 31 December 2018 and
the Group was exposed to credit risks thereof. The
Group recognises an allowance based on the expected
credit loss (“ECL”) approach under Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standard 9 Financial Instruments.
The measurement of ECL requires the application of
significant judgement and estimates, such as provision
rates which are based on days past due for customers
that have similar loss patterns, historical credit loss
experience and forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.
REZZB-NF+ZA=+—B  BUERE BEEEE
EENERIS Bt BEXEEKREERR - E5E
BEEEBMBHREENFEIREHMTANBREERSSE
([TREEERE ) ERREE - RHREEFENES
BDREAERAE RS - fINERBB X AT EY
BEER BIGEFBELRNEFEHRBEER UK
BERABENAEEEZREBRR -

Relevant disclosures of accounting policies,
accounting judgements and estimates and impairment
of accounts receivables are included in notes 2.4, 3
and 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
SETBCR - ST HETFEE U R ERER TR B R
BENREUERKRMEE2.4 - 3R17 -

We performed the following audit procedures, among
others, on the impairment assessment of accounts
receivable:

BMYRBRRERGHITAT ETEF (Hhak) :

° we obtained an understanding of and assessed
management’s processes and controls relating
to the credit control and collection of accounts
receivable;

o EBMTHUFTGHEEEFTHACEZEFRKEEKER
MHRE R =S

° we obtained and assessed management’s
expected credit loss allowance and judgements
on the recoverability of accounts receivable by
examining the information used by management
to establish such judgements and estimates,
such as the historical default information, current
economic conditions and forward-looking
information;
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PSSt SIE (&)

Key audit matters (continued)

L,

Provision for expected credit losses on accounts receivable (continued)

R TR IS 5 1R 1 ()

° we tested the ageing report and past due report
of accounts receivable on sample basis; we
also considered the collection of the accounts
receivable subsequent to the end of the reporting
period; and

o HMHBIFHEBUIRRNRRBRSE REBRE
PI7RZ BRI ERERZEUGRRARENY ; &

° we assessed the adequacy of disclosures in
relation to impairment of accounts receivable in
the consolidated financial statements.

o RMFMEREMBHRRPEEERUERIORENKE
2RRER °
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Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
WIALZBET R &

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

ENVREE LT

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wong Kwok Yin.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central

Hong Kong

22 March 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEEER
s

BEZ—\F+-A=t—HLEFE
Year ended 31 December 2018

2018 2017
—T-N\F —E—+tF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FiEE ARETT ARET T
REVENUE Wz 5 1,546,316 485,636
Cost of sales SHEHKA (1,329,190) (439,638)
Gross profit ER 217,126 45,998
Other income and gains H g A K s 5 11,661 961
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEX (16,729) (5,712)
Research and development costs 3 R AR (26,344) (15,866)
Administrative expenses THRAX (74,635) (8,665)
Other expenses and losses Hinpx REE (1,084) (1,976)
Share-based payment expenses LR BERAFEE X 27 (8,119) (1,866)
Operating profits Py 101,876 12,874
Finance costs B 7% A s 7 (6,216) (3,528)
Loss on termination of convertible bonds ~ #& LF AT IR E SR EE 25 (14,270) =
Fair value losses on convertible bonds AR ES AT EEE 25 (3,202) =
Fair value losses on preferred shares BERNDFEREE 24 (217,123) (134,443)
Fair value losses on warrants RIRFEEMN AT EEE 25 (261,791) (16,239)
LOSS BEFORE TAX FRBLAIE 18 6 (400,726) (141,336)
Income tax expense PIEEE B 10 (20,815) (3,758)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FREE (421,541) (145,094)
Attributable to: THIA LA :
Owners of the parent BARER A (421,541) (145,090)
Non-controlling interests RS = (4)
(421,541) (145,094)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO BRAREBEREEA
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS it gREER (U8R
OF THE PARENT (expressed AR TIITR)
in RMB per share) 12
Basic and diluted HEARKREE RMB(0.54) RMB(0.25)
ARE(0.549)t AR%(0.25)7T
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FezEalimR

BE-Z—\G+-A=t—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2018

2018 2017
—F—-)N\E —E—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBT T
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FREE (421,541) (145,094)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Hib2EWBA (&8)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) FRENMBEN Y EERER
that may be reclassified to profit WEMEEWRA(EIB) :
or loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation BREBIINEREERERZ5E
of foreign operations 4,658 (8,458)
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) FRENBEF S ER
that may be reclassified to profit BmWEMmEE
or loss in subsequent periods WA (E58)F58 4,658 (3,458)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) TEEREREEN
that will not be reclassified to profit DEEBRNEM
or loss in subsequent periods: ZEBA S (EE) :
Exchange differences on translation RARBEEENEN Z5
of the Company (45,554) 15,822
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) TEERENHENR2EE
that will not be reclassified to profit B EA
or loss in subsequent periods 2EKA A (ER)FE (45,554) 15,822
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FREMEEUBA
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (E18) - BRBiE (40,896) 12,364
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR FRZHEEBEEE (462,437) (132,730)
Attributable to: THIA LA :
Owners of the parent BATEE A (462,437) (132,726)
Non-controlling interests FEIEIRAE S - (4)
(462,437) (132,730)

==
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

HFEMFIRAR

—E—N\F+=A=1+—H
31 December 2018

2018 2017
—T—/\F —E—tF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FiaE ARETT AREET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M~ BERZE 13 1,206 667
Goodwill [ 14 183,612 448
Other intangible assets HitmpEE 15 37,321 17,913
Deferred tax assets EIERIEEE 16 9,770 =
Prepayments FESRRIE 18 23,585 18,868
Total non-current assets FRBEELERE 255,494 37,896
CURRENT ASSETS REBERE
Accounts receivable FEURBRFR 17 443,889 182,608
Prepayments, other receivables FEfTRRIE - HbENEIE
and other assets REMEE 18 275,798 93,717
Pledged deposits KFZEE 19 34,317 -
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 19 303,436 11,490
Total current assets BB EEER 1,057,440 287,815
CURRENT LIABILITIES G =R
Accounts payable FE 1 BRFX 20 48,542 52,576
Other payables and accruals H A EFIE K FERTFIE 21 53,548 31,931
Contract liabilities EHEaE 22 147,043 12,302
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FFEERITER 23 146,000 10,000
Income tax payable FES PTiEH 35,834 3,752
Convertible bonds AR E S 25 - 25,297
Total current liabilities BB BEHE 430,967 135,858
NET CURRENT ASSETS BN EEFE 626,473 151,957
TOTAL ASSETS LESS HEEBRBERS
CURRENT LIABILITIES 881,967 189,853
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

HEMBRRAR

=F-\Ft=A=t-8
31 December 2018

2018 2017
—B-N\F —E—+F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FiaE ARETT ARBT T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Other payables H A FRIE 21 500 61,023
Preferred shares BER 24 - 259,944
Warrants IR 25 - 41,358
Deferred tax liabilities FERIIEAE 16 5,973 -
Total non-current liabilities ERBEERTE 6,473 362,325
Net assets/(liabilities) BE (86 FHE 875,494 (172,472)
EQUITY & #E
Equity attributable to owners B ATEE AEGRE
of the parent Issued capital 2EITRA 26 1 =
Treasury shares EEFRMS 26 —* -
Other reserves Hithf 28 875,493 (172,472)
875,494 (172,472)
Total equity/(deficiency in assets) wmER(BETR) 875,494 (172,472)
i The amount is less than RMB1,000. * $ERAE AR 0007 ©
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FEEREER

BEZ—\F+-A=t—HLEFE
Year ended 31 December 2018

Attributable to owners of the parent

BARRAAEL
Employee
share-based  Statutory  Exchange Non- Total
Issued Share Capital - compensation reserve fluctuation  Accumulated controling  deficiency
capital  premium reserve reserve funds reserve losses Total  interests  inassets
HRHA
ERtES EX BETR
BRRE  RfEE EARE  FMEE EEREE  RORR  E0ER ait FERER L
Notes ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'00  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
Wi ARMTR ARETR ARMTR ARBTR ARETR ARMTR ARBTn ARETR ARBTR ARETR
At 1 January 2017 R=Z-tE-A-A -+ 10,454 5,561 28,799 - (4187) (117,328 (76,6%) (166)  (76,862)
Loss for the year EREE = = = = = - (145090)  (145,090) (@) (145,094)
Other comprehensive EREBRERA :
income for the year:
Exchange differences EREH - - - - - 12304 - 12304 - 12364
Total comprehensive ER2ARA/
income/(oss)for the year  (B51E) &4 - - - - - 12384 (1450900  (132,726) @ (132730
Issue of shares ikt 2% CI Y (] - - - - -4 -4
Capital injection from WEATERERLE
registered shareholders
of a subsidiary - - 8,000 - - - - 8,000 - 8,000
Appropriation to statutory  BAREEES
reserve fund - - - - 1,127 - (t,127) - - -
Acquistion of e in
non-controlling interests - - (395) - - - - (395) 170 (225)
Equity-settled share NEREEN
option arrangements BREZH 2 = - - 1866 - - - 1,866 - 1,866
At 31 December 2017 R=B-LE
TZA=t-H -+ 37,933 13,166 30,665 1,127 8,177 (263540) (172,472 - (172472)

#

The amount is less than RMB1,000.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FEEREER

BE-Z—\G+-A=t—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2018

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATHHAEL
Employee
share-based  Statutory  Exchange Non-
Issued  Treasury Share Capital compensation reserve fluctuation ~ Accumulated controlling Total
capital shares  premium  reserve reserve funds  reserve losses Total interests equity
HRfrE
EfttRE i)

ERfks BERH RbEE RABE  FMER ARRGE KBRS ROES aif FEREE  RERE
Notes RMBOOO RMB'0OO RMBOO0 RMBOOO  RMB00 RMB'0O0 RMBOOD  RMBOO0 RMBO0D  RMBOO0  RMB'000
W ARBFR ARMTR ARRTR ARRTR ARRFR ARMTR ARBTR  ARRTR ARRTR ARRTR ARRFR

At1January2018  RZZ-NE

-A-H - - 37,933* 13,166 30,665* 1,127 8171 (263,540 (172,472) - (172472
lossfortheyear A - - - - - - - S (d2540) (421,541)
Other comprehensive  EREA
loss for the year: 2EFR:

Exchange differences  EXZE - - - - - - (40,89) - (40,89) - (408%)
Total comprehensive ~ FRZEFELE
loss for the year - - - - - - (40,896) (421,541)  (462,437) - (462,437)
Issue of shares B4 % 1 S 1505917 (3,634) - - - - 1,502,284 - 1,502,284
Appropriation to BALERES
statutory reserve
fund - - - - - 16,173 - (16,173) - - -
Equity-settled share ~ HERAEH
option amangements  EREZH pa - - - - 8,119 - - - 8,119 - 8,119
At31 December 2018 W=Z-\F
+2A=1-8 i SOIM380C 08 784 17300 (79 (T01254* 875404 - 8754
8 The amount is less than RMB1,000. % SETEARK1,0007T °
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves of i3 ZERERBOESGAVBEMRARAGZE
RMB875,493,000 (2017: negative reserves of RMB172,472,000) in the H b f##EARMES875,493,0007t (=& —+
consolidated statement of financial position. F : BfEEAREEA172,472,0007T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

v \éiﬁﬁiﬁﬁ%

BEZ—\F+-A=t—HLEFE
Year ended 31 December 2018

2018 2017
—T-N\F —E—+tF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FiEE ARETT AR¥T T
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHHRSRE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax FRELAIE IR (400,726) (141,336)
Adjustments for: MUT BIR/EHFAE :
Foreign exchange losses/(gains),net INEEIE (e ) FEE 6 (1,641) 1,954
Finance costs BAFE AR AN 7 6,216 3,528
Bank interest income IRITRIE A 5 (110) (29)
Investment income BEWRA 5 (161) (82)
Impairment of accounts receivable FE U BRFURLEL 6 134 1
Depreciation of property, Y%~ BRERZETE
plant and equipment 13 859 443
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEHE 15 11,757 2,239
Share-based payment expenses UM AERNARESX 27 8,119 1,866
Fair value losses on preferred shares BERNAFEREE 24 217,123 134,443
Fair value losses on warrants RREEN A EEEE 25 261,791 16,239
Fair value losses on convertible bonds nJERES N FEEER 25 3,202 =
Loss on termination of K IEATERESNEE
convertible bonds 25 14,270 -
Listing expense FHpEx 6 44,014 -
Other expense related to HEREERSERE
equity-settled transactions HE MR 34(a) - 7,312
164,847 26,578
Increase in accounts receivable FEUR BRFRIZ AN (224,324) (166,293)
Increase in prepayments, other FE{TFIE ~ HEWERIE
receivables and other assets RHEAEEZ M (166,237) (92,904)
Increase in long-term prepayments REAFE T FRIEIE N (4,717) (18,868)
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable FEAHERFIE N, GF4>) (12,231) 38,697
Increase in contract liabilities BREEIEM 134,741 12,093
Increase/(decrease) in other payables H it FRIE & FERTRRIE
and accruals 21, Ge4) (24,371) 25,851
Net cash used in operations EEMARSFE (132,292) (174,846)
Interest received 2UFIE 110 29
Income tax paid 2SR (3,243) 6)
Net cash flows used in REEERFTARSREFE
operating activities (135,425) (174,823)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

vy \éfﬁﬁﬁﬁ%

BE-Z—\G+-A=t—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2018

2018 2017
—B-N\F —E—+tF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FiaE ARETT ARBT T
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHNRERE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investments income REUWA 161 82
Purchase of financial assets BERATETABR
at fair value through profit or loss HEREE (5,000) -
Redemption of financial assets EE1R AT EFT AR
at fair value through profit or loss W& REE 5,000 9,500
Purchase of items of property, BEYE BERSKBER
plant and equipment (176) (232)
Purchase of items of intangible assets BEEFEEEE (175) -
Acquisition of subsidiaries Y BB Bt B 2 7] 29 20,377 -
Net cash flows from investing activites  RERETBHE S REFEE 20,187 9,350
CASH FLOWS FROM METHNRERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Drawdown of bank loans REURITE R 34(b) 154,000 10,000
Repayment of bank loans BERITER 34(b) (18,000) —
Capital injection from registered M A RleE AR FEE
shareholders of a subsidiary - 8,000
Capital injection from shareholders BREEE 64,524 8
Proceeds from issuance of AT A EIAE S TSR
convertible bonds 34(b) 20,000 17,195
Proceeds from initial public offering BRXAMBERBRIE 239,130 =
Listing expenses paid 2 EtmAX 34(b) (38,897) -
Repayment of convertible bonds BETERES 34(b) (61,195) =
Proceeds from issuance of BTEERABRIE
preferred shares 34(b) 93,695 71,705
Advance payment received for B L IREREE E I EAEK
subscription of preferred shares 34(b) - 60,523
Interest paid 2T E 34(b) (4,451) (151)
Loans from employees REEEMNER 34(b) 600 3,480
Repayment of loans due to employees  EEEEENER 34(b) (4,080) —
Dividend paid 2NRE 34(b) (11,301) -
Increase in pledged deposits 2IRAFFIG (34,397) -
Net cash flows from financing activities ~ BEEETSHE S REFEE 399,628 170,760
NET INCREASE IN CASH RERREEEYENFER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 284,390 5,287
Cash and cash equivalents FHHREeRESEEY
at beginning of year 11,490 8,157
Net foreign exchange difference RINEEEE 7,556 (1,954)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRBRERREEED
AT END OF YEAR 303,436 11,490
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH RERASSBY I
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances RERBITHEER 303,436 11,490
Cash and cash equivalents as mE BN RR
stated in the consolidated RERBERMREE
statement of financial position RIREZEEY
and statement of cash flows 303,436 11,490
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Wanka Online Inc. (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 7 November
2014. Its registered office address is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive P.O.Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands. The Company, together with its subsidiaries, is
collectively referred to as the Group.

Prior to November 2014, the offshore structure was held
by the Company’s predecessor, Wanka Inc., a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 20 May 2014. On 7
November 2014, the Company entered into a letter agreement
with Wanka Inc., pursuant to which all the shares of Wanka
Holdings Limited, a company set up in Hong Kong by Wanka
Inc., would be transferred from Wanka Inc. to the Company
for a consideration of HK$1.0. The transfer was completed on
28 November 2014 and since then, the Company has been
the holding company of the Group.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries, including
controlled structured entities, were mainly involved in mobile
advertising services, online-video distribution services and
game co-publishing services.

1.

AT REEER

Wanka Online Inc.([A&RA T ) B —=
RIE—NFE+-BAtHEREHEH
MARZWEREMELT o HEMs
B b 3E {7 A Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands ° 4N 5
ERHEMWB A RSB ARES -

R-ZE—NF+—AZA  BREEMNE
BT 2 B HAT 5 Wanka Inc. 48 -
ZARIR=ZE—MNERA =+ HEH
SERETMRY - R=ZZ2—NF+—4
+ 8 » ANAFEWanka Inc. 5] 3 — 19 EK
i 0 B TIIERERAE (—
KHEWanka Inc. EBBRIZIAT]) K
2 IR0 145 L1058 TR B Wanka
Inc.EETARAF - FRAEZEZINA ==
—mOE+—A=+N\B%K Bt - &K
AR —BHAAREBMWER AT °

RER  ARAREMBEAR (BFE=
BEEBHBER) TRNEREABBES
RS ~ MARARSEE M D B ARAS B B B
BT -




Notes to the Financial Statements
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(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows:

Name

=1

Wanka Holdings
Limited.*
TMER AR A A

Wanka Huanju Culture
Media (Beijing) Co.,
Ltd.*M (“Wanka
Huanju”)

MRS S (L)
BRAR (R 1)

Structured entities:

e

Huanju Times Culture
Media (Beijing)
Co., Ltd.*
(“Huanju Times”)
BERALEE (ER)
BRAR (TR

Beijing Jingzhe Century
Information
Technology
Co., Ltd.*

TR ERH L E R R
BRAR

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/

Place and date
of incorporation/

registration and registered
place of operations share capital
AR/ E IR BERITER/
HEAL R E b3 AR AEE
Hong Kong HK$1
6 June 2014 18T
B
“E-MmExXARA
People’s Republic US$40,990,000
of China (“PRC”)/ 40,990,000%= ¢
Mainland China
10 October 2014
REARLNE (THE ),/
HEI R
“E-WETATA
PRC/Mainland RMB10,000,000
China AK#10,000,0007T
7 March 2014
e/ REKFE
“2-MmFE=AtH
PRC/Mainland RMB1,000,000
China AR#1,000,0007T
15 November 2006
e B KR

—%35Ft-ATEA

1.

BREETI UARET IR
AT REEEH (&)
P4 S ARRR SR

RABHEEM B Q) HEFHEERT W
T:

Percentage of
equity attributable Principal
to the Company activities
Direct Indirect

FRREAEREL A TEXRK
B B3

100 - Investment
holding

REZR

- 100  Mobile
advertising

services

BBRERYE

- Note 1
FizE 1

Mobile
advertising
services

BBRERSE

- Note 2
HizE2

Mobile
advertising
services and
game
co-publishing
services

BBEERBR
B R
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A F R R ML

(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ATRKEEEF (B)

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place and date

Nominal value of

Fit B 2 SR HEEAE L ()

of incorporation/ issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable Principal
Name place of operations share capital to the Company activities
Direct Indirect
MR R BRTEE/
£ HEAL R E RIS AMRAEE A RIFEAR AR L A TEXH
E# &

Wanka Huanju Culture PRC/Mainland RMB5,000,000 - Note2  Mobile
Media (Hainan) China AK#5,000,0007 ffzF2  advertising
Co., Ltd.** 1 June 2017 services

BB B O8%)  HE/REAR BBEERS
BRAF “Z—t55A—H

Wanka Huanju Culture PRC/Mainland RMB5,000,000 - Note2  Mobile
Media (Tianjin) China AK#5,000,0007 ffzF2  advertising
Co., Ltd.** 9 June 2017 services

GMER SR (KE)  hE/ PEAE BBEERS
BRAF “Z—tEXANA

Sichuan Wanka Huanju PRC/Mainland RMB5,000,000 - Note2  Mobile
Culture Media Co., Ltd.*  China AR#5,000,0007T FizE2 advertising
(“Sichuan Wanka”) 20 November 2017 services

)1 SR S AL R e/ REIRRE BBEERS
BRAF(W)IZm) =F-tF+-A=tH

Shanghai ChiLe Information PRC/Mainland RMB40,816,327 - Note 1 Online-video
Technology Co., Ltd.* China AE#40,816,3277C Bt distribution
(“Shanghai ChiLe”) 18 June 2014 services

LB REERER thE /AR REREER
BRAR Ligngt]) “E-[ERATNR PERH
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Notes to the Financial Statements

CPEE e U

1.

(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place and date
of incorporation/
registration and

Name place of operations
TR R
£ AEIARE RS
Xinjiang ChilLe PRC/Mainland
Information Technology China
Co., Ltd.** 26 September 2016

HELLEENEARAT PE/ PHAR
—2-FEAA=HAR

Shanghai Langdao PRC/Mainland
Information China
Technology Co., Ltd.* 27 July 2016
LEREEENFEARAR hE PR KE
~E-RELATTLA

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered

share capital

BRTEE/
SERRAEE

RMB5,000,000
AK#5,000,0007T

RMB5,000,000
AR#5,000,0007T

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

AT REEEE ()

Bt B 2 S1RYHERBAE L ()

Percentage of
equity attributable Principal
to the Company activities
Direct Indirect

R REGREL A TEXRK

B# B3

Note 3  Online-video
BfzE3  distribution
services
REREER
DRI

Note 3  Online-video
BisE3 distribution
services
REREER
DR

—E-N\ER BNESHERAS @/\
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(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Notes:

Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe were set up under PRC law
and were controlled by the Company through Wanka Huanju
via a series of contractual arrangements.

The Company does not have direct or indirect legal ownership
of these entities which were set up under PRC law and
were controlled by the Group through Huanju Times. These
companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Huanju Times.

The Company does not have direct or indirect legal ownership
of these entities which were set up under PRC law and were
controlled by the Group through Shanghai ChiLe. These
companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Shanghai ChilLe.

The names of these subsidiaries referred to in this report represent

management’s best effort in translating the Chinese names of the
subsidiaries, as no English names have been registered.

N This companies is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise
under PRC law.

Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member

firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

1.

AT REEEH ()

Pt A SR 486AEF ()
MiEt: BEERR SRS

fiaE2:

FiRES:

GEE

SREMERY  WHARFRBIT
MER BB — R EHNLHEMmE
l

ARBUEEHIEENZEE
BHEEEEMERE  MaETE

BIOREHBEVEEMRY - A
$Elﬁﬂ%¥kﬁﬁ%ﬂ B4
ERARBERRKNZEMER
=] o

ARBUEEHXIEENZEE
BHEEEEMEE  MRETE

Eﬁf#l&éﬁ“*'ﬁ$
$Elﬁﬂt§@ b o %
gﬂjﬁiiﬂmmﬁémg
=] o

R E IR SN B R RS
DEREZRNIBEFEPXEAHENG
R RERKGEMEMZEIEME -

ZERRCIREPBEEARERL AN
BEME -

WIER BB LK SN BT & K
SETMESMEEES—S8FK
FTEEt% ©




Notes to the Financial Statements

CPEE e U

(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Contractual arrangements

The regulations in Mainland China restrict foreign ownership
of companies that provide certain Internet related businesses,
which include certain activities and services operated by the
Group.

In order to enable certain foreign companies to make
investments into these businesses of the Group, the
Company controls certain subsidiaries through contractual
arrangements. In 2014, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, Wanka Huanju entered into a series of contractual
arrangements (the “2014 Contractual Arrangements”)
with Huanju Times and its registered shareholders which
were further updated in 2016 (the “2016 Contractual
Arrangements”). Wanka Huanju, Shanghai ChiLe and
Shanghai Chile’s registered shareholders entered into a set of
contractual arrangements dated 9 March 2018 in compliance
with the applicable rules and requirements, namely the ChiLe
Contractual Arrangements.

In preparation for the listing of the Company on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, in
2018, (i) Wanka Huanju, Huanju Times and Huanju Times’
registered shareholders entered into a new set of contractual
arrangements in compliance with the applicable rules and
requirements, namely the 2018 Contractual Arrangements,
which superseded and replaced the 2014 and 2016
Contractual Arrangements and entered into force from June
2018; and (i) Wanka Huanju, Shanghai ChiLe and Shanghai
ChiLe’s registered shareholders entered into a new set of
contractual arrangements in compliance with the applicable
rules and requirements, namely the New ChiLe Contractual
Arrangements, which superseded and replaced the ChilLe
Contractual Arrangements and entered into force from June
2018.

1.

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

AT REEEE ()

BHRH

B AR R ER RS A R IR B R
MEEEBNAT  EFEEAEEAHR
KENE TR RR -

REETIHERFERENEEENZ
EEH > AORBBASYREMESE
THELR - R=FT—NEF » XATW
SEMBARTNMEBRRERREARE
AMBRRIL-RIGHRET=F
—EENZH]  UR=B—RFE
—SEH(ZB-RESHZHD -
DB R » it it gAY
RERMKREABRAURRET L —FRFIA
BR-ZZ-NFZANBNENTH
(EBEEE R HE) -

AEEADARBEBHERZERA
AERET  RZZE—NF - (i)TrE
B BB A KBS R AR
REARBMRET L —RIHENZ
EEIZE-—NEEHTH)  BER
HERREER-Z—NER_F—~
FENZHEIB T - NFRARE
R R(i)ETUNEER « B R B
St AY ST R SRR BRI AR Al R IR ERT
N—RIHENTHE (e Nz
) > ZERHERRRBRIDESH
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BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Contractual arrangements (continued)

The 2014 Contractual Arrangements, 2016 Contractual
Arrangements and 2018 Contractual Arrangements, ChilLe
Contractual Arrangements and New ChiLe Contractual
Arrangements, collectively referred to as the Contractual
Arrangements, has enabled the Group to conduct businesses
in industries that are subject to foreign investment restrictions
in Mainland China, and enable Wanka Huanju to:

1)  govern the financial and operating policies of Huanju
Times and Shanghai Chile;

2) exercise equity holders’ voting rights of Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChilLe;

3) receive substantially all of the economic interest returns
generated by Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe as
consideration for the business support, technical and
consulting services provided by Wanka Huanju;

4)  obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase
all or part of the equity interests in Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChiLe from the respective registered
shareholders at a minimum purchase price when it is
permitted under laws and regulations in Mainland China.
Wanka Huanju can exercise such options at any time
until it has acquired all equity interests of Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChilLe;

5)  Obtain a pledge over the respective existing and future
equity interests, including any interest or dividend paid
for the shares, in Huanju Times and Shanghai ChilLe, to
Wanka Huanju as a security interest to guarantee the
performance of contractual obligations and the payment
of outstanding debts from the respective registered
shareholders.

1.

AT REEEH ()

aH=HE (&)

—E-MEEHRHE  —E-REEY
ZHR_ZE-—NFEHNRH  HEEX
ZHRIIMEENZHABRENZ
B SAREEAERBEAEZIERE
REIMITHFRARZER » FLSIMMEE
7

1) ZEEEERR LSS

2) TEBBRAREOERES
BANRERE ;

3) EHEBBRARLEBHEMELE
MEFRELSBENZER - UME
RIMBBARMHEER ST - &K
g & s AR T BB

4) RBEAUEFERENEERRER
AR R EBEEQAREZMR
BRREBERBRAR LEBRE
B2 REN T ATHERBR
RER o TronER R wy BERF 1T A L3k
BER BRHUIGEERER
K Bt R 2 EARAE

5) ESHEHESENEBERRAR LB
LEFRKARKRE (BERRS
TRV ERMFESHBRE) MER
ERZAMRRBETENEER
S AY P RAE TS AR R IE R T @ 3
MERBAE RV E I o
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(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Contractual arrangements (continued)

As a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the Group
has rights to exercise power over Huanju Times, Shanghai
ChiLe and their subsidiaries, receives variable returns from
its involvement in Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries, has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries and is considered to control Huanju Times,
Shanghai ChiLe and their subsidiaries. Consequently, the
Company regards Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries as controlled structured entities and consolidated
the assets, liabilities and results of operations of Huanju
Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their subsidiaries in the financial
statements of the Group.

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as
effective as direct legal ownership in providing the Group with
direct control over Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries. Uncertainties presented by the legal system in
Mainland China could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights
of the results, assets and liabilities of Huanju Times, Shanghai
ChiLe and their subsidiaries. The directors of the Company,
based on the advice of its legal counsel, consider that the
Contractual Arrangements among Wanka Huanju, Huanju
Times and its registered shareholders and the Contractual
Arrangements among Wanka Huanju, Shanghai ChiLe and its
registered shareholders are in compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations in Mainland China and are legally binding
and enforceable.

1.

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.1 EREE

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for preferred shares, warrants and certain convertible
bonds, which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2018. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

ZENBBRRCREFTRETOAE
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Notes to the Financial Statements

CPEE e U

(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described above.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i)
the fair value of any investment retained and (jii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

2.1 BEEE(FH)
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(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 E:TBUREYEE) RIETE

DISCLOSURES

The following new and revised HKFRSs became effective for
the accounting period commencing from 1 January 2018:

AT 3] RAEIERT BB RS 28 B
—E2-N\F—- A —HRRNSHHR—E
ERX
Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment
Transactions
RO BEEHNAXZH 7 EREE
Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with
HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts
B IREERFE 97 2 T R |BE BT EER)

BB REZERE 25 (BETA)
Amendments to HKFRS 4

BRPBMELERE45E (BFTA)

FEa RG]
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
BB R EZERIE R 2HTA
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
BRERELELE155R KEEFEHH Mz

Amendments to HKFRS 15

BRI EZERIE 1555 (BRI )
Amendments to HKAS 40
BERFTERAFE 405 (BRTAR)
HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

BBE B EERFE 155 REEF S A8 Wz 18 E

Transfers of Investment Property

EEREYF

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

58 (ERIBRERREES) —REBE22 IMIEREME
Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28
ZE-NEE - ANFEBHFELE EBUBIREERE 15 REBETERFE 28 A5

Except for HKFRS 9 which is adopted by the Group for the
first time for the account year’s financial statements as the
standard does not allow the use of hindsight if it is applied
retrospectively, the Group had early adopted all other new and
revised HKFRSs in the preparation of the underlying financial
statements for the years ended 31 December 2015, 2016 and

BRASEERE T F E M HRR BIRRA
EFBYBMELRFEIRI  RRAZX
ZAHBEPERANBERLT ANEERS
RER  ARERGREEZ-"ZF-1
F-ZB-XFR-B—tF+=-A=
tT-BLEERBE-Z-N\FRA=

2017 and the six months ended 30 June 2018 for inclusion in
the prospectus of the Company dated 11 December 2018.

T HIEAEANEETBRREERER
BRANFTA AR KB & BB
HER LMARRBEHB=F-N
F+ZAT—BNERER -
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(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing
together all three aspects of the accounting for financial
instruments: classification and measurement, impairment and
hedge accounting.

The Group has recognised the transition adjustments against
the applicable opening balances in equity at 1 January 2018.
Therefore, the comparative information was not restated and
continues to be reported under HKAS 39.

The Group has assessed the effects of adoption of HKFRS 9
on its financial statements and it considered that the adoption
has not had a significant impact on its financial position and
results of operations.

To determine the classification and measurement category,
HKFRS 9 requires all financial assets, except equity
instruments and derivatives, to be assessed based on a
combination of the entity’s business model for managing
the assets and the instruments’ contractual cash flow
characteristics.

The HKAS 39 measurement categories of financial assets (fair
value through profit or loss, available for sale, held-to-maturity
and loans and receivables) have been replaced by:

(@) Financial assets at amortised cost

(o) Debt instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, with gains or losses recycled to
profit or loss on derecognition

() Equity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, with no recycling of gains or

losses to profit or loss on derecognition

(d) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)
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BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 E&TBUREYEE) R IR (&)

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

DISCLOSURES (continued)

The accounting of financial liabilities remains largely the same
as it was under HKAS 39, except for the treatment of gains
or losses arising from an entity’s own credit risk relating to
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss. Such
movements are presented in other comprehensive income
with no subsequent reclassification to profit or loss.

The Group’s classification of its financial assets and liabilities
is explained in note 2.4.

There were no significant changes for the Group’s financial
assets and financial liabilities on the classification on 1
January 2018, the Group’s date of initial application of HKFRS
9.

The adoption of HKFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the
Group’s accounting for impairment losses for financial
assets by replacing HKAS 39’s incurred loss approach with
a forward-looking expected credit loss (“ECL”) approach.
HKFRS 9 requires the Group to record an allowance for ECLs
for all loans and other debt financial assets not held at fair
value through profit or loss. The ECL allowance is based on
the difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted at
an approximation to the asset’s original effective interest rate.

Details of the Group’s impairment method are disclosed in
note 2.4 to the financial statements.

There were no significant changes for the Group’s financial
assets on the impairment on 1 January 2018, the Group’s
date of initial application of HKFRS 9.
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BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 EEMEREZIEEME
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HEEA
STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised AEBRNZEWBERRALARBAAT
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in C BB AR MHIRTR] R B R BB
these financial statements. BIRERER -
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?
BB R EERIZEIR (BRI ) R E S
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation’
EBYBREERFIF (BFTA) R [l 1E R ATES 5
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
and HKAS 28 (2011) Associate or Joint Venture?

BBIBREERE10FREBSER REEHABEN RS ETFEZFNEEL EX L E
5F285% (IBFTA) (=T ——%F)

HKFRS 16 Leases’
BRMEREERZE165R HET
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®
BBUBIREERE17H REEE#)°
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material?
and HKAS 8
ERSHEAE 1R REBSTTEL BEAREZE?
ELLACCHEN)
Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement’
ERETHERFE195% (BRI ) FTEMEIE ~ HERatEET
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures'’
BEETHERFE285% (85T 4) REEZLFGREELEZ KRR
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’
&8 (BRI ERERBEES) - Fr3 B G 2 T HEE1ET
ARTEE 235
Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 and HKAS 23’
2015-2017 Cycle

TE-AFERCE-CFRMcFERE BBRIFIE ER|FE 35 ~ BB HEERFE 115
BB ERF 125 R BB E 1 ERE 235 HIET A

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 1 R-ZE—NF—A—HZ2EHED
FEHRAER

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 2 R-ZE_TF— A —Ha 2 EHIED
FEHRAER

9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 3 R-E-_—F—A—Hax 2 BHED
FEHRAER

d No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for 4 1 9 T 7 5 ) A % B BB AT £ AR

adoption
Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to ERZSHERERARAEE 2B BHTE
be applicable to the Group is described below. SREER| 2 E—SERIEMAT o

“TNFH ENERARLS @/.\
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 EEMIBERENIEFEBITE
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HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to
be considered a business, it must include, at a minimum, an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create output. A business can exist
without including all of the inputs and processes needed to
create outputs. The amendments remove the assessment
of whether market participants are capable of acquiring the
business and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus
is on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive
processes together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs. The amendments have also narrowed the
definition of outputs to focus on goods or services provided to
customers, investment income or other income from ordinary
activities. Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance
to assess whether an acquired process is substantive and
introduce an optional fair value concentration test to permit a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities
and assets is not a business. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-
Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving
the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the
principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise assets
and liabilities for most leases. The standard includes two
elective recognition exemptions for lessees — leases of low-
value assets and short-term leases. At the commencement
date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make
lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset
representing the right to use the underlying asset during
the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use
asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses unless the right-of-
use asset meets the definition of investment property in HKAS
40, or relates to a class of property, plant and equipment to
which the revaluation model is applied. The lease liability is
subsequently increased to reflect the interest on the lease
liability and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will be
required to separately recognise the interest expense on the
lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-
use asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure the
lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events, such as
change in the lease term and change in future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine
those payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount
of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment
to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16
is substantially unchanged from the accounting under HKAS
17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same
classification principle as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between
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HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

operating leases and finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires
lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than
under HKAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply the standard
using either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective
approach. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 16 from 1
January 2019. The Group plans to adopt the transitional
provisions in HKFRS 16 to recognise the cumulative effect
of initial adoption as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained earnings at 1 January 2019 and will not restate
the comparatives. In addition, the Group plans to apply the
new requirements to contracts that were previously identified
as leases applying HKAS 17 and measure the lease liability
at the present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate at
the date of initial application. The right-of-use asset will be
measured at the amount of the lease liability, adjusted by the
amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating
to the lease recognised in the statement of financial position
immediately before the date of initial application. During
2018, the Group has performed a detailed assessment on the
impact of adoption of HKFRS 16. The Group has estimated
that right-of-use assets of RMB6,556,668 and lease liabilities
of RMB6,499,199 will be recognised at 1 January 2019 with a
corresponding adjustment to the opening balance of retained
earnings.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition
of material. The new definition states that information
is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements. The amendments
clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude
of information. A misstatement of information is material
if it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions
made by the primary users. The Group expects to adopt
the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income taxes
(current and deferred) when tax treatments involve uncertainty
that affects the application of HKAS 12 (often referred to
as “uncertain tax positions”). The interpretation does not
apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of HKAS 12, nor
does it specifically include requirements relating to interest
and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments.
The interpretation specifically addresses (i) whether an
entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately; (ii)
the assumptions an entity makes about the examination
of tax treatments by taxation authorities; (iii) how an entity
determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused
tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how an
entity considers changes in facts and circumstances. The
interpretation is to be applied retrospectively, either fully
retrospectively without the use of hindsight or retrospectively
with the cumulative effect of application as an adjustment to
the opening equity at the date of initial application, without
the restatement of comparative information. The Group
expects to adopt the interpretation from 1 January 2019. The
interpretation is not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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POLICIES

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

The Group measures its financial assets designated as fair
value through profit or loss at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial information are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
information on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than financial
assets and deferred tax assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i)

(i)

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(il

(iv)

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(o) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viiiy the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the
asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Electronic devices 33%
EFRE 33%
Transportation equipment 25%
ERE 25%
Leasehold improvements 33%
HERE 33%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset
with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial
year end.

Commercial resources

Commercial resources associated with certain business
cooperation agreements with certain mobile phone
manufacturers is stated at cost less any impairment losses
and is amortised on the straight-line basis over the shorter of
the estimated economic lives and the licensed period or their
duration of the cooperation agreement with mobile phone
manufacturers, which was estimated as 3 years.

Software copyright

Software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful
life of 5 years. Certain software is acquired as part of business
combination of Shanghai ChiLe.

Customer relationships acquired in a business
combination

Customer relationship is acquired as part of business
combination of Shanghai ChiLe. Shanghai ChiLe has a
portfolio of customers or a market share and expects that,
because of its efforts in building customer relationships and
loyalty, the customers will continue to trade with Shanghai
ChilLe. The customer relationship is determined by an external
valuer, stated at fair value at initial recognition and less any
impairment losses subsequently, and is amortised on the
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 5 years,
during which benefits will be derived from the customer
relationship to the Group.
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POLICIES (continued)

Research and development costs
All research and development costs are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new software
or other assets is capitalised only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the asset
so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to
complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset
will generate future economic benefits, the availability of
resources to complete the project and the ability to measure
reliably the expenditure during the development. Development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to the statement of profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group
is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of
any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the
statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both
of the following conditions are met:

° The financial asset is held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows.

° The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

The Group measures debt investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income if both of the following
conditions are met:

° The financial asset is held within a business model with
the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling.

° The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments) (continued)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign exchange
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the same
manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost.
The remaining fair value changes are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative
fair value change recognised in other comprehensive income
is recycled to the statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS
32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for
trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-
instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised
as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in
which case such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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POLICIES (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated
upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or
financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair
value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if
they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing
in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they
are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of
principal and interest are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to
be classified at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income, as described above, debt instruments
may be designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial
recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as
other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right
of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)
A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host
and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in
the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is
required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at
fair value through profit or loss.
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POLICIES (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables and available-for-sale financial investments, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs
that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets,
except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for trading
if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments as defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with positive
net changes in fair value presented as other income and gains
and negative net changes in fair value presented as finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss. These net fair value
changes do not include any dividends or interest earned on
these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)
Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for
as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to
those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not
held for trading or designated as at fair value through profit or
loss. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit
or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change
in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in other income
and gains in the statement of profit or loss. The loss arising
from impairment is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss in finance costs for loans and in other expenses and
losses for receivables.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and
policies under HKAS 39 applicable before 1 January
2018)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When
it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to

repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt
instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral
to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

2.4 EXEBURBIE (&)

REEFERE WL A HER AR T
ERNENMEEBIAEDEERSEN
B -  RHEEERNEMRBESNE
HNENR SR EEAREEFE WL
FEREREZBNE=REMEE - WL
FREBFZRALOUERR - BHRER
EBREEHEMFRANRESRESRA
BERERRNEMEERA B -

—iiE
FEHEEEEEMERRER - BEE
EAERIEZ RN i SR
MAMmS @ RIBEREK12ME A R A6
BENENESHEFNEERE (1218
BrEHEEERER)FTIRBHEEHER
& - BEERKBYSHIALC FREE
EMPERERABOMS @ BIZBMZi
OMERT FHENREEEETREER
B MARENSHEENERE (25
FEHEEER)

REJ/ERH  AEEFEHBEKDE
wERTANERRERETREER
o EATRHEE - AKELERTESE
TEERSAPBREENNERRES
BT BAVHIIaFERR R B ISR A E VMR
g ARZR T REBSHRANE D
ENRESHEENMAHFNER - &
REELMBHEEER

—E2-\Fi BNSBARAT {\



Notes to the Financial Statements

A F R R ML

(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 EXETBREE (&)

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

General approach (continued)

The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within
the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
accounts receivable which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018) (continued)

Simplified approach

For accounts receivable that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

For accounts receivable that contain a significant financing
component, the Group chooses as its accounting policy
to adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with
policies as described above.

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS
39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually for
financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively
for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the
Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future
credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present
value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use
of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues to be
accrued on the reduced carrying amount using the rate of
interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose
of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off
when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all
collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the
Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by
adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses in the
statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018 and HKAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts and other
payables and accruals, interest-bearing bank borrowings,
convertible bonds, preferred shares and warrants.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.
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POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018 and HKAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Preferred shares

Preferred shares issued by the Company are redeemable
upon the occurrence of certain future events and at the option
of the holders. This instrument can be converted into ordinary
shares of the Company at any time at the option of the
holders or automatically converted into ordinary shares upon
the occurrence of an initial public offering of the Company or
agreed by majority of the holders as detailed in note 24 to the
financial statements.

The Group designated the preferred shares as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. They are initially
recognised at fair value. Any directly attributable transaction
costs are recognised as expenses in statement of profit or
loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the preferred shares are
carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
statement of profit or loss.

The preferred shares are classified as non-current liabilities
when the Group has the unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end
of the reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018 and HKAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Warrants

Warrants have been issued by the Company to some
investors of the Company to purchase certain ordinary shares
or preferred shares of the Company. The warrants may be
exercised by these investors when some conditions are met
according to the warrants terms as detailed in note 25 to the
financial statements.

The Group designates the warrants as financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss. They are initially recognised
at fair value. Any directly attributable transaction costs are
recognised as expenses in statement of profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the warrants are carried at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in statement of
profit or loss.

Convertible bonds

The convertible bonds have been issued by Huanju Times
or Sichuan Wanka to some investors of the Company which
are convertible into ordinary shares of Huanju Times or
Sichuan Wanka. The convertible bonds may be converted by
these investors when some conditions are met according to
the conversion terms as detailed in note 24 to the financial
statements.

The Group designates the whole contract related to the
convertible bonds as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss if the conversion rights do not meet the definition
of equity instruments. They are initially recognised at fair
value and will be revalued at the end of each reporting period.
Any directly attributable transaction costs are recognised as
expenses in statement of profit or loss.
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POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018 and HKAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018) (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Convertible bonds (continued)

For the convertible bonds with embedded conversion rights
that meet the definition of equity instruments, the component
of convertible bonds that exhibits characteristics of a liability
is recognised as a liability in the statement of financial
position, net of transaction costs. On issuance of convertible
bonds, the fair value of the liability component is determined
using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond;
and this amount is carried as a long term liability on the
amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion or
redemption. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to
the conversion option that is recognised and included in
shareholders’ equity, net of transaction costs (if any). The
carrying amount of the conversion option is not remeasured in
subsequent years. Transaction costs (if any) are apportioned
between the liability and equity components of the convertible
bonds based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability and
equity components when the instruments are first recognised.
Please refer to note 25 to the financial statements for details.

Derecognition of financial liabilities (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and HKAS
39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments (policies under
HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018 and HKAS
39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by
the Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised
directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss.

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

2.4 EXEBURBIE (&)

REE A ERT B =R
EBIREE - AT BRI

s EEBEEERVNREIBEY
ERREBEHUAIMIZ Z R R
SRR ESTHRR KBRS
NRBEERNEEREBEMEL
54

s FERMEATNRESENE
ARETREEEMS - fMeesE
FIERFEEENBRERRE - B
FRMEENA RAERRATER
e

EEBEEENAEIENTEMEE
B BREHAREATIER S R ARE AR
THRTIRHER o fi B W LGRS IR I E
R = B FE R BUR R B A5 R B
BRI R N AR B AR IEE R A AR A
AISRRIELESIEEE - AT BRER
A

o HEUEMERMEEAABNVIEL
BIREERNRERERELS
PUMRZFRR G H AR
SINEF R BRSNS RN
EEFREMEEL S &

s HERMBARNRERBNT
BHEHMEZEMS » BEBIER
EEENERMZHSEIRS
REED BA A A LUK SR =
FARPER BRI R HERE. ©

—E2-\Fi BNSBARAT {\



Notes to the Financial Statements

A F R R ML

(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 EXETBREE (&)

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

POLICIES (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to the statement
of profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant
asset by equal annual instalment or deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and released to the statement of
profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets,
the grants are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary
assets and released to the statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful lives of the relevant assets by equal annual
instalments.

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no
or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a
qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government
loans is determined using the effective interest rate method,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial
liabilities” above. The benefit of the government loans granted
with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the
difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and
the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and
released to the statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 EXETBREE (&)
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POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or
less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a
significant financing component, using the practical expedient
in HKFRS 15.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

The Group principally derives revenue from the rendering of
mobile advertising services, online-video distribution services
and game co-publishing services.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for services performed, stated net of returns and value-added
taxes. The Group recognises revenue when the specific
criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities, as
described below.

(1)

Mobile advertising services

The Group provides mobile advertising services to its
customers and revenue is recognised over the period
that services are provided. Revenue from mobile
advertising services is recognised based on actual
performance measurement. The Group recognises the
revenue from the delivery of (i) per-click when the users
click on the advertisement, (ii) per-impression when the
advertising are displayed to users; or (iii) per-download
when the third party apps are downloaded by users.

The Group distributes advertisements on third-party
advertising publishers’ websites or mobile publications
and evaluates whether the Group is acting as the
principal or agent in the transaction. The Group is
a principal in a transaction if the Group controls
the services provided before they are provided to
customers. If control is unclear, the Group considers
whether it is primarily obligated in a transaction, is
subject to inventory risk or has latitude in establishing
prices and selecting suppliers. The Group records
revenue on a gross basis when the Group assessed
itself acting as the principal in the transaction; otherwise,
it records revenue on a net basis.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

@

3

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

Online-video distribution services

The Group generates revenue from providing the online-
video distribution services to the content providers and
revenue is recognised over the period that services are
provided.

The Group enters into marketing arrangements with
content providers to use the Group’s channels to
promote contents to potential subscribers over a
particular period of time. The Group recognises a
proportion of the subscribers’ payments, such as a
monthly package, predetermined in the contracts with
the content providers.

Game co-publishing services

The Group engages in game co-publishing services
through cooperation with third-party game developers
and distribution platforms under certain co-operation
agreements. The third-party game distribution platforms
collect the payment from players and remit the net
proceeds, after deducting the commission charged,
to the Group. In general, the portion of the proceeds
received by the Group is calculated based on the
standard price of in-game virtual currency sold and the
agreed sharing ratio in the contracts signed with third-
party game distribution platforms.
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(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

3

“)

Game co-publishing services (continueq)

The Group recognises the game co-publishing services
on a gross or net basis depending on whether the Group
is acting as a principal or an agent in the transaction.
When the Group takes primary responsibilities of further
game development and updates, game operation,
including determining distribution platforms and
payment channels, providing customer services, hosting
game servers, if needed, and controlling game and
service specifications and pricing, the Group considers
itself as a principal in this arrangement. Accordingly,
the Group records the mobile game revenue on a gross
basis and revenue is recognised only when the in-
game virtual items are purchased and consumed by the
players, and the commission fees paid to distribution
platforms and payment channels and amortisation
of license fees paid to third party game developer
(if any) are recorded as cost of revenues. When the
Group’s responsibilities are publishing, providing
payment solution and market promotion service, the
Group views game developers to be its customers and
considers itself as the agent of game developers in
the arrangements with game players. Accordingly, the
Group records the game publishing service revenue, net
of amounts paid to game developers.

IT development and related service

The Group engages in IT development services by
independent research and revenue is recognised when
the required development is delivered to customers and
customers confirmed their acceptances.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 EXE5TBURHIE (&)
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POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Conference service income is recognised by the net value
after deducting the conference fee upon completion of the
meeting.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange
for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the
Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned
consideration that is conditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received a
consideration (or an amount of consideration that is due) from
the customer. If a customer pays the consideration before
the Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a
contract liability is recognised when the payment is made or
the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under
the contract.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as
an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@ The costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

() The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to
the statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the pattern of the revenue to which the asset
related is recognised. Other contract costs are expensed as
incurred.

(@) Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by either the
relevant authorities or the local municipal governments
of the provinces in Mainland China in which the Group’s
subsidiaries are located. The Group is required to
contribute to the central pension scheme in respect of
its employees in Mainland China and these costs are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as incurred.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b)

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

Share-based compensation scheme

The Company operated an employee’s share option
plan for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible participants who contribute to the success of
the Group’s operations on 31 March 2016 (“2016 Share
Incentive Scheme”). Employees (including executive
and non-executive directors) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration
for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
The share option plan was amended and a restricted
share plan (“RSU Plan”) was effected on 24 May 2018.
Pursuant to the RSU Plan, the restricted shares units
are used as the settlement instrument of the employee
benefits in the share-based compensation scheme,
under which the vesting condition has been revised as
i) upon the completion of the Company’s IPO and ii)
fulfilment certain service period. Except that, there is no
significant change compared with that of the 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme (defined in note 27).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted. The fair value is determined by
an external valuer using the Hull-White Enhanced ESO
Valuation model, further details of which are given in
note 27 to the financial statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Share-based compensation scheme (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which
the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement in
the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning
and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are
not taken into account when determining the grant
date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the
conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions
are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an
immediate expensing of an award unless there are also
service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition,
the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied,
provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b) Share-based compensation scheme (continued)
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if
the terms had not been modified, if the original terms of
the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification that increases the total fair value of
the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-
vesting conditions within the control of either the Group
or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share when applicable.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

The Company’s functional currency is the United States
dollars while the presentation currency of the financial
statements is RMB. In the opinion of the directors, as the
Group’s operations are mainly in the PRC, the use of RMB
as the presentation currency is more appropriate for the
presentation of the Group’s results and financial position.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial information of
each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with
the exception of monetary items that are designated as
part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which time
the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement of profit
or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange
differences on those monetary items are also recorded in
other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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POLICIES (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of the Company and certain
overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than RMB. As at
the end of the reporting period, the Company and the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statement of profit or loss are translated into RMB at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of the Company and overseas subsidiaries
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of the
Company and overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into RMB at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial information
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Contractual Agreements

The Company does not have directly or indirectly legal
ownership in equity interest in certain of the PRC entities
(Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their subsidiaries).
However, as a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the
Group has rights to exercise power over these PRC entities,
receives variable returns from its involvement with these PRC
entities and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over these PRC entities and is therefore considered
to have control over these PRC entities. Consequently, the
Company regards these PRC entities as controlled structured
entities and consolidated the assets, liabilities and results
of operations of these PRC entities in the year ended 31
December 2018.

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as
effective as direct legal ownership in providing the Group with
direct control over Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries. Uncertainties presented by the legal system in
Mainland China could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights
of the results, assets and liabilities of Huanju Times, Shanghai
ChiLe and their subsidiaries. The directors of the Company,
based on the advice of its legal counsel, consider that the
Contractual Arrangements among Wanka Huanju, Huanju
Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their registered shareholders
are in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
Mainland China and are legally binding and enforceable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Revenue recognition: gross versus net

Application of various accounting principles related to the
measurement and recognition of revenue requires the Group
to make judgements and estimates. Specifically, significant
judgements are required in determining whether the Group
is acting as the principal in a transaction. The Group is a
principal in a transaction if the Group controls the services
provided before they are provided to customers. If control
is unclear, the Group has to consider whether it is primarily
obligated in a transaction, is subject to inventory risk or has
latitude in establishing prices. The Group records revenue on
a gross basis when it acts as a principal in the transaction;
otherwise, it records revenue on a net basis. The judgement
of revenue recognition on gross versus net basis is based on
continuing assessment of the above factors on a transaction
basis. The Group records revenue from majority of its mobile
advertising services on a gross basis.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies. The Group has unrecognised
tax losses of RMB16,932,000 that are available for offsetting
against its future taxable profits as at 31 December 2018.
Further details are included in note 16 to the financial
statements.

EX = HEN R T ()

WrtntEs? - KEERSLREE
FERABWEEREINEES TR
BIESRAEEE L H BTG E - AREM
5 BEAKERSE-BXZTEE
ZEANAFHERHE - WAKERR
BRE TR F SR ENRYE - A
AEBRETA o MZHERAE &
EEEZRARAN-BRZTERE
BERY  AEFERR  AEEERE
FIRE - BEAKEERSTFEEZRTA
- ANEBERBEEEARNG B8
RFRRE RSN - RBBEFHRE
BETREEINAEFHERERZE
Y PR EE SRS - AKH
BREBEEGR AR BBESRBES
Wz e

REHIEESE

R IEEEEES e HIRERFR
FAT AR INA B AR EEER 7S
TZEEEESRER - TETE RN
FERIBEESHER  EEEAREAR
TR AERRR i F T BE Y B B R K S E R R
RELIEREIRRE - EHEEHE - A=
E—NE+ZA=+—H AEEE
BARERFIEEEAKE 16,932,000
70 0 B FALURSHEL R SR AERRRF] o #
— S BN REREE6




Notes to the Financial Statements

CPEE e U

(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2018
was RMB183,612,000 (2017: RMB448,000). Further details
are given in note 14 to the financial statements.

Fair value of other intangible assets on initial recognition
The commercial resources represent certain contractual rights
to obtain the control of the future economic benefits of certain
commercial resources from a mobile phone manufacturer.
Certain software and customer relationship are acquired
as part of the business acquisition of Shanghai ChiLe. The
fair value of these intangible assets is determined by using
valuation techniques.

The fair value of the commercial resources of RMB20,152,000
was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2017, which
were valued by a third party valuer using the “with or without”
method of discounting the future expected net profits of the
Group generated from the commercial resources. The fair
value of the software and customer relationships in aggregate
of RMB31,000,000 when acquired was recognised for the
year ended 31 December 2018, which were valued by a third
party valuer using the “excess profit” method and “relief from
royalty” method, respectively. The key inputs used in valuing
the fair value of the intangible assets are set forth in note 15
to the financial statements.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on accounts
receivable

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
accounts receivable. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns (i.e., by service type and customer

type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix
to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information (i.e., gross domestic products). At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s accounts receivable is disclosed in
note 17 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation of fair value of preferred shares

The preferred shares issued by the Company are not
traded in an active market and the respective fair value is
determined by using valuation techniques. The fair value
losses of approximately RMB217,123,000 were recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (2017: RMB134,443,000). The fair
values of preferred shares as at 31 December 2017 were
valued by a third party valuer. The enterprise value allocation
model is used in the valuation of preferred shares of the
Company based on the estimated underlying equity value of
the Company. The underlying equity value of the Company is
estimated by the valuer using the method of discounting the
future expected cash flows (the “DCF Method”). Key inputs
used in valuing the underlying equity value are set forth in
detail in note 24 to the financial statements. The fair values
of preferred shares upon conversion into ordinary shares of
the Company in 2018 were valued by reference to the fair
value of each of the ordinary shares of the Company on the
conversion date, which is the offer price set at HK$3.56 in the
global offering. The carrying amount of preferred shares as at
31 December 2018 was nil (2017: RMB259,944,000).

Estimation of fair value of convertible bonds

The convertible bonds issued by the Group are not traded in
an active market and the respective fair value is determined
by using valuation techniques. The fair value of the liability
component of the convertible bonds and the convertible bond
designated as fair value through profit or loss was estimated
at the issuance date using an equivalent market interest rate
for a similar bond without a conversion option. The carrying
amount of convertible bonds as at 31 December 2018 was nil
(2017: RMB25,297,000).

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation of fair value of warrants

The warrants issued by the Company are not traded in an
active market and the respective fair value is determined
by using valuation techniques. The fair value loss of
approximately RMB261,791,000 was recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2018 (2017: RMB16,239,000). The fair values of
warrants as at 31 December 2017 were valued by a third party
valuer. The enterprise value allocation model is used in the
valuation of warrants of the Company based on the estimated
underlying equity value of the Company. The underlying
equity value of the Company is estimated by the valuer using
the DCF Method. Key inputs used in valuing the underlying
equity value are set forth in details in note 25 to the financial
statements. In particular, for warrants issued to Shenshang
VC, MIC and China Creation Ventures and KIP Bright (as
defined and disclosed in note 25 to the financial statements),
according to the terms and conditions of the financing
arrangements, the exercise of the warrants is conditional on,
among others, the redemption of the convertible bonds; and
the redemption or the conversion of the convertible bonds
is conditional on, among others, the waiver of the warrants.
Hence, the Group will need to apply estimation of the
probabilities of each scenario when assessing the fair values
of the liability component of the convertible bonds (hence the
initial measurement of the equity component of the respective
convertible bonds) and the warrants, respectively. The Group
estimated that (a) it is remote that the convertible bonds
will be converted into equity in Huanju Times or Sichuan
Wanka; and (b) it is highly probable that such warrants will
be exercised by the respective warrant holders considering
the specific conditions and circumstances related to the
Group and the financing arrangements when assessing the
fair values of such warrants and the convertible bonds at the
respective valuation dates. The carrying amount of warrants
included in non-current liabilities as at 31 December 2017
was RMB41,358,000. All the warrant holders have exercised
their warrants as of 24 May 2018, and the carrying amount of
warrants as of 31 December 2018 was nil.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Recognition of employee benefit expense for share
options/restricted share unit (“RSU”) granted

The Group operates a share incentive plan, i.e., the 2016
Share Incentive Scheme, under which employees render
service as consideration for equity instruments (RSUs and
share options) of the Company, for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including executive and non-executive directors) of the
Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, which are equity-settled transactions. The cost of
equity-settled transactions with employees for share options
or RSU granted should be measured by reference to the fair
value of the share options or RSU at the grant date and the
replacement date. The cost of equity-settled transactions
is recognised in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The total fair values of the share options or RSU at respective
grant dates and the replacement date were valued using
the Hull-White Enhanced ESO Valuation model. Significant
estimates on assumptions, such as the risk-free interest rate,
expected volatility and dividend yield and expected forfeiture
rate, are required to be made by the directors and are
disclosed in note 27 to the financial statements.

3.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their services and has four reportable
operating segments as follows:

(@ Mobile advertising services segment;
(b)  Online-video distribution services segment;
() Game co-publishing services segment; and

(d) “Others” segment comprises, principally, the Group’s IT
development and related services.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on segment
revenue and segment cost of each operating segment. The
selling and distribution expenses, research and development
costs and administrative expenses are not included in the
measure of the segments’ performance which is used by
management as a basis for purpose of resource allocation
and performance assessment. Other income and gains, other
expenses and losses, finance costs, share-based payment
expenses, loss on termination of convertible bonds, fair value
losses on preferred shares, fair value losses on warrants, fair
value losses on convertible bonds and income tax expense
are also not allocated to individual operating segments.

The revenue from external customers reported to
management is measured as segment revenue, which is the
revenue derived from the customers in each segment. Cost
of sales primarily represents distribution expenses paid to
distribution channels.

Other information, together with the segment information,
provided to management, is measured in a manner consistent
with that applied in the financial statements. There are no
separate segment assets and segment liabilities information
provided to management, as management does not use
this information to allocate resources or to evaluate the
performance of the operating segments.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. HESIEE (B)
(continued)
The segment revenue for the years ended 31 December 2018 MBE_Z-—NEFR-_ZF—tF+=H
and 2017 is as follows: =T—BLEENDERRNT
2018 2017
—T-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT

Type of goods or services B mE RIS Y A
Mobile advertising services BEESRE 1,443,338 485,636
Online-video distribution services REIRIEE R D B RE 67,442 =
Game co-publishing services e el B R AR A 10,459 -
Others HAty 25,077 -
Total revenue from contracts with customers & F & # A EE 1,546,316 485,636
Timing of revenue recognition Y g e R BEE
Services transferred at a point in time 1 5 i 2 Y BR A% 21,698 =
Services transferred over time BE B ] 2 R A BR 7% 1,524,618 485,636
Total revenue from contracts with customers & F & QYA Iz 1,546,316 485,636
The segment results for the year ended 31 December 2018 BE-—Z—\F+-A=+—HLFE
are as follows: KD EPEEZNT -
Online-video
Mobile distribution Game
advertising services co-publishing
services ERIEER services Others Total
BEEERE RS BEEHERT Hith st

RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AREFR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR

Segment revenue D E R E 1,443,338 67,442 10,459 25,077 1,546,316
Segment cost of sales DEHERA 1,264,739 36,324 7,358 284 1,308,705
Segment result DENELE 178,599 31,118 3,101 24,793 237,611

—E2-\Fi BNSBARAT &\



Notes to the Financial Statements

A F R R ML

(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. FEFEWEE (E)
(continued)
The segment results for the year ended 31 December 2017 BE—Z—tF+-A=+—HLEE
are as follows: D EPEENT ¢
Online-video
Mobile  distribution Game
advertising services  co-publishing
services RRFIEER services Others Total
BEESERY PERY  BREERK Hity @5t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®TR ARETT AR%TT AR%TR
Segment revenue 2 EE 485,636 - - - 485,636
Segment cost of sales D ERSEERRAR 425,350 - - - 425,350
Segment result DEEE 60,286 - - - 60,286
The major customers which contributed more than 10% of BE-—E-\ER=—ZS—t&+=-A=
the total revenue for the years ended 31 December 2018 and + AL EESEEBANE10%M
2017 are listed as below: FEEFLRAT :
2018 2017
—E-N\%F —ET—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBETT
Mobile advertising services: BEEER
Customer A EFA 162,527  N/A* REA*
Online-video distribution services: MEREER D BR = =
Game co-publishing services: TrRl BB AR - =
Others: Hih : - i
Notes: BfsE -
- represents no customer contributed more than 10% of the total = UMY ERS EMBBAINKZE
revenue for that period. 10% °

*

represents the amount of revenue from such customer was less
than 10% of the total revenue of the Group for that year.

The Group mainly operates in Mainland China and earns
substantially all of the revenue from external customers
located in Mainland China.

As at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017,
substantially all of the non-current assets of the Group were
located in Mainland China.

* E%FEREZEFPHRESEIRN

AEEBWZEAI10% ©

FEBEZEFBAELE - FIRER
EBAD W R B LR P B KRR 9 SMER R

F o

RZB-NF+ZA=+—-HKZ=Z—
tE+ZA=+—8  AEEBAHHD
FRBEEIURPEARE -
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BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. Wr#s - HibUg A\ Bl iz
An analysis of revenue is as follows: HINHNDWAOT -
2018 2017
—T-N\E —ZT—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTT

Revenue from contracts with customers X EZEF & AIHI

Mobile advertising services BEESRE 1,443,338 485,636
Online-video distribution services PERIEE D BRE 67,442 -
Game co-publishing services 7L B RS 10,459 -
Others Hith 25,077 -
1,546,316 485,636
() Disaggregated revenue information () FEniFzlimEs
The revenue from contracts with customers by type of RE BEREER - HETISER
goods or services, geographical markets and timing of ROMEZNFZNEEE S HNE
revenue recognition by segment is disclosed in note 4 to FE&#H =R B 15 Rk M 4 3
the financial statements. = o
The following table shows the amounts of revenue TRERARE HERNREH
recognised in the current reporting period that were THEHNEBARENKSELSEE :

included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period:

2018
—B-N\E
RMB’000
ARETT
Revenue recognised that was included in  #ER2RIRE HAZIHY
contract liabilities at the beginning EHEBEARME
of the reporting period:
Mobile advertising services BEEERE 12,302

—E2-\Fi BNSBARAT #\
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(continued)

(ii)

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations
is summarised below:

Mobile advertising services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due
within one to three months from delivery, except for
new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required.

Online-video distribution services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due
within three to twelve months from delivery, except for
new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required.

Game co-publishing services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due
within one to three months from delivery, except for
new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required.

5. Wrax  HUMA RUgEs ()

(ii)

BHEE
BEAEERBEANEETNERM R
M

BEEERES
BHEERREHREEERNEE
T IBEERNE-—Z=E
AREH  HEHEF-—REARL
IFRERID o

MARREE RS RIRES
BHEERREHRIE RN EE
T IRERERXRNR=E+=
BARIE - HEHEF —RAR
TEATTRERSD o

B EREE AR
BHEERRHEREEERNEE
T AREREXNR—Z2=M@
AR - EHEF —REARSE
FRERID o
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(continued)

(ii)

Performance obligations (continued)

Other

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of
the services and customers’ acceptance confirmation,
and payment is generally due within three to six months
from delivery.

The transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

5. Wrax  HUA RUgEs ()

(i) FBHEE(E)
Hit
BREERINRBERE FEH
BREET  ARBEEARME
=ZXERAREIE -

R=ZB-NE+ZA=+—8"
PTEERBENEME (RERR

unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2018 are as follows: MAFER TS BERUT
RMB’000
ARETRT
Within one year —FR 147,043
147,043

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows: H AR WZ AT -

2018 2017
—F-N\E —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETRT ARBTT

Other income and gains HA A R e

Conference service income, net 2ERIEWAFEE 3,953 849

Bank interest income IRITRIEUA 110 29

Investment income BREWA 161 82

Government grants* BT e B 5,652 -

Foreign exchange gain, net IME R & ER 1,641 -

Others Hith 144 1
11,661 961

* Certain government grants have been received for setting * TR AT RE I E R B ARE 8%

up development activities in the mobile Internet video
industry zone in Shanghai, Mainland China. There are no
unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these
grants.

SEMBGAERRERITEEMm
S - BiEA B S AL R ERK IR
TR RAEH -

—E2-\Fi BNSBARAT M\
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6. LOSS BEFORE TAX 6. BRBIRIESHE
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBHBRBATEBEHBR(FTA) L
(crediting): THIEESBL :
2018 2017
—T-N\F —Z=—tF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
MiaE ARETR ARET T
Cost of services, net of BRAERRA - 3NBREES =140
purchase rebate 1,308,705 425,350
Depreciation and amortisation HTEE R i 6H 13,15 12,616 2,682
Auditor’s remuneration ZEETEN & 1,750 =
Minimum lease payments KEHETHREEENR
under operating leases 3,721 1,624
Listing expenses* Bk 44,014 =
Employee benefit expenses EERAIFX
(excluding directors’ and chief (TEEESER
executive’s remuneration): FETHASNHEN)A: 8
Wages and salaries TERFSE 36,128 15,168
Pension scheme contributionsAA  R{REETEIHFRAA 5,575 1,939
Share-based payment expenses  UAfRD B ERE A FRBISX 27 8,119 1,866
49,822 18,973
Fair value losses on BERN AT EEE
preferred shares 24 217,123 134,443
Fair value losses on warrants RIREE AT EEE 25 261,791 16,239
Fair value losses on AERES AT EEE
convertible bonds 25 3,202 -
Loss on termination of # T ERE S EE
convertible bonds 25 14,270 -
Impairment of accounts receivable* FEURBR ZR{E* 17 134 1
Foreign exchange HNEEE HE5 () B5E”
losses/(gains), net* (1,641) 1,954

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018
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(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

LOSS BEFORE TAX (continued)

*

AN

Impairment of accounts receivable and foreign exchange losses
are included in “Other expenses and losses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, foreign exchange gains are included in
“Other income and gains” in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

Employee benefit expense excluding share-based payment
expenses are included in “Cost of sales”, “Selling and
distribution expenses”, “Research and development costs” and
“Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

At 31 December 2018, the Group had no forfeited contributions
available to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in
future years (2017: Nil).

It represents listing expenses that are charged to “Administrative
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

FINANCE COSTS

AN

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

6. I@ﬁ RikESHE (18)

&Y AR SRR (B B S MNEEE [EE 3 5 1R AT AR
SRERAN [ EMFA RERIT
SMNE W R ET A SR B B ER R A EY) [ E Al
WA RNz T o

EERAMNFAS (TRIEARN BER
BB S st AR R B R WA [ 35
ERAL [HHERD HFAS ] [H73%
AR TR T »

R—ZBE—NE+-_A=+—8 " &&
B 42 B R UL SR AT AR LA SH LR R
REFHRARTENER(ZE—+
G ) o

HigA4ReBaRPH TR 40
By EmRASE -

PR ] S

An analysis of finance costs is as follows: RS ATAT
2018 2017
—T-N\F —Z=—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®T T

Interest expenses FIEB®

—Bank borrowings —RITERK 4,346 151
-Loans from employees (note 21) —REEENER (FzE21) 242 74
—Convertible bonds (note 25) — AEEIAME 5 (MiEE25) 1,628 3,303
6,216 3,528

—E-N\ER BNESHERAS @/\
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8.
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”),
section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies

EERESTHASHFHN

RIEBHIAEFES LWAB (T TR
A1) ~ &8 2 aMEAFIZE383(1)(@@) ~ (b) °
CROBR(AR (WEESHRER)
RO E2BRBENEAFEEERES

Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of THAEBHFMNOT :
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as
follows:
2018 2017
—ET—)\F —E—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARET T
Fees: wWE
Directors = 87 =
Other emoluments: Hipj < -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Fe  RMREYRNZ 558 213
Share-based payment expenses DA BERENA X 22 -
Pension scheme contributions BIREFTEIHETR 107 29
687 242
(@) Independent non-executive directors (@) MBILIEMITESE
2018 2017
—F—)\&F —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREET T
Mr. Chen Baoguo® PR EE Bl e e 29 -
Mr. Liang Zhanping® RS 29 -
Ms. Zhao Xuemei® tHEMg L te 29 =
87 -

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2017: Nil).

FRLERNTFEUFNTES
HNEMME (ZF -5 8) -

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

8. EEREBITHBAESRFM

REMUNERATION (continued) (#8)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors (b) BITESE EHRITEERRS
and the chief executive TBAE
Year ended 31 December 2018 BE—E-)N\E+=-HA=+—H
IEEE
Salaries,
allowances Share-based Pension
and benefits payment scheme
in kind expenses contributions Total
e Bl DBRMAERE  BHAL5TE] remuneration
REYIE HAREX = E FOE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE ARETRT ARETR ARETR
Executive directors: H{TED :
Mr. Gao Dinan'? [SEEP el 183 - 47 230
Mr. Zheng Wei2 BRIE e 42 272 - 25 297
Ms. Zhou Yan® Bz +5 103 22 35 160
Mr. Ho Kyung Shik* ES#tE%k4* - - - -
Mr. Xu Li4 BB FE - - - -
Mr. Fang Yuan* JH 5153 - - - -
Non-executive
directors: EFITES -
Ms. Xie Guowang? B2 &z £2 = = = =
Mr. Song Chunyu?2  REM T2 - - - -
Mr. Zhu Jing? REFTE? - - - -
558 22 107 687

—Z2-)\FR BEmMSEHERAS @f\
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors
and the chief executive (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2017

8. ESEREBTHASRFM

(%)

(b)

PITES  FPTEERERE
TTBAE (&)
BE_F¥-—t&+=-A=+—H
IR

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits Pension
in kind scheme Total
< - 285 contributions  remuneration
REYRZ BKSTHEIERK FrifaazE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARET T
Executive directors: HITES
Mr. Gao Dinan'? SEE D el 156 21 177
Mr. Zheng Wei? BRIE e 42 57 8 65
Mr. Ho Kyung Shik* ESEEtE - - -
Mr. Xu Li¢ BB F A - - -
Mr. Fang Yuan* I M - - -
Non-executive directors: FEHITEDSE :
Ms. Xie Guowang?® L 2 10 — = —
Mr. Song Chunyu? REMELE? - - -
213 29 242

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b)

Executive directors, non-executive directors
and the chief executive (continued)

1

Mr. Gao Dinan is the chief executive of the Company.

Mr. Gao Dinan and Mr. Zheng Wei were designated as
executive directors of the Company, and Mr. Zhu Jing, Mr.
Song Chunyu and Ms. Xie Guowang were appointed as
non-executive directors of the Company effectively from 15
June 2018.

Ms. Xie Guowang was appointed as a director of the
Company with effect from 18 April 2017.

Mr. Ho Kyung Shik, Mr. Xu Li and Mr. Fang Yuan resigned
as directors of the Company with effect from 15 June
2018.

Ms. Zhou Yan was appointed as an executive director of
the Company on 15 June 2018. Prior to her appointment,
Ms. Zhou Yan was an employee of the Group. The
remuneration received by Ms. Zhou Yan from the Group
prior to her appointment as executive director was not
included as directors’ remuneration above since the
services provided by her to the Group was not in the
capacity of director of the Company.

Mr. Chen Baoguo, Mr. Liang Zhanping and Ms. Zhao
Xuemei were appointed as independent non-executive
directors of the Company with effect from 3 November
2018.

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

8. EEREBITHBAESRFM

(%)

(b) BITES  FPTEERERE
TTHAE (&)

1

BHRBRERARARNRDT
AR e

)

B-ZE-A\FEXRATHBR
BHRBRERBRELERESR
RABRITESE  MABE
£ REMEERGEE L L
EZERARRIFHITES -

HEEL+E T —+FMA
TNRREZEREARAE
=o

EREEE  RBREERTT
EEBZZ—N\FA+HH
EBHEARRES -

BELTR —E - \FRAT+
AHEZERARANTE
= REZRER  BBLLEAH
REERES - ABLINESR
ERMITESA B AEEIWRE
EVFT BN AT A L E =S
BT FEAAR R R ES
SRS BREIRT -

B-ZE-\E+—A=Hi "
RERELL  REFEERE
BRLTEZERARRBL
FEHITES -

—Z2-)\FR BEmMSEHERAS @f\
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b)

N Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

Executive directors, non-executive directors
and the chief executive (continued)

During the year and in prior years, share options/RSU
units were granted to directors and the chief executive
of the Group in respect of their services to the Group,
under the share incentive plan of the Company, further
details of which are set out in note 27 to the financial
statement. The fair value of these options, which has
been recognised in the statement of profit or loss
over the vesting periods, was determined as at the
date of grant and the amount included in the financial
statements for the current year is included in the above
directors’ and the chief executive’s remuneration
disclosures.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year (2017: Nil).

8.

(&

(b)

E%&%E’?ﬁkéﬂ"]ﬁﬁm

PITES  FPTEERERE
TTHAE (%)
REARBEFE  RE\EALQT
MR RS AREEER
RE{THRAEBRAEBASEEIREH
RIGERBRESZRHERDE
f - HE-SHBHRPBRRE
BiEE27 - HMERRENQFED
BEEBHNERRER  WHER
A S E ARAFERBHE
ARNEHECTANLESR &
BITHRABRFHMEES -

TR BEESIKRSTRAE
A ARBREREEMFHMD
ZH(ZE—LF 8 -
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
one director (2017: nil), details of whose remuneration are set
out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year
ended 31 December 2018 of the remaining four (2017: five)
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

hABREHNES

FRN - AEBRSHMNEEDBIEE—F
ES(Z2—tF:B) HFWEB
BN EXHEES - BEZE-N\F+Z
A=t—BLFE &THR(=ZF-
tH AR BREHFMES (LHFAR
AEERRSTRAR) WEFHMFRET
T :

2018 2017

—F-0\E —2—tF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETRT ARET T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMREYR= 1,042 808
Share-based payment expenses DR BERNAREX 256 780
Pension scheme contributions BIREEHEIHERR 385 113
1,683 1,701

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following
band is as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000

Z£7%1,000,0007% 7T

FESRFBESTHRAENRSHMNE
BRFMA AT SHENAZIT

Number of employees

EE®H
2018 2017
TN\ —E—+tF
4 5

During the year and in prior years, share options/RSU units
were granted to the non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees of the Group in respect of their
services to the Group, under the share incentive plan of the
Company, further details of which are set out in note 27 to the
financial statement. The fair value of these options, which has
been recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the
vesting periods, was determined as at the date of grant and
the amount included in the financial statements for the current
year is included in the above non-director and non-chief
executive highest paid employees’ remuneration disclosures.

REARBEFE » AEEFESKFE
RETHASNGESHFNESRRSA
AEERHENRBMREADQ TR
DEBT AR RERE 2 RHRO
B E-SHBHRMBRKRME
27 - ZEBERENXIFERRERH
BE  CERBHARBERER M
FPARFEMBRRNEFC N LI
EERFBETRAEBNRSHMES
FINREABT PSR

—E2-\Fi BNSBARAT {\
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10. INCOME TAX 10. FRig%t

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

The Company is incorporated under the law of the Cayman
Islands and is not subject to the Cayman Islands income tax.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.
The income tax expenses of the Group for the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017 represented current tax expenses
related to the Group’s operations in Mainland China and
deferred tax.

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of its
operations in Mainland China was calculated at the tax rate
of 25% on the estimated assessable profits for the periods, if
applicable, based on the existing legislation, interpretations
and practice in respect thereof, except for one PRC subsidiary
located in Shanghai, which is entitled to a preferential tax
treatment of tax free for two years and at 12.5% for three
years as it is qualified as a “new high technology enterprise”
located in Shanghai Pudong New Area.

AABRBEFREFEEETMHYL - B
BABMBASHEMEN

REBEZE-ZE—NER-_ZE—t&E+-HA
=t+—HIEE » REBREBIRE

BEE AEERBE-2—N\ER=
T—+E+=A=+—BILFEENFE
PR RAEEE PR ARENEE %
7 BB BOEARRI A EN A BUIERI X o

RIBTPEAZENRITAE  ZERE
B ZNEE [ i A B KB O AR e RS R IR
KPS R EIR & BB (ST FER BRI
25% MR RETE (WEA) - E—FEE
BREA SRR ENE Rt
MEEZEMFERREAR=F12.5%1
BEH RN LB BB QTR
Hho

2018 2017
—'—N\=F —E—+tF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARET T

Current — Mainland China BNHA — AR R R P 31,736 3,758
Deferred IEFE (10,921) =
Total tax charge for the year FRNTIER S B5E 20,815 3,758
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10. INCOME TAX (continued)

11.

12.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before
tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to
the tax expense at the effective tax rates, and a reconciliation
of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the
effective tax rates, are as follows:

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

10. FiE#H (&)

BARDNAREREOHE D REEME
AEREAEER R ENHAIEERN
EABIRMY - RREEBRAENR
TR MEAR - UREAR R (AT
BR)EBEEB R ZHIRNT -

2018 2017
—E—/)\fF —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT
Loss before tax FREBLATE 1 (400,726) (141,336)
Tax at the statutory tax rate (25%) WL ERR (25%) 5T B i E (100,181) (35,334)
Effect of different tax rates in different TREBEEEETRFH RN E
jurisdictions (6,072) (267)
Expense not deductible for tax FHEHAYIZNER 133,614 38,239
Tax losses utilised SEARIEERE (10,697) (493)
Tax losses not recognised REERHFIEEE 4,151 1,613
Tax charge at the Group’s effective tax rate  IRANEB B Rt E
B IER X 20,815 3,758
DIVIDENDS 11. &2

No dividends have been paid or declared by the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based
on the loss for the year attributable to owners of the parent,
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
777,848,095 (2017: 586,899,862 (restated)) in issue excluding
the treasury shares during the year, considering the share split
occurred on 15 November 2017 and 3 November 2018, the
share split was treated as having been in issue for the whole
period and also included in the loss per share calculation of
all earlier periods presented so as to give comparable results.

12.

RARRBE-Z-N\F+ZA=1+—
ALEFERBERYREREMRE (=
T—LFHE)

BASEAEn A AR
BAxE5E

SREXNEBEESEDENRAEEFZ AT
B ANEGFABENRT77,848,095
R (=ZZ—+t 4 : 586,899,862 % (K&
HNEBRTZER (FTEEEERH)
WIEFIIE  WEZE-T—+F+
—Bt+HEAR=E—N\E+—A=HFF
ETHROSIFMEE o RO IFHER
AEREHERS LT BEFTER
25IMEE A BRBNEREBERRE
FTATER » MR EEE -

“TNFH ENERARLS @/.\
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BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12. BASEEBERISEAEN

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT (continued)

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. As the
Group incurred losses for the years ended 31 December 2018
and 2017, the potential ordinary shares were not included
in the calculation of diluted loss per share, as their inclusion
would be anti-dilutive. Accordingly, diluted loss per share
amounts for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2018 are
the same as basic loss per share amounts of the respective
years.

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share are based

FixEsE (&)

SRS EEE N BRARBTENE
B INET SRR B EEEEE
EYENTSERECERMAESE -
HRAEERBZE-ZE—\FR-ZE—
+tE&E+ZA=1+—HIFEHEES
WETESREEE TR ABES
AR AAFABBEERBETE -
Hlt - —tFR-ZE—N\F+=
B=t—HILFENSREEEESEE
HEFENSREREESFEMER -

BREARBEHERNAEDERUT

on: KIF :
2018 2017
—T-N\F —E—tF
Loss for the year attributable to owners STHEHERERR #EEER
of the parent used in the basic and ZiEE L ORSTNEIE T N
diluted loss per share calculation PR F g
(RMB’000) (AREEFT) (421,541) (145,090)
Weighted average number of ordinary FRADBITZBERL
shares in issue during the year TR 9 & 777,848,095 586,899,862
Basic/diluted loss per share BRER HEEE
(expressed in RMB per share) (AR ARBTIIR) RMB(0.54) RMB(0.25)
AR%((0.549T AR¥((0.25)7T
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BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y% « BERRE
Electronic Transportation Leasehold
devices equipment improvements Total
E¥EE EnRE HEmERE act

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBFRE ARBTR AR®TRE ARETR

31 December 2018 —E-0\Ef
+-A=+—H
At 31 December 2017 and REB—tHF
at 1 January 2018 T=HETF=FER
—E-N\F—-A—H
Cost BRA 1,599 - - 1,599
Accumulated depreciation L f (932) - - (932)
Net carrying amount IREFE 667 - - 667
At 1 January 2018, net of RZE-—NEF
accumulated depreciation —A—B:
MERBFHTE 667 - - 667
Additions A= 151 - - 151
Acquisition of subsidiaries BB AR
(note 29) (BfzF29) 111 943 193 1,247
Depreciation provided during ~ FREHENITE
the year (471) (252) (136) (859)
At 31 December 2018, netof ~ RZZE—\F
accumulated depreciation +ZA=+—-8"
MERBFHTE 458 691 57 1,206
At 31 December 2018 R=ZB-N\F
+tZA=t—-H
Cost B 1,861 943 193 2,997
Accumulated depreciation 2EtinE (1,403) (252) (136) (1,791)
Net carrying amount BREFME 458 691 57 1,206

—E-\FH BMEHERAS {\
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(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥i% « BERRE (&)
(continued)
Electronic
devices
E1RME
RMB’000
ARET T
31 December 2017 —F—tE+=A=+—H
At 1 January 2017: R-ZE—+tH&—HF—1:
Cost FRAR 1,401
Accumulated depreciation Z5HirE (489)
Net carrying amount BREFEE 912
At 1 January 2017, net of accumulated RZZE—+tF—F—1 » {IREBFITE
depreciation 912
Additions =t 198
Depreciation provided during the year FAFHRENTE (443)
At 31 December 2017, net of accumulated R-E—+tHE+=-A=+—H "
depreciation HBRZSHTE 667
At 31 December 2017: R=ZF—tHF+=RA=+—H:
Cost PR 1,599
Accumulated depreciation Z5HrE (932)
Net carrying amount BREFE 667
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CPEE e U

(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

14. GOODWILL 14. BHE
2018 2017
—E-N\%F —Z=—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREET T
At 1 January: R—B—R:

Cost and net carrying amount AN BREFE 448 448
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 29) WEEHIB A R (FiEE29) 183,164 =
Cost and net carrying amount at

end of the year FREARREFE 183,612 448

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated
to the following cash-generating units (the “CGU”), which are
reportable operating segments, for impairment testing:

° Online-video distribution CGU; and

° Game co-publishing CGU.

Online-video distribution CGU

The recoverable amount of the online-video distribution CGU
has been determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management.
The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections
is 25.6%. The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows
of the online-video distribution CGU beyond the five-year
period is 3%. The directors of the Company believes that
this growth rate is discreet given the future uncertainty of the
global macro economy and market.

Game co-publishing CGU

The recoverable amount of the game co-publishing CGU has
been determined based on a value in use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a
five-year period approved by senior management. The pre-
tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections as at 31
December 2018 is 38.5%. The growth rate used to extrapolate
the cash flows of the game co-publishing CGU beyond the
five-year period is 3%. The directors of the Company believes
that this growth rate is discreet given the future uncertainty of
the global macro economy and market.

BREBRSHIDSENEEDIEREL
TEARSEEIMNREELEN
(TREEEEN DETRER

o WEREERIBRBESELESE
i, &

o BEMERTELBWN -

PERRERNBEREELEN
MRAEERDBRSELEEMNTR
mEEDRBRALSREREERERN
ERNRELF BN ERENRERE
BRFENEREEEE - BANEE
METRRNBATRERRH25.6% - AR
EEREREERI BRRSELENR
FHEARERENERERZ% o &
DRESAR  ZRIZHREEEER
TSN ARRTEEN - ZERZRLE
:IE °

BEEEREEEEN

BEEEREELBEVNATREEET
RERBEEREEBHENENES
BN BEENRERERRTE
MEREEEE - R=Z-N\F+=A
=t+—RB - BARRSREFRRABAT
BAIRR38.5% - NS EEBHER
SELBEVIFHBERSRENER
RB3% - ARBAEZRR - ERIE
REBAEBRRMSNRRTEEL &

—E2-\Fi BNSBARAT M\
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(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

14. GOODWILL (continued) 14. BHE (&)

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each of the
CGUs are as follows:

PTEEEREELEMNEHEREEN
T

2018 2017
—F'—N\=F —ZE—t5F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETTT AREET T

Online-video distribution HEBRIBE M B 183,164 =
Game co-publishing i dipd 448 448
183,612 448

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
CGU. The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the budgeted gross margins is the average gross margins
achieved in the year immediately before the budget year,
increased for expected efficiency improvements, and
expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant unit.

Revenue growth rates — The basis used to determine the
revenue growth rate is the historical data of the CGU,
management’s expectation of the future market and the
average growth rate achieved by comparable companies.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development of the above CGU and discount rate are
consistent with external information sources.

The directors of the Company assessed that, the recoverable
amount of the CGUs would still exceed the carrying amounts
of the CGUs if there is a reasonably possible change in
a key assumption on which management has based its
determination of the CGU'’s recoverable amounts. Therefore,
no impairment was considered necessary.

SAEREELENVNERAEERERT
ETRER o« TXHIL T EEEEMEL
BRenBRANETHERENHRNE
HEERR

BEEFNER -BEREENREHERN
BEEDBEEEFEN —FREERNT
ENR - MEEFNRZFAPRRET
REMMSEREM LA -

BRI R — PR A BA IR R B BREL AT AV EL
B R EV RN ERMR

o 0 2 — TR R RS A
EEARSELBHNELME - B2
BUARRDSNEER THRATER
TR -

FRLAREELBEVHSRENTE
ERER LA BA TR R B{E B SMAR & B SRR —
B o

RANFESTE  HEEEEERS
EEBEM AW E SRR FTRENEER
REECEBEURBENED  AIREE
AEVHNAREDSRNEBHREESE
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CPEE e U

(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

15. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. Hih\BREE
Commercial Customer
resources Software relationship Total
BEER B EFRME “ast

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
AREFRE AR®TRT AR®TRE ARETR

31 December 2018 —F-)\F
+=RA=+—H
At 1 January 2018 R=-ZE—-N\&
—B—H
Cost %N 20,152 - - 20,152
Accumulated amortisation ZETE (2,239) - - (2,239)
Net carrying amount IREVFE 17,913 - - 17,913
Cost at 1 January 2018, net of RZE-NEF
accumulated amortisation —BA— BRI
CIEGE: & 17,913 - - 17,913
Additions NE - 165 - 165
Acquisition of subsidiaries W BRI A E]
(note 29) (BffzE29) - 6,000 25,000 31,000
Amortisation provided FRFTIRHEH
during the year (6,718) (998) (4,041) (11,757)
At 31 December 2018, net of RZE-N\&E
accumulated amortisation F=H=+—H"
MR Z 5T 11,195 5,167 20,959 37,321
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\&E
+=A=t-AH
Cost D% 20,152 6,165 25,000 51,317
Accumulated depreciation ZETE (8,957) (998) (4,041) (13,996)
Net carrying amount BREFE 11,195 5,167 20,959 37,321

—E-\FH BMEHERAS g\
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[
(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
FREBEETIN UARETTIIR)
15. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 15. HWEREE (&)
Commercial
resources
BEER
RMB’000
ARET T
31 December 2017 —F—t#+=-A=+—H
At 1 January 2017: R=Z2—+t&—A—1:
Cost 2N -
Accumulated amortisation S -
Net carrying amount BREFEE -
Cost at 1 January 2017, net R-Z—tF&—HA—AK
of accumulated amortisation R - R 2T -
Additions NE 20,152
Amortisation provided during the year FRFHR AV (2,239)
At 31 December 2017, net R-ZZE—tF+=A
of accumulated amortisation =+—H & HIREF#H 17,913
R-ZE—tF+=A=+—H
At 31 December 2017 and at 1 January 2018: E=E-NF—HF—A8:
Cost 2% 20,152
Accumulated amortisation E5TEe (2,239)
Net carrying amount BREFE 17,913
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(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

15. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes:

(@)

The intangible asset recognised in 2017 was related to certain
commercial resources associated with a cooperation agreement
with a mobile phone manufacturer. On 15 November 2017, the
Group issued 3,806,206 Class B ordinary shares to a mobile
phone manufacturer at a total consideration of US$1,142 in cash
together with a cooperation agreement with the mobile phone
manufacturer, aiming to monetise certain commercial resources
of the mobile phone manufacturer. The transaction was an equity-
settled transaction. An intangible asset of RMB20,152,000 was
recognised, which was valued by an independent valuer using
the “with or without” method of discounting the future expected
net profits of the Group generated from the intangible asset. Key
inputs used in valuing the fair value of the intangible asset are set
forth below:

Discount rate
Budgeted revenue growth rate

BRIR R
FAEREIERE

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

15. HtbEREE (&)

Fif 3

@ RIZ—tFERANEREEN NE
FRELEEBEEREEBNET
BELER - R-ZE—+F+—A+H
A AEBENURSERE, 142
#£173,806,206 % BA% T 3@ A T F #
BUER - BERAFREUEREEI LA 1E
e - BTER TSR E TR
BREBE - ZR5BURNEERN
5 o B EEARE20,152,0007T2
FHER - TR BMHERER B E]
AR E BB A ERTE A AR RTE
HAGFB R MEE - HEFEEAT
BEETHERTANEZHAZIES
HEATR -

At the
transaction date
R BH
2017
—®—tF

19%
200%

The discount rate was estimated by the weighted average cost
of capital at the date of acquisition of the commercial resources,
which reflects specific risks relating to the resources.

The basis used to determine the budgeted revenue growth rate is
the average growth rate achieved in the year immediately before
the budget year, increased for expected efficiency improvements,
and expected market development.

BRI RTINS B RS B B hn#E 1
BEARKAMG  RIREZEZERB RN
FERL

EEM TRERGERERERNEER
ERREFEAMFAERNFHERE
Wt HE R R E AT ISR MG
Ko
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(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

15. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

()

Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

Intangible assets recognised in 2018 were related to the
software and customer relationship associated with the business
combination of Shanghai ChiLe. On 12 March 2018, the Company
issued 12,024,632 Class B ordinary shares to acquire a 100%
equity interest in Shanghai ChiLe. The software of RMB6,000,000
was recognised, which is valued by an independent valuer using
“excess profit” method of discounting the future expected net
profits of Shanghai ChiLe generated from the software. The
customer relationship of RMB25,000,000 was recognised, which
is valued by an independent valuer using the “relief from royalty”
method of discounting the future expected net profits of Shanghai
ChiLe generated from the customer relationship. Key inputs used
in valuing the fair value of the intangible assets are set forth below:

Discount rate BEIE =

Budgeted revenue growth rate

15. HihEREE (&)

MRt : (8

)

AEWSERE

R — \FRERNEREEL K HE
EEHREBE ARG RES
BE RN N\F=A+=H &
A B)EE1T12,024,632 I BE T3 AL A
WiE B/ EER 2 B - FEAR
6,000,000 CE FHER  JyRBIL
i 1ERD{E A [ B EE R LAiS L m s
B B FTEE AE AR SR B HA AT T L 2R M 1
B - BRFBEARE25,000,0007CE
FHER - Ty B AR [ 4R
SHE AR L R BIE
EEARRTBEAMEFIBLIR MG E o HE
MEEATEETHERMBNEES
EABIREFNT

At the
transaction date
®RxX5H

2018

—B-N\E

18%
50%

The discount rate was estimated by the weighted average cost
of capital at the date of acquisition of the software and customer
relationship, which reflects specific risks relating to the assets.

The basis used to determine the budgeted revenue growth
rate is the historical data, management’s expectation of the
future market and average growth rate achieved by comparable
companies.

BIRE TR EE R EPAARLER
Hy A E AR fhET - RAREE
HZEEERBNEERR -

EEBEKSEREREANELS
BIERIE - EREHARRTIBOES
NURAILRARERN T RS -
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(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

16. DEFERRED TAX 16. IBXEHIE
The movements of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as BELERIBEEREENESHNT :
follows:
Deferred tax assets B IEEE
Losses available
for offsetting Provision on
against future accounts
taxable profits receivable Total
T EH AR TR FERR B FEITARTR
il 0] GEi-| B st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT AREBTT AREBTT
At 1 January 2018 R-ZE—NF
—A—H - . -
Deferred tax credited to &R ABZHH
profit or loss during IEERIE
the year 9,762 8 9,770

Gross deferred tax assets R=ZF—/\fF
at 31 December 2018 F=E=EF=E

HYIEFER I8
EEHRE 9,762 8 9,770
Deferred tax liabilities IREBIEEE
Fair value
adjustment on
acquisition of
subsidiaries Total
RSB AT
B AE{EFRE st
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREBTT
At 1 January 2018 R-ZEBE—-—NE—-F—H - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 29) WEEHI B A R (FiEE29) 7,124 7,124
Deferred tax credited to profit or FRFTABZH
loss during the year IR IR (1,151) (1,151)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at R-ZE—NEF
31 December 2018 TZA=+—HK
R IE S EREE 5,973 5,973

—E-\FH BMEHERAS M\
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BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

16. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 16. BIEHIIE (5)

Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

The Group has tax losses of RMB55,981,000 (2017:
RMB44,183,000) that are available for offsetting against its
future taxable profits as at 31 December 2018. All of these
losses have arisen in Mainland China, and are available for
offsetting against future taxable profits to a maximum period
of five years of the companies in which the losses arose.

Among which, tax losses of RMB16,932,000 (2017:
RMB44,183,000) have not been recognised as at 31
December 2018 as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have
been loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement has become effective from
1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there
is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction
of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate
is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established
in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008 if any.

At 31 December 2018, no deferred tax liabilities have been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
totalled approximately RMB15,351,000 at 31 December 2018
(2017: Nil).

R=ZB—N\F+=-A=+—H ' &5H
A AR S R R FERR B R R B IE B 18
AR#55,981,000t (ZE—+tF : A
[K#44,183,0007t) ° FiEZEEET
REHEAKFE - AIKHERESEENA T
&% FHE MR RERTREF]

Hh R=E2—-NE+=A=+—8H
WA IEEE A K% 16,932,000
T(ZE—tF : AK%44,183,000
7T) 0 BAZSEBENDBECREESS
EE—EREENMBARIES  BF
R A]BEE FER BRI ] A LUK S5 18 &

Be

REPEIEEMERE  RPBRAER
N HHNEIREE[MRIIREE SRR
EABB10%ENN - BEARAEB =
ZZEN\F-A-ARERABBAR=-Z
ZEtF+Z A=t -BEMELNNK
i o BB AEEMNRIREE FRERNE
RE 2B ARBRS - ATREEAR
ERNFRNHRE - RAKENS - BAB
RHB10% - Bt XREBARZER
HEIAERINMEARE —ETN\F
—A—BERELENEBF (WE)DIKK
REBAATAB o

RZE-—N\E+ZA=1+—8  #E
JE B8 AN TE 3N (9 7S 52 B A P B P9 3 R A
HIF B A B B BE BRI FE A RO FE IR
MERELERIBEE - EER5 - (B
DAREABERRATARAEREDIRZS
B - RZEBE-—N\F+ZA=+—8 >
e SR R R IR AE B T8 B 8 1Y A P B P
BRARRENTREZHEEENBARE
15,351,0007C (= ZF— L 4F : )




Notes to the Financial Statements

CPEE e U

(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

17. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

17. FEUERTR

2018 2017
—E—N\F =2+

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBT T

Accounts receivable FEUR BR X 444,023 182,608
Impairment RE (134) -
Total et 443,889 182,608

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are partially
on credit. For some customers, payments in advance are
normally required. For mobile advertising and game co-
publishing business, the credit period generally ranges
from one to three months for major customers. For online-
video distribution, the credit period generally ranges from
three to twelve months. The Group seeks to maintain strict
control over its outstanding receivables and has a credit
control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. As at 31
December 2018, the Group had certain concentrations of
credit risk as 27% (2017: 27%) of the Group’s accounts
receivable were due from the Group’s five largest customers,
respectively. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that
these customers have a good track record with the Group
based on past experience and no significant changes in
credit quality are noted, the directors of the Company are of
the opinion that there are no significant credit risks on the
balances. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over its accounts receivable balances.
Accounts receivable are non-interest-bearing.

REBUGEEFRRERS ZFEITR
S HREAEFMS » AAFA—RE
REFEESZNRIE - ERBBESRIE
BHEXY  FEXFNEEHR KN
F—Z=EATE - HRRBRIEER
2 GEH-—-BNF=FZ+=@AT
£ o REBE N REEAREBEWIES
BEBEES > WiREEEEEEPE
ERKEERR - EEESYHRIL
ETERESE - N2 \F+=ZH=
+—HB  AEEWERERAEZEFET
SEHEERKE D B{h A KB Y FEURER R
27% (= —tF 127%) o R Ll
EURBEBIRLEZES FEREE
RIERFFERTS - BEEHREER
REABE  MAQRAESERE  £&
WRBAEERE - NEEWEFEE
KRR ESBFERAEARREMEE
s@{biEtE o EUERFRIERETR ©
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BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

17. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued) 17.

An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of
loss allowance, is as follows:

FEW AR (48)

FBWERR (MIBREEEE) RREHE
ARGENBZAMORESTOT ¢

2018 2017

—E-N\%F —Z=—tF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARMT T

Within 3 months 3MEAR 420,469 179,604
3 to 12 months 3Z12{8H 15,739 2,983
1 to 2 years 1824 7,649 -
2 to 3 years 2E3F 32 21
443,889 182,608

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
accounts receivable are as follows:

FEYERFURENERRENEBNT

2018 2017

—T-N\F —E=—+F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AR¥T T

At beginning of year F4) = =
Impairment losses, net (note 6) REE R FEE (i5E6) 134 1
Amount written off as uncollectible i8R A A U B (Y FRIE - (1)
At end of year FR 134 =
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(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

17. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued)

Impairment under HKFRS 9 for the year ended 31
December 2018

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e.,
by service type and customer type). The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money
and reasonable and supportable information that is available
at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.

For mobile advertising services and game co-publishing
businesses, the expected credit loss rate for accounts
receivable is minimal. For online-video distribution business,
the impairment loss as at 31 December 2018 is determined as
expected credit losses incorporating forward looking information.

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

17. FEMIARSR (&)

8EZ—T—-)\F+=-A=+—H1L
FEEEEVBREENSERT
BYiR{E

RERE B AR ARMEEEEITRESD
o LEtEEHEEEE - BERDE
REEEUEBEXNZERF 25048
Bl (BNRRFEHERI KR E FER) Ma s B
HEE - ZETERREMELER &
MEFERRRE BTSN ERBES
18 ~ BAR R R AR R EAR TR &
ERASEER o

HEBERERERERBEREMNS -
FEWERR AR EEBRRERI -
BAGREERDBERMS N2
—\F+ZA=t—-HHRERBETE
ERBEREERE  ETE3AEME
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BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

17. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s accounts receivable from online-video

distribution business using a provision matrix:

At 31 December 2018

Expected loss rate

Gross carrying
amount (RMB’000)

Expected credit
losses (RMB’000)

AEMEEXR

AREAE
(AR%TT)

BEMEERE
(AR®TT)

17. FEWARSX (%)

RO AYER

RZE—NE+ZZA=+—H

UT SR EBA S E i AR EERE A
REEERD

REBRURAIEERR

Past due
B

Within 3 3to 12 1to 2 Over 2
Current months months years years
BIfd 3fEAM 3F12{EA 1E2F Bil2F
0.055% 0.12% 0.71% 7.50% 50.76%
54,542 3,864 9,289 1 65
30 5 66 - 33

Total
st

67,761

134

Impairment under HKAS 39 for the year ended 31

December 2017

Included in the above provision for impairment of accounts
receivable, which was measured based on incurred credit
losses under HKAS 39, as at 31 December 2017 was a
provision for individually impaired accounts receivable
of RMB1,000 with a carrying amount before provision of

RMB182,608,000.

The individually impaired accounts receivable as at 31
December 2017 related to customers that were in financial
difficulties or were in default in interest and/or principal
payments and full amount of the receivables is not

recoverable.

The ageing analysis of the accounts receivables as at 31
December 2017 that were not individually nor collectively
considered to be impaired under HKAS 39 is as followed:

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

8EZE—FT—tF+-A=+—HIL

FEFEGERE395 THIRIE

182,608,0007T °

R-Z2E—tE&E+=-A=+—H  Lit
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FE 18 Bl R B FE W BR XA R 51,000 7T #Y
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REZ2—tH+ZA=+—H @5
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17. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued)

Neither past due nor impaired
Past due but not impaired

BE RIBHA IR AORE
ERH{ERRBE 3,004

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

17. FEMIARSR (&)

2017
—E—t5F
RMB’000
AREET T

179,604

182,608

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related
to a large number of diversified customers including some
large customers with a good track record with the Group for
whom there was no recent history of default and no significant
changes in the credit risks.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related
to a number of independent customers that had a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
the directors of the Company were of the opinion that no
provision for impairment under HKAS 39 was necessary in
respect of these balances as there had not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances were still considered
fully recoverable.

No accounts receivable were pledged to secure bank loans
and other loans as at 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

BRI X R RE R UG TREE A B I
HEIRENCZASEEXNEERRE
BNTREFERE (BRHEHEAKE
REFRFFERENABEES) -

EEHERBENERRIEEXEEL
EEREERFEACHENBLIEFSE
B - RBBELER  AAAESEARE
ARBEBETTEMEIORUZERS
gRETRRERE  EREEEFNEE

RAEEWE o
R=ZZB-N\F+ZA=1+—8H  HESH

WSRITERREME R M E R E
WERR (ZB—L5F ) -
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18. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES 18. TE{IRIE « HibFEUGEIE R

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

AND OTHER ASSETS

Hib&EE

2018 2017
—EB—)\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREET T
Non-current portion: FEBNERER 2
Prepayments FERIE 23,585 18,868
Current portion: BIHAER o -
Prepayments TR IR 228,265 56,799
Due from a director W —REEFIE
(note 35(b)) (Ff5E35(b)) - 32,671
Deposits and other receivables e Kk EAEWFUE 47,533 4,247
Total st 275,798 93,717

None of the above financial assets is either past due or
impaired. The financial assets included in the above balances
related to receivables for which there was no recent history of
default.

Since 1 January 2018, the Group has applied the general
approach to provide for expected credit losses of deposits
and other receivables and the amount due from a related
company prescribed by HKFRS 9. Impairment of deposits
and other receivables and the amount due from a related
company is assessed based on 12-month expected credit
losses, which are the portion of lifetime expected credit
losses that result from the default events that are possible
within the twelve months after the reporting date. When there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination,
the allowance will be based on the lifetime expected credit
losses. To measure the expected credit losses, deposits
and other receivable and the amount due from a related
company have been classified based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The expected credit
losses are estimated by applying a loss rate approach with
reference to the historical loss record of the Group. The loss
rate is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions, as appropriate. The expected
credit loss rate for deposits and other receivables and the
amount due from a related company is minimal.

RS REE R M SRR o 3 A
SIS RS E Y R M
IR R o

B-Z-N\§-A—-B#¥ XEHECE
REBMBHRELNFIRREN—R
FERIR S R H b UK IR AR el —
Bk A R FEN AR EEB R R
& - BERHEMBYRIENAR B —/H
BAE A RIRAREETIREBER RS B
BT-EARARREMNENEHME
BW12fE A EREEER (ZHEMHE
EERN—82)ETHE - MiEER
bz B IR B RE LM - A REZH
HHEEBEIRRE - RAERHE
BEE e RAMREFIRNLREK
—EEEARRECREAZFERR
BURERRBETIE - AHNEES
B2EXASENBERBECERA
BARFRERME - ARBRRURRE
BRI B 9 R SRAS R AR L B TRORI (2038
) e BEREMBUKIEURER—
BE L R AN RHEEEREREBS
B
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19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 19. I RS EEYLEEHE
PLEDGED DEPOSITS RER

2018 2017

—T-N\F —E—tF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETRT ARBTT

Cash and bank balances BERIBITHEER 197,508 11,490
Short term time deposits ZHATF K 140,245 -
337,753 11,490
Less: Pledged time deposits: w BIRMERSER
Pledged for bank loans (note 23) FIRITE IR (FFFE23) (34,317) =
Cash and cash equivalents HEeRBESEEY 303,436 11,490
Denominated in: LTSI E#EHE ¢
- RMB - AR 79,908 7,012
-UsD —-X% 1,309 4,478
- HKD —B 222,219 -
303,436 11,490
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However, ARBELIAREREHEMER o K
under Mainland China’s prevailing rules and regulations over M BIE PR KREESH S NE IR TR A
foreign exchange, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB BER  AEBE T EBEERERREINE
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct BB ITEARBHBAEHMEN o

foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily RITEFIRENE BIRITERFIZRZ
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made BFRITE o S ERERETAER
for varying periods of between seven days and one year ZERESEE  HERNFEtXE—
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, FHEAE  mEMEEZEERER
and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit FIETE o SRITAEBRINITFEHRRERSE
rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy BIREAS IR A0 82 ERITIA o

banks with no recent history of default.

“TNFH ENERARLS @)\
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20. FEFTERTR

AEENEAIRRNIRE R A REFE
REZAHELNRESTOT ¢

20. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

An aged analysis of the Group’s accounts payable at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as

follows:
2018 2017
—F-N\E —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARET T
Within 1 year 1FER 48,318 52,428
1 to 2 years 1824 224 45
More than 2 years 2F N E - 103
48,542 52,576

The accounts payable are non-interest-bearing and are

normally settled on terms of 60 to 90 days.

21. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

A ERARTEE » X—RRAH60E

VHRALEE -

21. H{bREfRIAR BRI

2018 2017
—E—)\F —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Non-current portion: IERENE D :
Advance payment received from BRBELER
subscription of preferred shares 2K FER - 60,523
Other payables HAhfEFRIE 500 500
500 61,023
Current portion: REEHD
Payroll payable E#HE 5,295 1,938
Loans from employees* REEENER! - 3,554
Due to a director (note 35(b)) E—REERIE
(Bt=E35(b)) - 23,890
Listing expenses payables B EmRx 35,345 -
Other payables and accruals H{th T FRIE & FERH FIE 12,908 2,549
53,548 31,931

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018
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21. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 21. HAthFEFTFRIE R FERHRIE

(continued) (&)

# The carrying value as at 31 December 2017 includes principal i RZT—tF+-A=+—HMEKHA
of RMB3,480,000 and interest of RMB74,000. The loans from BERELNE T ARS,480,0007T &
employees as at 31 December 2017 had an annual interest rate FEARET74,000C c R=F—+t
of 6.3% and were repaid in 2018. F+_A=Z+—HHNETIERFEA

63%EER T N\FEE -

Current portion of other payables and accruals are non- H At B TRIB R FEET R IR R EN &R 9
interest-bearing and have an average term of three months. 2 BE=EARFHER -
22, CONTRACT LIABILITIES 22. BHIETR
Details of contract liabilities as at 31 December 2018 and 1 R-ZB—NF+-A=+—HBER=-Z—
January 2018 are as follows: NE—A—BHENEEFBUT :
2018 2017
—E—)N\FE —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FR ARBTT

Short-term advances received from customers & UE F RS HAETR

Mobile advertising services FHES IR 138,505 12,302
Online-video distribution services RBFIEE M BRI 2,841 -
Game co-publishing services 7R B AR S 5,697 =
Total contract liabilities EHEBEEE 147,043 12,302
Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to EHNEEBERABRERFEHESRE - #
render mobile advertising services, online-video distribution RARSEE A D 2 RS I i B = AR A Uk
services and game co-publishing services. The increase in BWEHRES - — 22— \EPNENEE
contract liabilities in 2018 was mainly due to the increase in BAEM  TELHRRERRIZEHF
short-term advances received from customers in relation to the HE S RIS E B % 5 UEHY B 2R B
provision of mobile advertising services at the end of the year. i e

“TNFH ENERARLS @)\
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23. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 23. FHRERITIER

Details of the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings as at AEER=_Z—N\F+=-A=+—HH
31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 are as follows: ZE—tF+Z A=+ —BWETRRT
ERIFBENT

As at 31 December 2018
N=E—-N\F+=-A=+—H

Effective
contractual
interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
ERRRTHFI=
(%) E= b= ARETT
Current BN ER
Bank loans - secured RITEF —FIKHT 5.220 2019 30,000
= i
- unsecured — fEIK 5.220-8.000 2019 116,000
—E-NE
146,000
As at 31 December 2017
RZF—tF+-A=1t—H
Effective
contractual
interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
BIRETAFZ
(%) ZIE R ARET T
Current BNER
Bank loans - secured IRITER — B 6.786 2018 10,000

—B-N\F

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018
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23. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 23. st 2ERITHEIR (&)
(continued)

2018 2017
—F-N\F —
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETRT AR®TT

Analysed into: BA
Bank loans repayable: EEERITERR :
Within one year or on demand —FRHIRER 146,000 10,000
146,000 10,000

Notes: MIsE -

(@) The Group’s bank loans of RMB10,000,000 as at 31 December (@) KEBR=-Z=E—+E+=A8
2017 were secured by a property held by a director and SH-—AHBETESZARK
guaranteed by two directors and their spouses (note 35(b)). 10,000,000 5% J3 1A _‘% BEFE

YIZEAEIER > YHPMEESREK
ERBER (MEE35(0)) °

(b) As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s bank loans of (i) b R=F-N#F +_: h =
RMB30,000,000 were secured by pledged deposits of B AEENRITERNHAR
US$5,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB34,317,000) #£30,000,000 5t LA 2 B [ B
provided by a subsidiary of the Company, Wanka Holdings AEIMZERER QA ARMEHN
Limited; (i) RMB20,000,000 were guaranteed by a third party, 5,000,000E Tt (HERLIAER
Beijing Zhongguancun Sci-tech financing Guaranty Co., Ltd.; and #34.317,0007T) W2 K EZK
(i) RMB20,000,000 were guaranteed by a third party, Beijing Ve3R8 ; (ii)}\Eﬁ%ZO 000.0007T
Culture & Technology Financing Guaranty Co. Ltd.. HE=H it EhENR RS E

RERABER  R(i)ARBH¥
20,000,000 tHE=HEmX
{ERIEMERRERATER °
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24. PREFERRED SHARES 24, B%kh

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

The movements of preferred shares during the years ended
31 December 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

BEZ-—\ER-ZE—tF+H=
+—HIEFENELREEHMT :

RMB’000

AREBTT

At 1 January 2017 A—E—tH—H—H 64,667
Issuance of Series B preferred shares B/TBEE LR 71,705
Fair value loss on preferred shares BEBRNATEEE 134,443
Exchange realignment [ 5, AR (10,871)

R=ZF—tF+=-A=+—H

At 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018 kK=Z—N\F—H—H 259,944
Issuance of Series B+ and C preferred shares E{TB+Em N CER{E LR 92,431
New issue upon exercise of warrants TR R RE TR B 3T 22 1T 359,327
Fair value loss on preferred shares BERNATEEE 217,123
Converted to ordinary shares EATBHAR (982,253)
Exchange realignment [ 5 AR 53,428

At 31 December 2018

RZE—NFE+=ZA=+—H -

After the completion of the global offering of the share of
the Company on 21 December 2018, all the convertible
redeemable preferred shares were converted to ordinary
shares of the Company. The fair value of each of the
convertible redeemable preferred shares is equivalent to the
fair value of each of the ordinary shares of the Company on
the conversion date, which is the offer price set at HK$3.56 in
the global offering.

The fair values of preferred shares as at 31 December 2017
were valued by an independent third party valuer (the “Valuer”).
The equity value allocation model is used to determine the fair
values of the preferred shares as of the dates of issuance and
at 31 December 2017.

Total equity value of the Company at 31 December 2017 is
estimated by the Valuer using the DCF Method. Key inputs
used in valuing total equity value by the DCF Method mainly
include the weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) and
terminal growth rate, etc. In addition, a discount due to lack
of marketability (‘DLOM?”) is used in arriving at the total equity
value.

RZB-NFE+ZAZ+—-HALRFAR
MERBETHE - TEBRABEEES
RIIZAEBRBANBAEER - H0E
BUEOELRNAFESRARAE
EERNEREHNOFE  LARR
BENRENREMBEIL68BT

BERR=-ZB—tE&+=-A=+—8
NAFERBYE=HHER ([HE
B (LS - BEELERBERITAHR
R-B—tHE+-A=1+—HAHNAFE
BFefAREEES BER -

AARR-ZF—tF+=-A=1t—HMN
RERETHAGEMEABRERESRE
FREEE T - ERMRESRER
RUERHE IR ERER T AN EEH AR
BERBREMEFIEREA ([
FHERARS ) RKBERBRES - It
S AR ERERERSEARIRE
PITHR ((RORBEETHNR]) -
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24. PREFERRED SHARES (continued) 24. BERK (&)

The key inputs of the above valuing method are detailed as FHlEES AN EZT@AGIBFESWM
follows: T

31 December 2017

—E—+tF

+=—B=+—8H

Discount rate HEIE 2 19%
Terminal growth rate KEBRRE 3%
DLOM RA BT 23%
Risk-free interest rate M E b R= 2.1%
Expected volatility SIS 55.5%

The discount rate was estimated by the weighted average
cost of capital as of each valuation date. The Group
estimated the risk-free interest rate based on the yield of US
Government Bond with the maturity life close to the qualified
IPO date as of the valuation date plus country risk spread. The
DLOM was estimated based on the option-pricing method.
Under the option-pricing method, the cost of put option which
can hedge the price change before the privately held share
can be sold, was considered as a basis to determine the lack
of marketability discount. Volatility was estimated based on
the annualised deviation of the daily stock price return of
comparable companies for a period from the respective value
date and with a similar span as time to expiration. Probability
weight under each of the redemption feature and liquidation
preferences was based on the Group’s best estimates. In
addition to the assumptions adopted above, the Company’s
projections of future performance are also factored into the
determination of the fair value of preferred shares on each
valuation date.

MRERDISEREEMER B INEF
WEREATEEE - AEEEER
IR ERERLHRERY
MEBRBFESEEMERHNKRER
nEEREREEEMm A ERERE -
BRORBHEITHRDEREEE LT
HEHEE - RBBEEEE - EEER
DRBUITNRE - FEEAE TR
AP RO A S AT ER S B ARG
SAREMNRAMERERZE - RBIRTZERT
BEHRARAAESMMERNZRRARSE
LUEmBBEEN —REEANEARE
BEERNFAREMGETEE - FRE
BHRBEEELIEF TR RESIE
RAEENREMTTMEE o BRATERSA
B EERRS  FEEEARESMLE
AN FERBTFEZRBA D REHAR
RIBHTER o
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24. PREFERRED SHARES (continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation of preferred shares together with a quantitative
sensitivity analysis:

31 December 2017

Percentage

point

BoE

%

Discount rate ALIH =R 1
Expected volatility FEHRR R 5

24, BX%lk (&)

TREBAELREENERT IR
ABBERECHBREDN :

—E2—+t¥+=A=+—H

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)

in fair value in fair value
of preferred Percentage  of preferred
shares point shares
BERAFEE B BERAYE
&, CE2) % ¥ CHd)
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T ARET T
(15,371) (1) 17,541
(2,732) 5) 2,481

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018
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24. PREFERRED SHARES (continued) 24. Bk (&)
Details of preferred shares which had been issued to certain MREIRBERCRITTETREENE
investors prior to the globe offerings are as follows: ERREFBNT
Conversion price (US$/share) Number of shares Total consideration received
BRE(ZL/R) ik ERRELS
Before share After share  Before share After share
Date of issuance split split split split
B7RE  Rookm  ROAFE  RGARE ROOKE
(note a) (note a) (note a) (note a) US$'000 RMB'000

(Ktzta) (Hfzta) (Hfita) (Hfita) Tin  ARBTR

Series Pre-A preferred shares 21 November 2014 US$8.00 US$0.016 125,000 62,500,000 1,000 6,123
ABRFTE LR “E-ME 8.00%% 0.016%%
t-A=t-A
Series A-1 preferred shares (note b) 1 March 2016 1S$35.20 US$0.070 56,821 28,410,500 2,000 12,987
A-18E SR (HfEb) “E-R"FZA-A 35.20%7T 0.070% 7
Series A-2 preferred shares (note b) 1 March 2016 US$30.80 US$0.062 20,946 10,473,000 Us$ 4,000
A-28E %R (Hzb) “EAE 3080% T 0.082£7 equivalent of
= RMB4 million
AREIEET
WETSE
Series B preferred shares 18 April 2017 US$59.38 US$0.119 176,837 88,418,500 10,500 71,705
BE LR “E-tE 59.385TC 0.119%%
ATNA
Series B+ preferred shares 30 January 2018 N/A US$0.271 N/A 34,236,130 9,262 60,523
B+ BELR “E-)\% TER 0.271%T TER
-B=tH
Series C preferred shares 24 May 2018 N/A US$0.861 N/A 5,809,840 5,000 31,908
ChELR “E-\F TER 0861%% TER
BA=TMA
Series A-1 preferred shares (note ¢) 24 May 2018 N/A US$0.070 N/A 56,821,000 US$ 24,000
A8 (izkc) “E-)\% TEA 007057 TEA equivalent of
BA=TMA RMB24 million
ARBUBET
METEE
Series B preferred shares (note c) 24 May 2018 N/A US$0.119 N/A 21,052,000 2,500 16,052
BEELI (Wikc) “E-\% TER 0.119%7 TER
BA=THEA
Series B+ preferred shares (note c) 24 May 2018 N/A US$0.522 N/A 6,059,930 3,161 20,185
B+ WL (Hfitc) “E-)\F TER 0520%7 TER
BA=TMA
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24. PREFERRED SHARES (continued)

Notes:

The k

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

Pursuant to the shareholders’ resolution passed on 15 November
2017, every share of the issued convertible redeemable preferred
shares is subdivided into 50 shares. Pursuant to the shareholders’
resolution passed on 3 November 2018, every share of the issued
convertible redeemable preferred shares is subdivided into 10
shares.

Series A preferred shares include Series A-1 and Series A-2
preferred shares.

These Series A-1, B and B+ preferred shares were issued
because the investors exercised their warrants on 24 May 2018.

ey terms of preferred shares are summarised as follows:

Each holder of a preferred share shall be entitled to
receive dividends at the rate of 6% of the original issue
price per annum for each such preferred share held by
such holder, payable out of funds or assets when and as
such funds or assets become legally available therefor
on parity with each other, prior and in preference to
and satisfied before, any dividend or distribution on any
other class or series of shares. Such dividends shall
accrue from day to day and shall not be cumulative.
Such dividends shall be payable only when, as, and
if, declared by the unanimous consent of the board of
directors of the Company.

If and when declared by the board of directors of the
Company, (i) the holders of Series C, Series B+ and
Series B preferred shares will be entitled to dividends in
preference to any dividend on any other class or series
of shares; (i) the holders of Series A preferred shares will
be entitled to dividends in preference to any dividend on
any other class or series of shares (other than the Series
C, Series B+ and Series B preferred shares); and (jii) the
holder of Series Pre-A preferred shares will be entitled
to dividends in preference to any dividend on any other
class or series of shares (other than the Series C, Series
B+ and Series B and the Series A preferred shares).

24, BX%hik (&)

i

RER-_ZFT—tF+—A+HAES
MRRRZER - EETHERAIER
] (] (2 SE B AR AR AR B0 AR AR 17 © AR
BR_Z—\F+—A=RBBNK
RARHR - ERTNHESRATERAR
(o] (8 S5 A AR AR A3 10 A

AR E LR BIEA-18 RA-2HE %
g o

ZEA-1T - B B+ BWELRIIE
REER T /\FRA_TWMAETT
(o ELFRRAERE M 31T -

BRAROEZRRBEANT :

EREARBEAGEEREM
FNSRELREDBRITE
6% WERE - BEAR ST
S HERRER IR
EARESRDIKA - BLEEIE
T EL A BRI A IR 42 A EA
BREHDIRATE EANE R AT OR
RAREEARNESHEEDM
ERFEATERMY - ZEREE
BERSELRGR - ARER
AAREBE-HEERFAIX
e
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24. PREFERRED SHARES (continued)

The holders of preferred shares shall also be entitled
to participate on an as converted-basis pro-rata in any
dividends or distributions paid to the holders of ordinary
shares.

The holders of the preferred shares shall have the
following rights with respect to the conversion of the
preferred shares into Class B ordinary shares.

Optional conversion

Subject to the requirements of the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands, as amended, and every statutory
modification or re-enactment thereof for the time being
in force, each series of preferred shares may, at the
option of the holders thereof, be converted in whole or
in part at any time into fully-paid and non-assessable
Class B ordinary shares based on the then-effective
respective conversion price of each series, respectively.

Automatic conversion

Without any action being required by the preferred
shareholders and whether or not the certificates
representing such shares are surrendered to the
Company or its transfer agent, each of the Series
Pre-A, A-1, A-2, B, B+ and C preferred shares shall
automatically be converted into Class B ordinary
share(s) (i) upon the closing of a qualified IPO, or (ii) on
the date specified by written consent or agreement of
the holders of at least a majority of the then outstanding
each series of preferred shares voting together as a
separate class on an as-converted basis, based on the
then-effective each series’ conversion price.

Conversion price

Subject to the provisions of the adjustments to the
conversion price in accordance with the articles of
association, the “Series Pre-A, A-1, A-2, B, B+ and C
conversion price” initially shall be the original Series
Pre-A, A-1, A-2 B, B+ and C issue price, and shall be
subject to adjustment from time to time, respectively.

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

24. Bkl (&)

BEREBATEAERCER
EERUHZRAERRBEA
A EIREHDIK

BERSEBEAREEUTESE
ERERSBESBRABANE
o

EiFER
HBETERERNREHELT
E(BIET RESEEBIHE
AIRAEERENERT - &8
BERTHAESEABREESD
HEREREFENNERERE
A ERAEHEABTRN
HBREER °

BEhEiR

HERT - Bf B M5 HER
ZRBEREARQAREBEN
o AR - A-156 - A-28
B - B+ N CHmE LERHE
EUTKHEEHERABEEE
() EERBERAMBELR
B Hi)EEE 2 HERRT
TEIN B 18 ST R I DA B B E B
B ERERCEREEFES
BUERARRENFEEASH
EERBENBHE -

EiR(E
REASERMAIRNEGEEIRE
FERWIES  TABRAT ~ A-188
A-2% - B - B+E# R CERER
BIRVNERBABARA ~ A-1
&y - A-28g - Big - B+Eg R Cog st
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24. PREFERRED SHARES (continued) 24. BERMK (&)
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At any time commencing from the fifth (5th) anniversary
of 30 January 2018 if a qualified IPO has not occurred,
one or more holders holding more than a majority of
then outstanding Series C preferred shares may request
the Company, via delivery of a written notice to redeem,
and the Company shall redeem, up to all or any portion
of the outstanding Series C preferred shares, out of
funds legally available therefor including capital, at a
redemption price per applicable Series C preferred
share, payable in cash, equal to the original Series
C issue price, plus interest equal to 12% per annum
compounded annually from the original Series C issue
date to the date that full payment is received and all
dividends accrued and unpaid with respect thereto (the
“Series C Redemption Price”).

Subject to the prior payment in full of the Series C
Redemption Price to the holders of Series C preferred
shares, at any time commencing from the fifth (5th)
anniversary of 30 January 2018 if a qualified IPO has
not occurred, one or more holders holding more than
a majority of the then outstanding Series B+ preferred
shares may request the Company, via delivery of
a written notice to redeem, and the Company shall
redeem, up to all or any portion of the outstanding
Series B+ preferred shares, out of funds legally available
therefor including capital, at a redemption price per
applicable Series B+ preferred share, payable in cash,
equal to the original Series B+ issue price, as the
case may be, plus interest equal to 12% per annum
compounded annually from the original Series B+ issue
date, as the case may be, to the date that full payment
is received and all dividends accrued and unpaid with
respect thereto (the “Series B+ Redemption Price”).
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24. PREFERRED SHARES (continued)

Subject to the prior payment in full of the Series C
and Series B+ Redemption Price to the holders of
Series C and Series B+ preferred shares, at any time
commencing from the fifth (5th) anniversary of 18 April
2017 if a qualified IPO has not occurred, one or more
holders holding more than a majority of then outstanding
Series B preferred shares may request the Company, via
delivery of a written notice to redeem, and the Company
shall redeem, up to all or any portion of the outstanding
Series B preferred shares, out of funds legally available
therefor including capital, at a redemption price per
applicable Series B preferred share, payable in cash,
equal to the original Series B issue price, plus interest
equal to 12% per annum compounded annually from
the original Series B issue date to the date that full
payment is made and all dividends accrued and unpaid
with respect thereto (the “Series B Redemption Price”).

Subject to the prior payment in full of the Series C,
Series B+ and Series B Redemption Price to the holders
of Series C, Series B+ and Series B preferred shares, at
any time commencing from the fourth (4th) anniversary
of the 14 June 2016 if a qualified IPO has not occurred,
one or more holders holding more than a majority of
the then outstanding Series A preferred shares may
request the Company, via delivery of a written notice to
redeem, and the Company shall redeem, up to all or any
portion of the outstanding Series A preferred shares,
out of funds legally available therefor including capital,
at a redemption price per applicable Series A preferred
share, payable in cash, equal to the original Series A-1
issue price or the original Series A-2 issue price, as the
case may be, plus interest equal to 12% per annum
compounded annually from the original Series A-1 issue
date or the original Series A-2 issue date, as the case
may be, to the date that full payment is received and all
dividends accrued and unpaid with respect thereto (the
“Series A Redemption Price”).
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24. PREFERRED SHARES (continued) 24. BERMK (&)
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Subject to the prior payment in full of the Series C,
Series B+, Series B and Series A Redemption Price to
the holders of Series C, Series B+, Series B and Series A
preferred shares, at any time commencing from the third
(38rd) anniversary of 14 June 2016, one or more holders
holding more than a majority of then outstanding Series
Pre-A preferred shares may request the Company, via
delivery of a written notice to redeem, and the Company
shall redeem, up to all or any portion of the outstanding
Series Pre-A preferred shares, out of funds legally
available therefor including capital, at a redemption price
per applicable Series Pre-A preferred share, payable in
cash, equal to the original Series Pre-A issue price plus
interest equal to 12% per annum compounded annually
from the original Series Pre-A issue date to the date
that full payment is made and all dividends accrued and
unpaid with respect thereto.

Upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the
Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, or any
deemed liquidation event according to the articles of
association of the Company, all assets and funds of
the Company legally available for distribution to the
members of the Company (after satisfaction of all
creditors’ claims and claims that may be preferred by
law) shall be distributed to the members as follows:
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24. PREFERRED SHARES (continued)

Each holder of each series of preferred shares shall be
entitled to receive, on a pari passu basis within that
series, an amount per preferred share then held by
such holder equal to two times of the respective original
issue price of each series, plus any declared but unpaid
dividends with respect thereto (as adjusted for any share
splits, share dividends, combinations, recapitalisations
and similar transactions) (the “Liquidation Preference
Amount”), subject to the liquidation order as below:
first to the holders of Series C, Series B+ and Series
B preferred shares, second to Series A (including
Series A-1 and A-2) preferred shares. If, upon any
such liquidation, the assets of the Company shall be
insufficient to make payment to such holders in full of
the Liquidation Preference Amount for that series, then
such assets shall be distributed among the holders of
that series, ratably in proportion to the full amounts to
which they would otherwise be respectively entitled
thereon, subject to the above liquidation preference
order.

The Group does not bifurcate any embedded derivatives
from the host instruments and designates the entire
instruments as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss with the changes in the fair value recorded
in the statement of profit or loss.

The fair value loss of approximately RMB217,123,000
was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2018 (2017: RMB134,443,000).
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND WARRANTS

The movements of the convertible bonds and warrants for the
years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 are set out below:

25. T[ERIRS REEIEE

THRES RARERRBE =T\
FR=B—LFE+=A=+-BILEE
RRBRFIMT :

Convertible bonds Warrants
AR E S TR R
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
At 1 January 2017 R=Z—tF—H—H 13,950 17,467
Issue during the year FRET 8,044 9,151
Fair value losses ATEEE - 16,239
Interest expense FEBEX 3,303 =
Exchange realignment RNk - (1,499)
At 31 December 2017 R-Z—tF
T=E=7=E 25,297 41,358
Issue during the year FREIT 16,798 3,202
Fair value losses on warrants R ER AT EEE - 261,791
Fair value losses on AR ES AT EREIE
convertible bonds 3,202 -
Interest expense MEREX 1,628 =
Repayment of convertible bonds R[22 EFH B (28,669) -
Transfer to other payables B H At e IR (18,256) =
Exercise of warrants 1TRRIRAERE - (297,674)
Exchange realignment B 7R - (8,677)
REE-N\F
At 31 December 2018 +=A=+—8 - -

The warrants, except for warrants issued under an equity-
settled transaction (note 1(a) below), were classified as
derivative financial liabilities measured at fair value on initial
recognition and subsequently measured at fair value with
changes in fair value through profit or loss; the convertible
bonds as mentioned in note 1(b) and (c) below were included
in the current liabilities and classified as financial liabilities
measured at amortised cost; and the convertible bond issued
to KIP Bright (as defined below) was included in the current
liabilities and classified as financial liabilities measured at fair
value on initial recognition and subsequently measured at fair
value with changes in fair value through profit or loss.
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FREB(EZBR TN ABRKRES
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND WARRANTS

(continued)

On 24 May 2018, all the warrants were exercised and the
convertible bonds related to Zhonglu and KIP Bright (as
defined below) were settled. For the remaining convertible
bonds, which are related to Shenshang Xingye and China
Creation Ventures (as defined below), the conversion rights
were terminated and an expense of RMB14,270,000 was
recognised as the difference between the fair value of
convertible bonds with that of the amortised cost at the
termination date and the balance was transferred to other
payables.

Since the date of incorporation and up to 31 December 2018,
the Company has issued the following warrants to certain
investors. For details, please refer to the following table:

Number of
Date of grant Type of shares  shares underlying
RHAH ROER RERNEE
(before splif)*
(RO 7 5H)
Gionee (HK) Communication 1 March2016  Class B 78,547
Equipment Limited (‘Gionee”) () —E—~E ordinary shares
I (BB BEXEERAR =B-H BEEER
([&1))@)
Shenshang Xingye Venture Capital 1 March2016  Series A-1 56,821
Limited (‘Shenshang VC") (o) ~ =F—»% preferred shares
Shenshang Xingye Venture Capital =F—H A1BELR
Limited (T Shenshang VC J)(b)
Made In China Ltd. (‘MIC”) (b) 1March2016  Series A-1 56,821
Made In China Ltd. ([MIC )(o) “E-5F preferred shares
=h-H A-1BREER

25.

Number of

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

o] E R ES KB IR ERSE ()

—ZE-NFRA=TWMA - FERA
EEHCETEMEETERES (
ERTX)NABRBRESFTELES °
¥ BB Shenshang Xingye & China
Creation Ventures(EE& R T X) K&k
TAHARES » BRI A L IT5E
S AR#14,270,000 TR AT RRKRE
HNPHEEK I B E SR A 2 B E
B MASERRIER = H M EFRIE o

BRI BHEEZE=F
B=+—8"
HTHIRRER o

E

—NE+=
 RATC @ :F?xﬁﬁfi
BE=BEFESH

shares underlying  Exercise price

RERHHE
(after spliy)*

e

(BG7HE)

3,927,350

2,841,050

2,841,050

US$0.637 per share for 78,547 Class B ordinary
share before share split, or US$0.01 per share
for 3,927,350 Class B ordinary share after split
conditional on the fulfilment of certain obligations
by Gionee under the cooperation agreement.

R HAIMT78 54T RBEERRNTREASR
0.637%7 ; ARM A% A3,927 350 RERAE
0.01XTHBEEER - ARREVBIAEGHES
T4

US$35.20 per share for 56,821 Series A-1 preferred
shares before share split; or US$0.70 per share for
2,841,050 Series A-1 preferred shares after share split.
R DHrAING6,821 RA- BB ERNTEEASR
3B.20E7 ; FRHAHEN2,841,050RA-1BE %
RiTEEABROT0ZR o

US$35.20 per share for 56,821 Series A-1 preferred
shares before share split; or US$0.70 per share for
2,841,050 Series A-1 preferred shares after share split.
R DHrAIN56,821 RA- 1 BB ERNTEEABR
B.20%E7 ; FRHAFEN2,841,050RA-1BE %
RS EEABR0T0XT o
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25.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND WARRANTS
(continued)
Number of
Date of grant Type of shares  shares underlying
Rt B8R RERGEE
(before spliy)*
(B2 54)
Ningbo New Summit Private Equity 18 April 2017 Series B 42,104
Fund | LP. (“China Creation “E—tE preferred shares
Ventures’) (c) BtNH BE LR
ERat-HREREESEY
% (5R&%) ([ China
Creation
Ventures])(c)
KIP Bright (Chengdu) Equity 25 January 2018 Series B+ N/A
Investment Partnership (LP) “E-N\E preferred shares iR
(“KIP Bright’) (d) -B=t5R B+ BEER

SH (R REREES AR
(BRAa%) (2#.)()

*

2017,

Pursuant to the shareholders’ resolution passed on 15 November

every share to be issued under the warrants is subdivided

into 50 shares.

Notes:

1. Issuance of warrants and convertible bonds

(@

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

Gionee Warrants

On 1 March 2016, the Company entered into ordinary
share purchase agreements with Gionee, pursuant to
which the Company issued warrants to Gionee which is
entitled to purchase up to 78,547 Class B ordinary shares
of the Company at an Exercise Price of US$0.637 per
share, conditional on the fulfilment of the obligations by
Gionee in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the cooperation agreements between Gionee and the
Group. The transaction was regarded as an equity-settled
transaction and the Group recorded the difference of
RMB3,634,000 between the then fair value of the warrant
and the consideration received to cost of sales.

25. T[EIRRS REEIES ()

Number of

shares underlying  Exercise price

RERHEA
(after split)*

%E

(BO7H&)"

2,106,200

605,993

UUS§59.3637 per share for 42,104 Series B preferred
shares before share split; or US$1.19 per share for
2,105,200 Series B preferred shares after split.
B2 FRIR42, 104 RBEEERNTEERASR
59.3637% 7 ; FMHH%HI2,1052005BHES
ReEEABRII0XT -

The exercise price is certain US dollars equivalent
to RMB20,000,000.
TEERAAR20,000000THEEET o

BRER-_Z—tF+—-A+HAES
HIRRORASE -

RRHEE T EITH

FRRAM AR50 -

MEE

1. RRER R ARRESNET

(@

BV
RZZT—RNE=F—H &R
Al B E 7 R] 3 E AR E B 15
& B ARR RS ET
RRERE  SHAEERER
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND WARRANTS
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

1. Issuance of warrants and convertible bonds (continued)

(b)

Shenshang VC and MIC Warrants and Convertible Bonds

On 1 March 2016, the Company entered into a preferred
share purchase agreement with Shenshang VC, pursuant
to which (i) the Company issued a warrant to Shenshang
VC, or its designated persons as agreed in written by
the Company, which is entitled to purchase from the
Company up to 56,821 Series A-1 preferred shares of the
Company, at an Exercise Price of US$35.20 per share,
amounting to an aggregate purchase price of up to an US
dollar equivalent to RMB12,000,000; and (i) Shenshang
VC designated Shenzhen Shenshang Xingye Venture
Capital Fund Partnership (L.P.) (“Shenshang Xingye”) and
the Company designated Huanju Times, and Shenshang
Xingye and Huanju Times signed a separate agreement,
according to which Shenshang Xingye subscribed the
convertible bond denominated in RMB of RMB12,000,000
issued by Huanju Times. The convertible bond issued to
Shenshang Xingye bears interest at a rate of 12% per
annum, due in five years from the date of issuance and shall
be repaid upon maturity, if not converted, with repayment
of the loan as well as the unpaid accrued interest.
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25. T[EIRES REAESE (B)
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND WARRANTS
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

1.

Issuance of warrants and convertible bonds (continued)

(b)

()

Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

Shenshang VC and MIC Warrants and Convertible Bonds
(continued)

On 1 March 2016, the Company entered into a preferred
share purchase agreement with MIC, pursuant to which (i)
the Company issued a warrant to MIC, or its designated
persons as agreed in written by the Company, which are
entitled to purchase from the Company up to 56,821
Series A-1 preferred shares of the Company, at an Exercise
Price of US$35.20, amounting to an aggregate purchase
price of up to US dollar equivalent to RMB12,000,000;
and (ii) MIC designated Shanghai Zhonglu Investment
Management Center L.P. (“Zhonglu”) and the Company
designated Huanju Times, and Zhonglu and Huanju Times
signed a separate agreement, according to which Zhonglu
subscribed the convertible bond denominated in RMB of
RMB12,000,000 issued by Huanju Times. The convertible
bond issued to Zhonglu is interest-free and due in five
years from the date of issuance if not converted.

China Creation Ventures Warrants and Convertible
Bonds

On 18 April 2017, the Company entered into a preferred
share purchase agreement with China Creation Ventures,
pursuant to which (i) the Company issued a warrant
to China Creation Ventures, or its designated person
as agreed in writing by the Company, which is entitled
to purchase from the Company up to 42,104 Series B
preferred shares of the Company, at an Exercise Price
of US$59.3637 for a total consideration amounting up
to US$2,500,000; and (i) a convertible bond agreement
was signed between China Creation Ventures and Huanju
Times, a company designated by the Company. The
five-year convertible bond with a principal amount of
RMB17,195,500 bear interest at a compound interest rate
of 8% per annum and shall be repaid upon maturity, if not
converted, with repayment of the loan as well as the unpaid
accrued interest.

25. T[EIRRS REEIES ()
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND WARRANTS
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

1. Issuance of warrants and convertible bonds (continued)

@

KIP Bright Warrants and Convertible Bonds

On 25 January 2018, the Company entered into a preferred
share purchase agreement with KIP Bright, pursuant to
which (i) the Company issued a warrant to KIP Bright, or its
designated person as agreed in writing by the Company,
which is entitled to purchase from the Company up to
certain Series B+ preferred shares of the Company using
a certain predetermined formula for a total consideration
of US dollar amount equivalent to RMB20,000,000, and
(i) a convertible bond agreement was signed between KIP
Bright and Sichuan Wanka Huanju Culture Media Co., Ltd.
(“Sichuan Wanka”), which is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Huanju Times. The one-year convertible bond with a
principal amount of RMB20,000,000 bear interest at a rate
of 10% per annum and shall be repaid upon maturity, if
not converted, with repayment of the loan as well as the
unpaid accrued interest. The number of warrant shares
was calculated based on a certain predetermined formula
and terms in the purchase agreement of the KIP Bright
Warrants.

The preferred share purchase agreements signed between
the Company, MIC, Shenshang VC, China Creation
Ventures and KIP Bright, respectively, are collectively
referred to as the “Warrants Agreements”. The warrants
issued to Gionee, MIC, Shenshang VC, China Creation
Ventures and KIP Bright, respectively, are individually
referred as the “Warrant” and are collectively referred as
the “Warrants”.

The Class B ordinary shares, Series A-1 preferred shares,
Series B preferred shares or Series B+ preferred shares
issuable upon exercise of the Warrants and the exercise
price per Class B ordinary shares, Series A-1 preferred
shares, Series B preferred shares or Series B+ preferred
shares, as adjusted from time to time pursuant to the
provisions of the Warrants, are referred to as the “Warrant

Shares” and the “Exercise Price”, respectively.
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND WARRANTS
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

1.

Issuance of warrants and convertible bonds (continued)

@

KIP Bright Warrants and Convertible Bonds (continued)

The convertible bond agreements signed between Huanju
Times and Zhonglu, Shenshang Xingye, ChinaCreation
Ventures, as well as the agreement signed between
Sichuan Wanka and KIP Bright, respectively, are collectively
referred to as “Convertible Bond Agreements”. The
convertible bonds issued to Zhonglu, Shenshang Xingye,
China Creation Ventures and KIP Bright, respectively, are
referred to as the “Convertible Bonds”.

Gionee, MIC, Shenshang VC, China Creation Ventures and
KIP Bright or its designated person as agreed in writing by
the Company are each referred as the “Registered Holder”.

Conditions for exercise of the Warrants

The aggregate Exercise Price payable in respect of the total
Warrant Shares purchased upon such exercise is collectively
referred as the “Purchase Price”.

(@

Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

Gionee Warrants

Only after fulfilment of all of the following conditions, the
Warrants may be exercised by the Registered Holder, in
whole, by surrendering the Warrants, with the purchase/
exercise form duly executed by the Registered Holder: (i)
the Gionee group has duly performed its obligations under
the renewed cooperation agreement; (ii) the aggregate
Exercise Price payable in respect of the total ordinary
shares purchased upon such exercise has been made in
full by Gionee or its authorised person(s).
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND WARRANTS
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

2. Conditions for exercise of the Warrants (continued)

(b)

Shenshang VC and MIC Warrants and Convertible Bonds

Only after fulfilment of all of the following conditions, the
Warrants may be exercised by MIC or Shenshang VC,
respectively in whole, by surrendering the Warrants,
with the purchase/exercise form duly executed by such
Registered Holder: (i) Huanju Times has received the
full loan amount of RMB12,000,000 lent by Zhonglu or
Shenshang Xingye in accordance with the Convertible
Bond Agreements; (i) the loan of RMB12,000,000 lent
by Zhonglu or Shenshang Xingye has not converted into
equity interest in Huanju Times; (iii) the Company has
repaid or resolves to repay the loan of RMB12,000,000
to Zhonglu or Shenshang Xingye according to the
terms of the Convertible Bond Agreements and other
agreements between the parties; (iv) the Purchase Price
has been made in full by MIC and Shenshang VC or their
authorised person(s); and (v) Zhonglu and Shenshang
Xingye, or MIC and Shenshang VC, shall, if applicable,
have obtained all approval, filings and consents from all
relevant governmental authorities regarding its exercise of
the Warrants and subscription of the Warrant Shares. The
failure to fulfil any of the above (i) to (v) conditions shall not
trigger the exercise of the Warrants.

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

25. T[EIRES REAESE (B)

Bt < (48)

2. RIEEENITEGM (B)

(b)

Shenshang VCEMICEZR#E
FER B ES
MIC =k Shenshang VCI{E7EiH
RFTE TOEMSE - A rl@ik
RERREZERLEBE
uE?—r*ﬁ_}\E‘tgz_LE’]E%E/
ﬁﬁ?ﬂﬂ D RIITEEER
BRAERE : (i) ER B R AU B AR
jZShenshang Xingye iR #& A
BRESHEMELNEEE
A K% 12,000,0007T : (i) F
% 5k Shenshang XingyeFfr & tH
HERAR®12,000,0007T
W mEE IR A E R AR IR
(i) AR E B RBE AR ESR
FEREBEE AR M E i
B R EE IR ZEE R K
Shenshang XingyeFfif& H #) &
AR 12,000,0007T : (iv)i&
& {82 EMIC & Shenshang VC
REBREA TR 0 ()
2% & Shenshang Xingye sk
MIC %2 Shenshang VCJE (4n:#
ﬁH)E?ﬁEﬁ@i AR AEE KR
RARIEF IR 1D B B AE R I
Hﬂ%?ﬁﬂﬂ SETEH#X - BERK
AR - ARG MR FIE )R
(V)BT — 18 - B4
EITIERIRERE o

—E2-\Fi BNSBARAT



Notes to the Financial Statements

A F R R ML

(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND WARRANTS
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

2.

Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

Conditions for exercise of the Warrants (continued)

(c

@

China Creation Ventures Warrants and Convertible
Bonds

Only after (i) China Creation Ventures, or its designated
person as agreed in writing by the Company (“China
Creation Ventures Warrants Exerciser”) has completed
the outbound investment filing under the PRC law; (i) the
Purchase Price has been made in full by China Creation
Ventures Warrants Exerciser; and (i) Huanju Times has
received the loan in RMB equivalent of US$2,500,000
extended by China Creation Ventures pursuant to the
Convertible Bond Agreement entered into by Huanju
Times and China Creation Ventures, this Warrant may be
exercised by China Creation Ventures Warrants Exerciser,
by surrendering this Warrant, with the purchase/exercise
form duly executed by China Creation Ventures Warrants
Exerciser or by such China Creation Ventures Warrants
Exerciser’s duly authorised attorney, at the principal office
of the Company, or at such other office or agency as the
Company may designate.

KIP Bright Warrants and Convertible bonds

This Warrant shall be exercisable only once after the
effective date, that is the date of the full repayment of the
principal amount (i.e. RMB20,000,000) by Sichuan Wanka
to KIP Bright under the Convertible Bond Agreement, and
before the conversion as provided in the Convertible Bond
Agreement, and upon surrender to the Company at its
principal office (or at such other location as the Company
may advise the Registered Holder in writing) of this Warrant
properly endorsed with (i) the notice of exercise duly
completed and executed, and (ii) payment of the price for
the number of Warrant Shares.
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND WARRANTS
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

8 Termination of the Warrants and the Convertible Bonds

(@

(b)

()

Gionee Warrants

The Warrants issued to Gionee (and the rights to purchase
securities upon exercise thereof) shall terminate upon the
earliest of the following: (i) immediately upon the waiver
notice; (i) the date on which the renewed cooperation
agreement is duly terminated in written by all relevant
parties thereof; and (iii) the date on which the Contractual
Arrangements are duly terminated in written by all related
parties thereof.

Shenshang VC, MIC and China Creation Ventures
Warrants and Convertible Bonds

Among others, the major termination term is that, the
Warrants issued to MIC, Shenshang VC and China
Creation Ventures (and the rights to purchase securities
upon exercise thereof) shall terminate upon the earliest of
the following: (i) immediately upon the waive notice; (i) the
conversion of Convertible Bonds into the equity interests in
Huanju Times; and (iii) the date on which the Contractual
Arrangements are duly terminated in written by all related
parties thereof.

KIP Bright Warrants and Convertible Bonds
This Warrant shall expire immediately prior to the
consummation of the Company’s IPO.
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND WARRANTS
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

4.

Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

Conversion rights of the Convertible Bonds

(@

(b)

Convertible Bond Agreement signed between Huanju
Times and Zhonglu, Shenshang Xingye and China
Creation Ventures

Pursuant to the Convertible Bond Agreements, the
Convertible Bonds can be converted to Huanju Times’
equity interests when the following conditions are met: (i) all
relevant parties has agreed to deconsolidate Huanju Times
by termination of the Contractual Arrangements; (i) the
Registered Holders have agreed to waive the exercise of
the Warrants permanently by surrendering their Warrants to
the Company and providing a waiver notice; and (i) Huanju
Times agreed that the Registered Holders could convert
the Convertible Bonds into the equity interests in Huanju
Times with a written notice.

Convertible Bond Agreement signed between Sichuan
Wanka and KIP Bright

Pursuant to the Convertible Bond Agreement, the
Convertible Bonds can be converted to Sichuan Wanka'’s
equity interests when the following conditions are met: (i)
the Registered Holder has agreed to waive the exercise
of the Warrants permanently by surrendering the Warrant
to the Company and providing a waiver notice; and (ii)
Sichuan Wanka agreed that the Registered Holder could
convert the Convertible Bond into the equity interests in
Sichuan Wanka with a written notice.

The fair value of Warrants as at the issuance date and 31
December 2017 was valued by the Valuer. The equity value
allocation model is used to determine the fair values of the
Warrants as of the dates of issuance and 31 December
2017. The valuation model as well as the parameters were
the same as those used in the valuation of preferred shares
as disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements.
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND WARRANTS
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

4. Conversion rights of the Convertible Bonds (continued)

(b)

Convertible Bond Agreement signed between Sichuan
Wanka and KIP Bright (continued)

The fair values of Convertible Bonds at issuance date were
valued by the Valuer. The key inputs in the valuation was
the discount rate. For subsequent measurement, for the
Convertible Bonds issued to Zhonglu, Shenshang Xingye
and China Creation Ventures, they were accounted for at
amortised cost; for the Convertible Bonds issued to KIP
Bright, it was accounted for as a financial liability at fair
value through profit or loss.

Below is a summary of significant unobservable input to the
valuation of Convertible Bonds together with a quantitative
sensitivity analysis:

31 December 2017

Percentage
point

TR 1

Discount rate
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26. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited

liability
authori
with a
resolu
unissu

under the laws of Cayman Islands on 7 November 2014 with an
ised share capital of US$50,000 divided into 500,000,000 shares
par value of US$0.0001 each. Pursuant to the shareholders’
tion passed on 15 November 2017, each of the issued and
ed shares was subdivided into 50 shares of the Company with a

par value of US$0.000002 each.

(@)

On 30 January 2018, the Company issued 3,423,613 Series B+
preferred shares with a par value of US$0.000002 each to certain
investors at a price of US$2.71 per share with an aggregate
consideration of US$9,262,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB60,523,000).

On 30 January 2018, Wanka Media Limited transferred 1,228,620
Class A ordinary shares to Northern Light Venture Capital IV. Ltd.,
and 1,228,620 Class B ordinary shares were issued to Northern
Light Venture Capital IV. Ltd. and 1,228,620 Class A ordinary
shares were cancelled.

On 12 March 2018, the Company issued 12,024,632 Class B
ordinary shares to Goodluckshome Inc., a company wholly owned
by Mr. Hua Xinjiang, to acquire a 100% equity interest in Shanghai
ChiLe. For detailed information, please refer to note 29(a)(ii) to the
financial statements.

On 24 May 2018, the Company issued 580,984 Series C
preferred shares with a par value of US$0.000002 each to certain
investors at a price of US$8.61 per share with an aggregate
consideration of US$5,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB31,908,000).

On 24 May 2018, all the Registered Holders exercise the
warrants, pursuant to which, the Company issued 5,682,100
Series A-1 preferred shares, 2,105,200 Series B preferred shares,
605,993 Series B+ preferred shares and 3,927,350 Class B
ordinary shares to these Registered Holders.
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26. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(U]
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On 24 May 2018, the Company issued 4,086,057 Class B
ordinary shares to PICC Investment Fund SPC at a price
of US$8.61 per share with an aggregate consideration of
US$10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB63,816,000).

On 24 May 2018, the Company issued 6,250,000 Class B
ordinary shares with a par value of US$0.000002 each to Wanka
Alliance Limited with nil consideration, which was a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the RSU trustee to manage the trust established
under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme or RSU Plan (defined in
note 27).

On 3 November 2018, resolutions of the shareholders were
passed and each of the issued and unissued shares of
US$0.000002 par value was approved to be subdivided into 10
shares with a par value of US$0.0000002 each.

On 21 December 2018, the Company was listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The total
number of offer shares under the global offering was 76,390,000
shares, and the offer price was HK$3.56 per share. Upon the
global offering, each of the issued and unissued preferred shares
was converted into one ordinary share of the Company of
US$0.0000002 par value.
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26. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 26. B (1)

A summary of the movements in the Company’s share capital ARARM RS EFAM AT
was as follows:

Number of
ordinary shares Issued Share
in issue capital premium Total
BT
LEREE EBIRA IR 1318 st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ST AR%BTr AR%Tx
At 31 December 2016 and R-ZB—RE+=A
1 January 2017 =+—Hk
—E2—+t%—HF—H 1,164,206 =+ 10,454 10,454
Split shares by 1:50 1%£1:50 0 L5l 2 3 AR 4D 57,046,094 - - —
Issuance of new shares BITHRA 3,806,206 = 27,479 27,479
At 31 December 2017 R-ZE—t5F
+=ZHA=+—H 62,016,506 —* 37,933 37,933
Issuance of new shares BATHR G 20,038,039 - 312,648 312,648
Split shares by 1:10 #1108 EL 5l 2 3 AR 4D 738,490,905" = - =
Conversion from BELRER
preferred shares 313,780,900 1 982,253 982,254
Global offering SRBE 76,390,000 - 211,016 211,016
R=Z-N\F
At 31 December 2018 +=HB=+—H 1,210,716,350% 1 1,543,850 1,543,851
* The amount is less than RMB1,000. * BT EAREA1,0007T °
g Pursuant to the shareholders’ resolution passed on 15 November # HBER=—Z—+F+—At+AHEE
2017, each of the issued and unissued shares was subdivided MR BIRR SR » FARE BT AR AT
into 50 shares of the Company. R&AD 48 A 7N A B S0 AGALAD ©
A Pursuant to the shareholders’ resolution passed on 3 November A BERZZE—N\F+—A=HRBEMN
2018, each of the issued and unissued ordinary shares was RFRER  ERITRARBITHER
subdivided into 10 shares of the Company. ERIRBA D TR AR AT 10AKARD °
@ Excluding 62,500,000 shares held by Wanka Alliance Limited as & B FEWanka Alliance Limited A =
at 31 December 2018. Z-NF+-_A=+—"HFEEHD

62,500,000 fx {7 -

“TNFH ENERARLS @)\
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BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 27. LI BERENFTE

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

The Group adopted the share incentive plan on 31 March
2016 (“2016 Share Incentive Scheme”), under which
employees render service as consideration for equity
instruments (RSUs and options) of the Company.

The Company operates the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants. Eligible participants of the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme include the Company’s directors and certain
employees of the Group. The 2016 Share Incentive Scheme
became effective on 31 March 2016 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from
that date. On 24 May 2018, the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme
was amended and a restricted share plan (“RSU Plan”) was
made effect and the RSU Plan became effective from the date
when the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme was adopted, that is
31 March 2016 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
will remain in force for 10 years from that date. Pursuant to
the RSU Plan, the vesting condition has been revised as i)
upon the completion of the Company’s IPO, and ii) fulfilment
of a certain service period. Other than that, there is no
significant change as compared with that of the 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme.

Share options and RSUs do not confer rights on the holders
to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

AEERZZ—RF=A=1+—BHEHM
BB E s E ([ = — A~ FE R EE
&l - Bt EEFERERANQ TR
@ ITH (ZREIRDEMRBRE)N
REMIR R o

KATEEZZ—~ERO BB E
EEMEERSHERMIBRIER -
—E-RERDBEENESERSH
EREADRNESRAEENE TE
& o T RNERMDUBHEN=-ZT—
NEZRA=1+—B4EN ' BBRIEZ I
SHEERT » RAIGBZARBEETEF
B - R=ZE—N\FHA=+TWEA =
T — NER BB BB T —
BRI DT E) ([ 2R HIIR 0B
&) - ZREBRDENTEE=Z—
NERDBBAEERMN 2B (BI=F
—RNE=ZBA=1+—H)BEM  R*ES
SNECESRIERT » & RIS B3 B B E
TEEM - RIBZRHEIRMDEMTE
BEEGREE &SRB A QAT ER AR
BETHRERI)RES TIREHE ° BRit
2O BT E— NE R B ET 28
WEE REH o

SR IR N 32 PR B AR 4D BE A 36 AN B 7 HLF
BABEREHERRAS LRENE
Ao
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(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all share options/RSUs to be granted under the
2016 Share Incentive Scheme/RSU Plan of the Company shall
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares
in issue on 31 March 2016. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options/RSUs in aggregate is 125,000.
On 15 November 2017, each of the issued and unissued
shares was subdivided into 50 shares of the Company and
accordingly, the number of shares issuable under the 2016
Share Incentive Scheme/RSU Plan is enlarged to 6,250,000
and exercise price was decreased to US$0.000002. Following
another share subdivision approved on 3 November 2018, as
of 31 December 2018, the Company has reserved 62,500,000
Class B ordinary shares underlying all the grants under the
RSU Plan.

As at 31 December 2018, 34,103,840 RSUs were vested and
exercisable under the RSU Plan.

The fair value of the services received in exchange for
the grant of the equity instruments (RSUs and options) is
recognised as an expense on the consolidated statement of
profit or loss with an increase in equity.

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

27. Uz BRI ()

BREBEAQPIA - "ERMOBB T
2 ZRERMDEMTERTFREN
EEIEIRE SRR MDENETHE
RO FRETHRABHEESHETEESR
—%—%\E_H +—HE®TRH
MEH10% ° RIBIERAE 2R HIIR
ﬁEu‘J%ﬁé THRERHEHEEH
£125,000% - R=Z—t&+—A
+HA %Hﬁaé’&ﬁ&ﬂéﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ
MAES0/RANERMG - EHik

/\ﬂxfﬁ/%&m‘JriJ/ﬂE%Ifo““‘
NETEIFS R A ZTHRAEBEEXR
£6,250,0008% * MITEERFARE
0.000002%7T c HE=ZE—N\F+=
B=+—8 #R=-T—N\F+-—A=
Bitt/ES —ERMIFAR - RATRE
62,500,000 i 1R #5 =% PR il B% 10 B 5t
BIFTER FHHENBEZER -

RZZB-—N\E+ZA=+—H  REZ
FRA&IAR D E 5T 2] » 34,103,8401E%
FRAEIRMDEE O R B A 1T1E o

AREERTR (ZREIROEMRE
g MEZHNRBHATFERGRSE
HmRARRFS - BN D RERER
HERD o

“TNFH ENERARLS @/.\
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BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The following table shows the share options/RSUs
outstanding under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme/RSU
Plan during the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2018,
and their weighted average exercise prices (“WAEP”):

27. L3 AERERIFR ()
TRIFBE-E—LER-B-N\F
+=AZ+-ALFE=F-AFRH
BB REIROEREIE TS
FTENBRAE ZREROERRE
MABTATEM (BT 54T ) -

2017 2017 2018 2018 2018 2018
WAEP WAEP
Number ~ US$per  Number  USS$ per WAEP
of share share of share share Number USs$
options option options option of RSU  per share
—E—+E —E-N\& —E-N\F
IR 94T MEFT —2-N\F MEEHT
—E2—tF FEER/ —B-N\F FEER/ BZRURG FETS
iBhEz A BhiE BREZE ERE EBuZA /8 1p
Outstanding at 1 January ~ W—HA—HERTE 69,336 0.0001 5,148,108  0.000002 = =
Granted during the year FRERH 25,463 0.0001 — - 212,670 0.000002
Split shares by 1:50 % 1:50 9 EL 45
2HFRG 4,645,145  0.000002 - - = =
Granted during the year BB 2 &
after share split FRERH 431,074  0.000002 = = = =
Cancelled during the year ~ FRE & - - (67,900)  0.000002 - -
Forfeited during the year FRERK (22,910) 0.000002  (366,669) 0.000002 (42,485)  0.000002
Transfer from share options RZ=Z—/\F
to RSUs on 24 May 2018  HA=+H
mEREERZE
ZREIRIDE (L - - (4,713,539) 0.000002 4,713,539  0.000002
Split shares by 1:10 £1:1009EL
2R = = - - 43,953,516 0.0000002
Outstanding at W+=A=1+—-H
31 December AT 5,148,108  0.000002 - 0.000002 48,837,240 0.0000002
Exercisable at Wt+t=A=+-H
31 December AFTE - 0.000002 - 0.000002 34,103,840 0.0000002

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018
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(BREBEETS UARBTTIIR)
27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 27. Ui BEEAIFRR (E)
The exercise prices, estimated vesting periods and exercise RERERERITENBRE ZR
periods of the share options/RSUs outstanding as at the end IR BN HITEE - AETEBHER
of each reporting period are as follows: THEMBNT :
31 December 2018 —E-NE+ZRA=1t—H
Date of grant Exercise price Vesting date Exercise period
(yyyy/mm/dd) Number of RSUs  USS$ per share (yyyy/mm/dd) (yyyy/mm/dd)
RHBH SRERGD  TEE EEAH 1T1EER
(%/B/8) BUBE En R (%,/B/8) (%/B/R)
2016/03/31 6,094,000 0.0000002 2018/12/21 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/22 2 2026/03/31
2016/03/31 5,000,000 0.0000002 2018/12/21 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/2222026/03/31
2016/03/31 1,260,110 0.0000002 2018/12/21 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/2222026/03/31
2016/03/31 4,270,010 0.0000002 2018/12/21 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/22 2 2026/03/31
2016/03/31 1,146,000 0.0000002 2018/12/21 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/22 22026/03/31
2016/03/31 2,778,770 0.0000002 2018/12/21 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/22 2 2026/03/31
2016/03/31 444,690 0.0000002 2018/12/21 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/22 2 2026/03/31
2016/03/31 343,500 0.0000002 2018/12/21 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/22 22026/03/31
2016/03/31 229,000 0.0000002 2019/05/04 2019/05/05 to 2026/03/31
2019/05/05%22026/03/31
2016/03/31 57,250 0.0000002 2018/12/21 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/22 2 2026/03/31
2016/03/31 57,250 0.0000002 2019/12/20 2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/2122026/03/31
2016/03/31 57,250 0.0000002 2020/12/18 2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/19%22026/03/31
2016/03/31 57,250 0.0000002 2021/12/17 2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/1822026/03/31
2016/03/31 222,350 0.0000002 2018/12/21 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/2222026/03/31
2016/03/31 222,350 0.0000002 2019/12/20 2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/21%22026/03/31
2016/03/31 222,350 0.0000002 2020/12/18 2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31

2020/12/19%2026/03/31

—E-\EH BWEHERAS @)\
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BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

31 December 2018 (continued)

Date of grant

Exercise price

27. LIy AERERIFER ()
—2-\F+=A=+-8 (@

Vesting date

Exercise period

(yyyy/mm/dd) Number of RSUs  US$ per share (yyyy/mm/dd) (yyyy/mm/dd)
= HEA ZRFEKGD TEE 5% B HA 1T1EHR
(£/B/R8) BUHE =R (£/B/RH) (£/78/R8)
2016/03/31 222,340 0.0000002 2021/12/17 2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/1822026/03/31
2016/03/31 57,250 0.0000002 2018/12/21 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/2222026/03/31
2016/03/31 57,250 0.0000002 2019/12/20 2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/2122026/03/31
2016/03/31 57,250 0.0000002 2020/12/18 2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/19%22026/03/31
2016/03/31 57,250 0.0000002 2021/12/17 2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/1822026/03/31
2016/03/31 171,880 0.0000002 2018/12/21 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/2222026/03/31
2016/03/31 171,880 0.0000002 2019/12/20 2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/21%22026/03/31
2016/03/31 171,870 0.0000002 2020/12/18 2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/1922026/03/31
2016/03/31 171,870 0.0000002 2021/12/17 2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/18 22026/03/31
2016/03/31 2,291,000 0.0000002 2019/09/21 2019/09/22 to 2026/03/31
2019/09/22 2 2026/03/31
2016/03/31 3,520,000 0.0000002 2018/12/21 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/2222026/03/31
2016/03/31 1,145,500 0.0000002 2019/11/08 2019/11/09 to 2026/03/31
2019/11/09 £2026/03/31
2016/03/31 444,700 0.0000002 2018/12/21 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/2222026/03/31
Sub total
NEF 31,002,170

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018
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BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 27. Ui BEEAIFRR (E)
31 December 2018 (continued) —E2-NF+=A=+—H (&)
Date of grant Exercise price Vesting date Exercise period
(yyyy/mm/dd) Number of RSUs  US$ per share (yyyy/mm/dd) (yyyy/mm/dd)
= HHA ZRFEKRGD TEE 5% B H 1T1EHR
(%/B/8) BUHE EnR (%/B./8R) (%,/B/R)
2017/06/30 111,180 0.0000002 2018/12/21 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/22 £2026/03/31
2017/06/30 111,180 0.0000002 2019/12/20 2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/2122026/03/31
2017/06/30 111,170 0.0000002 2020/12/18 2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/19%22026/03/31
2017/06/30 111,170 0.0000002 2021/12/17 2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/18 22026/03/31
2017/06/30 111,180 0.0000002 2018/12/21 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/2222026/03/31
2017/06/30 111,180 0.0000002 2019/12/20 2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/2122026/03/31
2017/06/30 111,170 0.0000002 2020/12/18 2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/1922026/03/31
2017/06/30 111,170 0.0000002 2021/12/17 2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/18 £2026/03/31
2017/06/30 111,180 0.0000002 2018/12/21 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/22 £2026/03/31
2017/06/30 111,180 0.0000002 2019/12/20 2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/21%22026/03/31
2017/06/30 111,170 0.0000002 2020/12/18 2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/19£2026/03/31
2017/06/30 111,170 0.0000002 2021/12/17 2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/18 22026/03/31
2017/06/30 37,500 0.0000002 2018/12/21 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/2222026/03/31
2017/06/30 37,500 0.0000002 2019/12/20 2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/2122026/03/31
2017/06/30 37,500 0.0000002 2020/12/18 2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/1922026/03/31
2017/06/30 37,500 0.0000002 2021/12/17 2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/1822026/03/31
2017/06/30 37,500 0.0000002 2018/12/21 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31

2018/12/2222026/03/31

—E2-\Fi BNSBARAT J\
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BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

31 December 2018 (continued)

Date of grant

(yyyy/mm/dd) Number of RSUs
RHEBH 2 REIRD
(%/B./8H) BNEHE
2017/06/30 37,500
2017/06/30 37,500
2017/06/30 37,500
2017/06/30 37,500
2017/06/30 37,500
2017/06/30 37,500
2017/06/30 37,500
2017/06/30 200,000
2017/06/30 250,000
2017/06/30 50,000
2017/06/30 50,000
2017/06/30 50,000
2017/06/30 50,000
2017/06/30 37,500
2017/06/30 37,500
2017/06/30 37,500
2017/06/30 37,500

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

Exercise price
USS$ per share
1T1EE

EV VS
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002

0.0000002

0.0000002

27. L3 AERERIFR ()
—2-\F+=A=+-8 (@

Vesting date

(yyyy/mm/dd)
5% B HA
(%/R,/8)

2019/12/20
2020/12/18
2021/12/17
2018/12/21
2019/12/20
2020/12/18
2021/12/17
2020/08/10
2020/08/15
2018/12/21
2019/12/20
2020/12/18
2021/12/17
2018/12/21
2019/12/20
2020/12/18

2021/12/17

Exercise period
(yyyy/mm/dd)
1T1EHR
(F/8,/8)

2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/21%2026/03/31
2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/19%2026/03/31
2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/18 £2026/03/31
2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/2222026/03/31
2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/21%2026/03/31
2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/19%2026/03/31
2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/1822026/03/31
2020/08/11 to 2026/03/31
2020/08/11%2026/03/31
2020/08/16 to 2026/03/31
2020/08/16 £2026/03/31
2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/22 £ 2026/03/31
2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/21%2026/03/31
2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/19%2026/03/31
2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/18 &£2026/03/31
2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/2222026/03/31
2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/21%2026/03/31
2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/19%2026/03/31
2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/1822026/03/31
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27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 27. Ui BEEAIFRR (E)
31 December 2018 (continued) —E2-NF+=A=+—H (&)
Date of grant Exercise price Vesting date Exercise period
(yyyy/mm/dd) Number of RSUs  US$ per share (yyyy/mm/dd) (yyyy/mm/dd)
= HHA ZRFEKRGD TEE 5% B H 1T1EHR
(%/R,/8) BNHA EnR (%/R,/8) (F/8,/8)
2017/06/30 1,778,770 0.0000002 2020/10/07 2020/10/08 to 2026/03/31
2020/10/08 £2026/03/31
2017/06/30 57,250 0.0000002 2018/12/21 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/22 22026/03/31
2017/06/30 57,250 0.0000002 2019/12/20 2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/2122026/03/31
2017/06/30 57,250 0.0000002 2020/12/18 2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/1922026/03/31
2017/06/30 57,250 0.0000002 2021/12/17 2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/1822026/03/31
2017/06/30 355,760 0.0000002 2020/06/19 2020/06/20 to 2026/03/31
2020/06/20%&2026/03/31
2017/06/30 50,000 0.0000002 2018/12/21 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/2222026/03/31
2017/06/30 50,000 0.0000002 2019/12/20 2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/21 £2026/03/31
2017/06/30 50,000 0.0000002 2020/12/18 2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/1922026/03/31
2017/06/30 50,000 0.0000002 2021/12/17 2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/18 22026/03/31
2017/06/30 300,000 0.0000002 2020/09/04 2020/09/05 to 2026/03/31
2020/09/05 £2026/03/31
2017/06/30 500,000 0.0000002 2021/01/09 2021/01/10 to 2026/03/31
2021/01/1022026/03/31
2017/06/30 5,000,000 0.0000002 2018/12/21 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/2222026/03/31
2017/06/30 50,000 0.0000002 2018/12/21 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/2222026/03/31
2017/06/30 50,000 0.0000002 2019/12/20 2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/2122026/03/31
2017/06/30 50,000 0.0000002 2020/12/18 2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/1922026/03/31
2017/06/30 50,000 0.0000002 2021/12/17 2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/18 22026/03/31
2017/06/30 50,000 0.0000002 2018/12/21 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31

2018/12/22%2026/03/31

—E2-\Fi BNSBARAT #\
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27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

31 December 2018 (continued)

Date of grant

(yyyy/mm/dd) Number of RSUs
RHEBH 2 REIRD
(%/B./8H) BNEHE
2017/06/30 50,000
2017/06/30 50,000
2017/06/30 50,000
2017/06/30 50,000
2017/06/30 50,000
2017/06/30 50,000
2017/06/30 50,000
2017/06/30 50,000
2017/06/30 50,000
2017/06/30 50,000
2017/06/30 50,000
2017/12/31 28,630
2017/12/31 28,630
2017/12/31 28,620
2017/12/31 28,620
2017/12/31 28,630

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

Exercise price
USS$ per share
1T1EE

EV VS
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002

0.0000002

0.0000002

27. L3 AERERIFR ()
—2-\F+=A=+-8 (@

Vesting date

(yyyy/mm/dd)
5% B HA
(%/R,/8)

2019/12/20
2020/12/18
2021/12/17
2018/12/21
2019/12/20
2020/12/18
2021/12/17
2018/12/21
2019/12/20
2020/12/18
2021/12/17
2018/12/21
2019/12/20
2020/12/18
2021/12/17

2018/12/21

Exercise period
(yyyy/mm/dd)
1T1EHR
(F/8,/8)

2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/21%2026/03/31
2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/19%2026/03/31
2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/18 £2026/03/31
2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/2222026/03/31
2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/21%2026/03/31
2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/19%2026/03/31
2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/1822026/03/31
2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/22 % 2026/03/31
2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/21%2026/03/31
2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/19%2026/03/31
2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/1822026/03/31
2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/22%2026/03/31
2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/21%2026/03/31
2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/1922026/03/31
2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/1822026/03/31
2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/22%2026/03/31
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BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 27. Ui BEEAIFRR (E)
31 December 2018 (continued) —E2-NF+=A=+—H (&)
Date of grant Exercise price Vesting date Exercise period
(yyyy/mm/dd) Number of RSUs  US$ per share (yyyy/mm/dd) (yyyy/mm/dd)
= HHA ZRFEKRGD TEE 5% B H 1T1EHR
(%/R,/8) BNHA EnR (%/R,/8) (F/8,/8)
2017/12/31 28,630 0.0000002 2019/12/21 2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/21 £2026/03/31
2017/12/31 28,620 0.0000002 2020/12/19 2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/1922026/03/31
2017/12/31 28,620 0.0000002 2021/12/18 2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/18 22026/03/31
2017/12/31 28,630 0.0000002 2018/12/22 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/2222026/03/31
2017/12/31 28,630 0.0000002 2019/12/21 2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/2122026/03/31
2017/12/31 28,620 0.0000002 2020/12/19 2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/19%&2026/03/31
2017/12/31 28,620 0.0000002 2021/12/18 2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/18 22026/03/31
2017/12/31 1,416,500 0.0000002 2018/12/22 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/22 £2026/03/31
2017/12/31 200,000 0.0000002 2018/12/22 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/22 £2026/03/31
2017/12/31 333,520 0.0000002 2018/12/22 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/2222026/03/31
2017/12/31 333,520 0.0000002 2019/12/21 2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/21 £2026/03/31
2017/12/31 333,520 0.0000002 2020/12/19 2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/19%22026/03/31
2017/12/31 333,520 0.0000002 2021/12/18 2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/1822026/03/31
2017/12/31 50,000 0.0000002 2018/12/22 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/2222026/03/31
2017/12/31 50,000 0.0000002 2019/12/21 2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/2122026/03/31
2017/12/31 50,000 0.0000002 2020/12/19 2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/1922026/03/31
2017/12/31 50,000 0.0000002 2021/12/18 2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/18 22026/03/31
2017/12/31 75,000 0.0000002 2018/12/22 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/22 £2026/03/31
2017/12/31 75,000 0.0000002 2019/12/21 2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31

2019/12/21%2026/03/31

—E2-\Fi BNSBARAT #\
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BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

31 December 2018 (continued)

Date of grant

Exercise price

27. L3 AERERIFR ()
—2-\F+=A=+-8 (@

Vesting date

Exercise period

(yyyy/mm/dd) Number of RSUs  US$ per share (yyyy/mm/dd) (yyyy/mm/dd)
= HEA ZRFEKGD TEE 5% B HA 1T1EHR
(%/B./8H) BNBE Ex B (%,/B./8) (%,/B/R)
2017/12/31 75,000 0.0000002 2020/12/19 2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/19%22026/03/31
2017/12/31 75,000 0.0000002 2021/12/18 2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/1822026/03/31
2017/12/31 25,000 0.0000002 2018/12/22 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/2222026/03/31
2017/12/31 25,000 0.0000002 2019/12/21 2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/2122026/03/31
2017/12/31 25,000 0.0000002 2020/12/19 2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/1922026/03/31
2017/12/31 25,000 0.0000002 2021/12/18 2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/1822026/03/31
2017/12/31 8,330 0.0000002 2018/12/4 2018/12/04 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/04 2 2026/03/31
2017/12/31 8,330 0.0000002 2019/12/3 2019/12/03 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/0322026/03/31
2017/12/31 8,330 0.0000002 2020/12/1 2020/12/01 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/0122026/03/31
2017/12/31 8,340 0.0000002 2021/11/30 2021/11/30 to 2026/03/31
2021/11/3022026/03/31
2017/12/31 8,330 0.0000002 2018/12/22 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/2222026/03/31
2017/12/31 8,330 0.0000002 2019/12/21 2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/2122026/03/31
2017/12/31 8,330 0.0000002 2020/12/19 2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/1922026/03/31
2017/12/31 8,340 0.0000002 2021/12/18 2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/18 22026/03/31
Sub total
et 15,708,370

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018
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(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 27. Ui BEEAIFRR (E)
31 December 2018 (continued) —E2-NF+=A=+—H (&)
Date of grant Exercise price Vesting date Exercise period
(yyyy/mm/dd) Number of RSUs  US$ per share (yyyy/mm/dd) (yyyy/mm/dd)
= HHA ZRFEKRGD TEE 5% B H 1T1EHR
(%/R,/8) BNHA EnR (%/R,/8) (F/8,/8)
2018/06/22 25,000 0.0000002 2018/12/21 2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/22 £2026/03/31
2018/06/22 25,000 0.0000002 2019/12/20 2019/12/21 to 2026/03/31
2019/12/2122026/03/31
2018/06/22 25,000 0.0000002 2020/12/18 2020/12/19 to 2026/03/31
2020/12/19%22026/03/31
2018/06/22 25,000 0.0000002 2021/12/17 2021/12/18 to 2026/03/31
2021/12/18 22026/03/31
2018/06/22 12,500 0.0000002 2019/03/13 2019/03/14 to 2026/03/31
2019/03/1422026/03/31
2018/06/22 12,500 0.0000002 2020/03/11 2020/03/12 to 2026/03/31
2020/03/1222026/03/31
2018/06/22 12,500 0.0000002 2021/03/10 2021/03/11 to 2026/03/31
2021/03/11%22026/03/31
2018/06/22 12,500 0.0000002 2022/03/09 2022/03/10 to 2026/03/31
2022/03/10£2026/03/31
2018/06/22 12,500 0.0000002 2019/03/11 2019/03/12 to 2026/03/31
2019/03/1222026/03/31
2018/06/22 12,500 0.0000002 2020/03/09 2020/03/10 to 2026/03/31
2020/03/1022026/03/31
2018/06/22 12,500 0.0000002 2021/03/08 2021/03/09 to 2026/03/31
2021/03/09 £2026/03/31
2018/06/22 12,500 0.0000002 2022/03/07 2022/03/08 to 2026/03/31
2022/03/08 £2026/03/31
2018/06/22 111,170 0.0000002 2019/04/02 2019/04/03 to 2026/03/31
2019/04/0322026/03/31
2018/06/22 111,170 0.0000002 2020/03/31 2020/04/01 to 2026/03/31
2020/04/0122026/03/31
2018/06/22 111,170 0.0000002 2021/03/30 2021/03/31 to 2026/03/31
2021/03/3122026/03/31
2018/06/22 111,180 0.0000002 2022/03/29 2022/03/30 to 2026/03/31
2022/03/30%&2026/03/31
2018/06/22 25,000 0.0000002 2019/04/01 2019/04/02 to 2026/03/31
2019/04/02 22026/03/31
2018/06/22 25,000 0.0000002 2020/03/30 2020/03/31 to 2026/03/31

2020/03/31%2026/03/31

—E2-\Fi BNSBARAT #\
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BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

31 December 2018 (continued)

Date of grant

(yyyy/mm/dd) Number of RSUs
RHEBH 2 REIRD
(%/B./8H) BNEHE
2018/06/22 25,000
2018/06/22 25,000
2018/06/22 224,970
2018/06/22 180,930
2018/06/22 180,930
2018/06/22 180,930
2018/06/22 180,920
2018/06/22 12,500
2018/06/22 12,500
2018/06/22 12,500
2018/06/22 12,500
2018/06/22 8,330
2018/06/22 8,330
2018/06/22 8,330
2018/06/22 8,340
2018/06/22 12,500
2018/06/22 12,500
2018/06/22 12,500
2018/06/22 12,500

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

Exercise price
USS$ per share
1T1EE

EV VS
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002
0.0000002

0.0000002

0.0000002

27. L3 AERERIFR ()
—2-\F+=A=+-8 (@

Vesting date

(yyyy/mm/dd)
5% B HA
(%/R,/8)

2021/03/29
2022/03/28
2018/12/21
2019/05/31
2020/05/29
2021/05/28
2022/05/27
2019/04/01
2020/03/30
2021/03/29
2022/03/28
2019/04/15
2020/04/13
2021/04/12
2022/04/11
2019/04/01
2020/03/30
2021/03/29

2022/03/28

Exercise period
(yyyy/mm/dd)
1T1EHR
(F/8,/8)

2021/03/30 to 2026/03/31
2021/03/30%2026/03/31
2022/03/29 to 2026/03/31
2022/03/29 % 2026/03/31
2018/12/22 to 2026/03/31
2018/12/22 %2 2026/03/31
2019/06/01 to 2026/03/31
2019/06/01%2026/03/31
2020/05/30 to 2026/03/31
2020/05/30%2026/03/31
2021/05/29 to 2026/03/31
2021/05/29 2 2026/03/31
2022/05/28 to 2026/03/31
2022/05/28 22026/03/31
2019/04/02 to 2026/03/31
2019/04/02 % 2026/03/31
2020/03/31 to 2026/03/31
2020/03/31%2026/03/31
2021/03/30 to 2026/03/31
2021/03/30%2026/03/31
2022/03/29 to 2026/03/31
2022/03/29 %2 2026/03/31
2019/04/16 to 2026/03/31
2019/04/16 £2026/03/31
2020/04/14 to 2026/03/31
2020/04/14%2026/03/31
2021/04/13 to 2026/03/31
2021/04/13%2026/03/31
2022/04/12 to 2026/03/31
2022/04/12%2026/03/31
2019/04/02 to 2026/03/31
2019/04/02 2 2026/03/31
2020/03/31 to 2026/03/31
2020/03/31%2026/03/31
2021/03/30 to 2026/03/31
2021/03/30%2026/03/31
2022/03/29 to 2026/03/31
2022/03/29 % 2026/03/31
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(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 27. Ui BEEAIFRR (E)
31 December 2018 (continued) —E2-NF+=A=+—H (&)
Date of grant Exercise price Vesting date Exercise period
(yyyy/mm/dd) Number of RSUs  US$ per share (yyyy/mm/dd) (yyyy/mm/dd)
= HHA ZRFEKRGD TEE 5% B H 1T1EHR
(%/B/8) BUHE EnR (%/B./8R) (%,/B/R)
2018/06/22 75,000 0.0000002 2019/05/01 2019/05/02 to 2026/03/31
2019/05/02 £2026/03/31
2018/06/22 75,000 0.0000002 2020/04/29 2020/04/30 to 2026/03/31
2020/04/30%&2026/03/31
2018/06/22 75,000 0.0000002 2021/04/28 2021/04/29 to 2026/03/31
2021/04/29 22026/03/31
2018/06/22 75,000 0.0000002 2022/04/27 2022/04/28 to 2026/03/31

2022/04/28 22026/03/31

Sub total

et 2,126,700

Total

#st 48,837,240

The Group has used the discounted cash flow method to REXABZEANHNE  ~EEEEA
determine the underlying value of the Company and adopted B RSRELAEEARQAWHEHEE
equity allocation model to determine the fair value of the B WERARES REREERREY
underlying ordinary shares for the period prior to IPO. Key BRNATFE - BMRERARRKRTER
assumptions, such as discount rate and projections of future ZRRHERIDBHAREERREMETM
performance, are determined by the Group with best estimate. EE  RBEXRAREER  RONATE
After IPO, the fair value of shares should be the quoted price BEEARD TIRMD HIRE o

of the Company’s shares.

“TNFH ENERARLS @/.\
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BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

27. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 27. L BEEAIRR (B)

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

Based on the fair value of the underlying ordinary shares, the
Group has adopted the Hull-White Enhanced ESO Valuation
model to determine the fair value of the share options/RSUs
as of the grant/replacement date. Key assumptions are as
follows:

HAEESBRNATE  AEECEK
A Hull-White 1 32 ESOHEE R EEE
IR ZIREIRMOEMEERE,BUL
BHEIR A A - BERBREREIIAT ¢

As at
i

31 March 30 June 31 December 22 June
2016 2017 2017 2018
Z2-XFE  ZELF 2t ZB-N\F
=B=+—-HB RA=tH +=ZA=t—-H KA=t+=H
Dividend yield (%) iz B Uk = (%) - - - -
Expected volatility (%) TEHRENZE (%) 60.11 56.35 56.57 56.1
Risk-free interest rate (%) £ 3 B R 2R (%) 1.78 2.31 3.92 2.9
Expected forfeiture rate (%) TEHRZ R (%) 0-2 0-2 0-2 0-2

The fair value of each granted share option/RSU at each grant
date was US$9.7804, US$21.2634, US$1.0889, US$6.48 as
at 31 March 2016, 30 June 2017, 31 December 2017 and
22 June 2018, respectively. Under the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme/RSU Plan, the Group recognised share-based
payment expenses of RMB8,119,000 and RMB1,866,000
during the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017,
respectively.

The expected life of the options/RSUs is based on the
best estimation of management of the Company and is
not necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns that may
occur. The expected forfeiture rate and volatility reflects the
assumption that the historical forfeiture rate and volatility of
companies in the same industry is indicative of future trends,
which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options/RSUs granted was
incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

R-ZE—R"EF=A=+—-HB =—ZF—t
FXRNA=1+HA - =ZB—+tF+=A=1
—ARZE-NFERAZ+ZH &
HEREBRE ZRHEBKRMOENMR
EREBHNATES R A9.7804%
JC ~ 21.26343< 7T ~ 1.08893% T} 6.48
=TT o RBE-ZT—ARERMDBEE
ZIREIBRDENE > XEEREE=
E-NER-ZE—tHE+-A=1HIE
FED BIERUR M AERNTREAS
AE#8,119,000t & A K#51,866,000
JT o

BIREZRERDEMNTABIHRTS
ERARAEEBNREMETMEH
BRUARIRATREHBRVITER -
R R KB R KR —IERR - BIE
TEATNBERWERRRE R R
RRiBE  EHRBERNERER -

FTEAFERTRZEEREBRE
SZIRHIR M EM A EAITER o
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27.

28.

(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

As 31 December 2018, the Company has reserved 62,500,000
shares under the RSU Plan and had 48,837,240 RSUs
outstanding under the RSU Plan. The exercise in full of the
outstanding RSUs would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in a transfer of 48,837,240 ordinary
shares of the Company from Wanka Alliance Limited to the
employees of the Group.

On 3 November 2018, the Company adopted the post-IPO
share option scheme to attract, retain and motivate
employees, directors and other participants, and to provide
a means of compensating them through the grant of options
for their contribution to the growth and profits of the Group,
and to allow such employees, directors and other persons
to participate in the growth and profitability of the Group (the
“Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”).

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme will remain in force for
a period of 10 years from 3 November 2018 and the options
granted have a 10-year exercise period. The options may be
vested over such period(s) as determined by the board of the
Company in its absolute discretion subject to compliance with
the requirements under any applicable laws, regulations or
rules.

No share options have been granted or agreed to be granted
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during the year
ended 31 December 2018.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 92 to
93 of the financial statements.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
the Company’s subsidiaries which are registered in the PRC
shall appropriate a certain percentage of profit for the year
(after offsetting any prior years’ losses) calculated under
the accounting principles generally applicable to the PRC
enterprises to reserve funds which are restricted as to use.

27.

28.

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

LA BB 3 ()
R=ZZE-—NE+=—A=+—H &
PNEAIESREBRDENFTETHE
62,500,000 82 B2 17 » 7 Z PR HI AR 19 &
{5t &I T #4548,837,24018 15 R 1TE
WS REIBRMDENR o BEYTEE RITE
NWEREBRMDEN (RAQTNEREE
RIS ) B BEAR R F) 48,837,240
%38 IR B Wanka Alliance Limited#
ETAREEES -

REZ2-—N\F+—-B=H  XOFHRH
BEXRAHBERBRESE (BXA
FBERBREE ) - URS| - BRE
KHEIRS EERHEMSEE  LE
BREBREMNSNSERREMBERR
BEAMAAEHNER - URSZEES
EERHMATSRAEEERRA
Ao

BRORBRERBREN IR T
NEFE+—R=HEBFTFERBER - kB
REBRETERRTF - BRETR
EEE2RNFEENHEEE - HA
EFEABRAER  ROSUERNA
Fo

BE_Z-/\S+-A=1+—-HL#F
B SEREEALHBEERBRET
FREARER L BIRE -

f#t
AEERFEERBEFE 2 HHELH
EREBEBRUBRRENREES
BEZFABERBRET -

REPEABBEREERER - A2FRN
PEEMOHEL A AERRESEE
AR EEENETRAFENFER
BREBEFEAAERR)NET
BALLERES  MzZREEBESHARS
ZIPRH

—E2-\Fi BNSBARAT M\
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(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

29. BUSINESS COMBINATION

In 2018, the Group acquired a 100% equity interest in
Shanghai ChilLe settled by issuance of 12,024,632 ordinary
shares to its original shareholders. Shanghai ChiLe is engaged
in online-video distribution services. The acquisition was
made as part of the Group’s strategy to expand into online-
video distribution services in Mainland China. Shanghai
ChiLe was set up under PRC law and was controlled by the
Company through Wanka Huanju via a series of contractual
arrangements.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
Shanghai ChiLe as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

29. £ A

R=Z—N\F > NEEUWEE DEhLem
EHRE DEBRAHRBRERET
12,024,632 REBIRE(S o Ligithss
WEREGIEEMD BER o FIlugeE
AAREERREZTPEAERAEIREER
DEIRIEREEHY —ER D o EIEMEETHIR
EHREEEMRY - WHAQFBEBIT
MER B FER — RGN T HE MRS o

LR EER | EREER
HHQFENT

Fair value

recognised on

Notes acquisition

MigE  UWEBRERERR R A B

RMB’000

ARET T

Cash and bank balances HERIRITEEER 20,377

Accounts receivable FEURBRFR 37,091
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables BNRE - BER

H R IR 15,844

Property, plant and equipment M ~ BEREAE 13 1,247

Other intangible assets HittEp&EE 15 31,000

Deferred tax liabilities EEBIEEE 16 (7,124)

Accounts payable REEN (8,197)

Income tax payable i ANPZIREE (3,590)

Other payables and accruals HittfE (S RIEREFTEA (25,322)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BRATESIERMAR

ARBEEFE 61,326

Goodwill arising on acquisition BB EANEE 14 183,164

Satisfied by issuance of 12,024,632 Class B BIBETARAT
ordinary shares of the Company 12,024,632 %
BEZERMEN 26(c) 244,490

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018
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(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

29. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

The fair values of the accounts receivable and other
receivables as at the date of acquisition amounted to
RMB37,091,000 and RMB15,803,000, respectively. The
gross contractual amounts of accounts receivable and other
receivables were RMB37,420,000 and RMB15,803,000,
respectively, of which accounts receivable of RMB329,000
was expected to be uncollectible.

None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible
for income tax purposes.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
these subsidiaries is as follows:

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

29. EBEH (&)

JE Wit BR 3% R L fith B WURR 1B A UK BB B B
HAFED BB ARYS7,091,0007T
® AR#15,803,0007T ° FEWERF K
HihEWRIBATNESEI I AAR
#537,420,000t & AR#15,803,000
7t » HhE AR%329,000 7T HY FE UL BR
MIEHA SRR E o

DR MR B T S A A RSB B 1
TR, o

WEZENE R RANRERERED N
mT

RMB’000

AREET T

Cash consideration HERE -

Cash and bank balances acquired FrES IR & MIR1TH B8R 20,377
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included in FTAREZBHHBREREM

cash flows from investing activities BERBESEBYWARNELE 20,377

Since the acquisition, Shanghai ChiLe contributed
RMB92,518,000 to the Group’s revenue and caused a profit
of RMB42,830,000 to the consolidated loss for the year ended
31 December 2018. Had the combination taken place at the
beginning of 2018, the revenue of the Group and the loss of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 would have
been RMB1,560,732,000 and RMB420,095,000, respectively.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB330,189
included in administrative expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

BUEBLIR » Bt Rz =2 —
NE+ZA=+—HBILLEEALTEES
Bz A %92, 518,000 T B4RS
B8 B EUE R A R#42,830,0007T °
ELMEHRZE-—NEFEANCLEE
g IAEEREE-ZE-N\E+=
B=+—HLEEENWEEEBELS
Bl A& AR#¥1,560,732,000 T R A R #E
420,095,0007T °

REBEERZHAARYS30,189
T AT AGARBRERTNITHEX -

—E2-\Fi BNSBARAT #\
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30.

31.

32.

33.

/M Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s
bank loans are included in notes 19 and 23 to the financial
statements.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

As lessee

The Group leases certain of its office premises under
operating leases arrangements, with leases negotiated for
terms ranging from 4 to 31 months.

The Group had total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

30.

31.

32.

HABR

R|EBR - AEELBEFTEALAR
afE-

EEHH

REBRAEERITERIRANEEF
1B BTSRRI EE 192 23 ©

CEHERHE

fEBRAFA
AEEBBSERERHEEETHA
W - HERSNFIZIELRE -

REBEATHECEHE THEEARR
BREEENRERE  FREZBERW
T :

2018 2017

—F—N\%F —E—+tF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®ETT ARET T

Within one year —FR 5,039 1,206

In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EERF (BREEWME) 4,278 2,556

Total #Et 9,317 3,762
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 33. EAKiE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any
significant capital commitments.
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34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

Major non-cash transactions

(i)

On 15 November 2017, the Company issued
3,806,206 Class B ordinary shares to a mobile
phone manufacturer for a total cash consideration
of US$1,142 and entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement with the mobile phone
manufacturer to obtain certain commercial
resources of the mobile phone manufacturer.
The transaction was regarded as an equity-
settled transaction. The Group recognised
the commercial resources obtained from the
cooperation agreement as an intangible asset
of RMB20,152,000 (note 15), with its fair value
at initial recognition determined based on the
valuation result performed by an independent
third party valuer. The difference of RMB7,312,000
between the then fair value of Class B ordinary
shares and the cash consideration and intangible
assets received by the Group was recorded in cost
of sales.

On 12 March 2018, the Group acquired a
100% equity interest in Shanghai ChiLe from
its original shareholders, which was settled by
issuing 12,024,632 Class B ordinary shares of the
Company to its original shareholders.

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

34. GFEHERERMEE

EX#RERS

(i)

(ii)

R-ZE—tHF+—A+H
B AAa[n—&F#
B8 173,806,206 %
BEZER HR2ERE
B1,142% x> WHZA
FHREGER VBB AE
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NETEHEER - ZE
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HENRZ - REBBKRE
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BBLE=HLEMET
HEEERBEE - BEZE
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KEHESRERERE
EZEHNARY7,312,000
TCERRRT ASHERA ©
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34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 34. ZERERERME (8)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) BAEEEIFRASINEBEIES)
activities

REMBRRRABEEE S
HEENHOREREHRYK
(REGERERERFAAIINE

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances in the consolidated statement of financial
position for liabilities arising from financing activities,

which provides the information included in the BT :
consolidated statement of cash flows, is as follows:
Interest-
Other Preferred  Convertible bearing bank
payables shares bonds Warrants  borrowings
it ik  TRRES RREE  GRBTER
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETR
At 1 January 2018 R=B-NE
—-A-A 92,954 259,944 25,297 41,358 10,000
Changes from financing RERERELE:
cash flows:
Loans from banks RERTHER - - - - 154,000
Repayment of bank loans BERTER - - - - (18,000)
Proceeds from issuance BTUBRES
of convertible bonds P58 - - 20,000 - -
Repayment of convertible bonds  {EE AR ES (29,195) - (32,000) - -
Proceeds from issuance BOEER
of preferred shares Fr550E - 31,908 = = =
Exercise of warrants TERRES - 61,787 = = =
Listing expenses paid Bﬁtﬁﬁi (38,897) - - - -
Dividend paid ERRE (11,301) - - - -
Loan from employees REEENEN 600 - - - -
Repayment of loans BEREES
from employees HER (4,080) = = = =
Interest expenses paid BEAAEREY (4,451) = = = =
Other changes: Hitng) - - - - -
Purchase of property, BENE  BE
plant and equipment K& (35)
Acquisition of a subsidiary ke — B AR 25,322 - - - -
Changes related to REEHERS
operating cash flows BENEE (24,371) - - = -
Listing expenses payable FEft EmmB% 74,242 - - - -
Convertible bonds RRES
interest expense FIER% - - 1,628 - -
Interest expense related to HRBEEN
loans from employees ENEEN
MERX 242 - - - -
Bank borrowing interest expense  SR{TERAE X 4,346 - - - -

/% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018
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34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 34. FEBERERMEE (E)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) RUEEBIFRSIEE BERYEED
activities (continued) (&)
Interest-
Other Preferred  Convertible bearing bank
payables shares bonds Warrants  borrowings

RAFEf A Bk  THRRRS iR ETRMRATHER
RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

ARETT AR®TR AREBTR ARETRT  ARETR

Fair value of warrants RETRER
at issuance date REZNATE - - (3,202) 3,202 =
Fair value changes on TRREEATE
convertible notes 25 - - 3,202 - -
Fair value of warrants T B R AE
at exercise date ENDTE - 297,540 - (297,674) =
Transfer to preferred shares BREEER (60,523) 60,523 = = =
Convertible bonds unsettled REBETRRES
part transfer to BrEEZEM
other payables EfFE 29,195 - (14,925) - -
Fair value changes AV EEE - 217,123 - 261,791 =
Exchange realignment R - 53,428 - (8,677) -
Converted to ordinary shares ~ E#ALER - (982,253) = = =
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-N\F
+=A=t+-A 54,048 - - - 146,000

—E2-\Fi BNSBARAT J\
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34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

34. GEBERERME ()

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) REEEEIFISIEB/IES
activities (continued) &)
Interest-
Other Preferred Convertible bearing bank
payables shares bonds Warrants borrowings
Hitt A Bilk  TRRES RREE  ERTEX
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETr ARETR ARETn ARETx
At 1 January 2017 RZZ—tF
—-A-H 2,835 64,667 13,950 17,467 -
Changes from financing BERLRELT:
cash flows:
RE—BERTH
Loan from a bank EX - - = = 10,000
Proceeds from issuance RTRRES
of convertible bonds Fr550E - - 17,195 = =
Advance received for RBEELR
subscription of EWBENTE
preferred shares 60,523 - - - -
Proceeds from issuance BOEER
of preferred shares Fr550E - 71,705 = = =
Loans from employees REEENEN 3,480 - - - -
Interest expense paid BEAAEREY (151) - - - -
Other changes: Hitn2g :
Purchase of property, BENE  BE
plant and equipment & (34) - - - -
Changes related to REEHERE
operating cash flows BENEE 25,851 - - - -
Convertible bonds TRRES
interest expense FEEX - = 3,303 = =
Bank borrowing BITERNERS
interest expense 151 - - - -
Interest expense related to HEREEENEN
loan from employees BRENFERAZ 74 = - - =
Fair value of warrants AT A HARR
at issuance date REENATE - = (9,151) 9,151 =
Unpaid investment AIRERE
consideration 225 - - - -
Fair value changes AFEEE - 134,443 - 16,239 -
Exchange realignment A - (10,871) - (1,499) -
At 31 December 2017 R=Z—tF
+ZB=t-H 92,954 259,944 25,297 41,358 10,000

/% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@)

(b)

©

There were no related party transactions during the year
ended 31 December 2018 except the details stated
below.

The balances with the director as at 31 December 2017
as disclosed in note 18 and note 21 to the financial
statements are non-trade related, interest-free and are
repayable within one year.

In addition, as disclosed in note 23 to the financial
statements, the Group’s bank loans of RMB10,000,000
as at 31 December 2017 were secured by a property
held by a director and guaranteed by two directors and
their spouses.

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

35. EAlEARES

(@)

REE-Z2-NE+-A=1+—
ALEETRTVEBLIRS
HET AR ABBR P o

BHEEE M 18 R 21 A
R=Z—tF+=A=+-AR
EBNEBAREI I 28
RAER—E AR o

BEHh o 350 B 75 SR R T EE 23 P
WEE  AEER-_ZT—t&F+
“A=1+—HHERITERARE
10,000,000 T J3 LA — BEEFT#F
MZEEIRT > WHWAREZRMK
ZRBER -

Compensation of key management personnel of the () AEEFEEEASMNEMH
Group
2018 2017
—T-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR¥T T
Short-term employee benefits EEEEEF 1,125 894
Equity-settled share option expenses DR EENEBRERS 408 503
Pension scheme contributions BREFTEIMHRK 280 120
Total compensation paid to key BEEEBEAESTS
management personnel FOE A RSk 1,813 1,517

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial
statements.

FRESREETHASHMAE—D
HIEERTHEIRRMEES o
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY  36. #&fEslE|naEr TR

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial BESRMIANBERARNREEN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as B

follows:

Financial assets SREE

2018 —B-N\E

Financial assets
at amortised

cost

RESHR AR

HEREE

RMB’000

AREBTT

Accounts receivable FEURBRFR 443,889
Financial assets included in prepayments, sTATENRIE - HtEWGRIE

other receivables and other assets FHEHMEENESRERE 47,533

Pledged deposits 2IEBER 34,317

Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 303,436

Total HEt 829,175

2017 —E—+5F

Loans and

receivables

ERREWRRIE

RMB’000

AREET T

Accounts receivable FEURBRFR 182,608
Financial assets included in prepayments, sTATEROE - HA IR

other receivables and other assets REMEENESRMEE 36,918

Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEEY 11,490

231,016

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 36. RE\EHI ST A (&)
(continued)

Financial liabilities ol = R
2018 2017
—T—)\F —E—+t5F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBT T

Financial liabilities at amortised cost BIEE R ANFTER
oz =K
Accounts payable FEFBRFR 48,542 52,576
Financial liabilities included in other FTAHEMENARIER
payables and accruals EEtERNESRAs
- non-current portion — SEENHAER o 500 61,023
— current portion — BNERER 37,758 27,774
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T ERITER 146,000 10,000
Convertible bonds AR ES - 25,297
232,800 176,670
Financial liabilities at fair value BAFEFT ABRZH
through profit or loss SREE
Preferred shares BER - 259,944
Warrants IR - 41,358
- 301,302
Total et 232,800 477,972

—E-\FH BMEHERAS &\
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 37. £ TAMAFERAFE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments not measured at fair value at the end of the
reporting period, other than those with carrying amounts that

Bk

reasonably approximate to fair values largely due to the short ERAFENT :
term maturities of these instruments, are as follows:

Financial liabilities

ERBRE

AEEMIWFRAFEFENEHTE
(HEHBRBEMEAERENFES
EAEH AR RREHRORE

Carrying amounts

BRTE{E
2018 2017
—T—/)\fF —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Financial liabilities included in other payables T AE At FRIER
cHMAas
- non-current portion —JERIHAE 500 61,023
Convertible bonds AR E 5 - 25,297
500 86,320
Fair values
AFE
2018 2017
—B-N\E —E—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT ARET T
Financial liabilities included in other payables s AN RIERN
==l
— non-current portion — JEENHAE o 500 61,023
Convertible bonds AR ES - 34,268
500 95,291

Management has assessed that the fair values of pledged
deposits, cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable,
accounts payable, financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets, financial liabilities included
in other payables and accruals and interest-bearing bank
borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short term maturities of these instruments.

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The Group’s finance department is responsible for
determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting date,
the finance department analyses the movements in the values
of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of financial
liabilities included in other payables have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities (level 2).

The fair values of the convertible bonds have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar term, credit risk
and remaining maturities (level 2).

There were no assets and liabilities measured at fair value
except preferred shares and warrants as at 31 December
2018 and 2017. For the valuation techniques used and the
key inputs to the valuation, please refer to notes 24 and 25 to
the financial statements.

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

37. EMTAMAFERAFE

B4k (%)

AEENPEHBIEEFEETRTAR
FEFENBERERF -REHREAR
B BBEIHMEEsMERTANEERE
HE) - WHEGERTANERRE AR
e

SRMEERREBENATVERAEESE
AR S CatSEEHERIN) TIRE
MEREAR

Rt A FEBEHRAT A ERRR :

SEA BB IER SR BB
2 0 AFETBIBE R BE BN
EHEERRNSBHROTA (E=
) B AE AN SRR A RS
HEMEBH -

THRRES 0 A PEDSEBR KRS
FEZEHNTARLEELER - 55
BRRHSHROTE (E=ER) M
SESER

RZB-N\ER=—T—tHF+-HA=+
— B BREERKEZREZRIN - HER
AFEFENEERER - BREMGER
FT R R ET R fiT R B S E A 8% © B2
BB IS R R MITE24 & 25 ©
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 37. €T RMAFERAFE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) B4R (&)
Fair value hierarchy AF{EHER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRUAFREEESRTEANDIFETE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: B4 :
Liabilities measured at fair value: RAFETENERE

As at 31 December 2017

R-'—tF+=-A=+—H

Fair value measurement using

ERUT FEEHN D FEE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
SE R BEARAUHE BEARTTHE
IBRE LD ¢ LOPN ¢
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(F—EBHR) (BZER) (E=E4) “st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTTT ARBTT ARBETTT AREET T
Preferred shares BER - - 259,944 259,944
Warrants R - - 41,358 41,358
- - 301,302 301,302

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities.

FR - BESHEERERABENDAY
EFfBEE -BRARF-_ERzEEHR
TEEAREHE=FROIER
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 37. £l TAMAFERAFE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) B4R (&)

Fair value hierarchy (continued) AF{HER (BB)

Below is a movement analysis of Level 3 financial liabilities R-E-NR-ZE—tF+-A=1+—
measured at fair value as at 31 December 2018 and 2017. HEAFEGFENE=BREHMEEN

SHAFAT o

2018 2017
—F-0\E —ZT—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETRT AR®TT

Preferred shares and warrants BRI
At beginning of year F9) 301,302 82,134
Additions wNE 95,633 80,856
Warrants exercised EATERIRRER 61,653 -
Fair value losses recognised in profit or loss RERAERH

DNFERE 478,914 150,682
Converted to ordinary shares i AT AR (982,253) =
Exchange realignment (& 2R 44,751 (12,370)
At end of year FR - 301,302
The Company engages an independent third party valuer to RAGEFEBLE=FHEMEFED
evaluate at least once a year the fair values of the financial FEFERAEATBRE AZIE (=
instruments whose fair value measurements use significant B&)ETAFEFENEMIANA
unobservable inputs (Level 3). The financial instruments of S — K o ZNE [E{FE B K o] E 2
the Group whose fair value measurements use significant ABBETAFEFENESH T BB
unobservable inputs include preferred shares and warrants. BER KR ERREE -
Key inputs used in valuing the financial instruments whose HATEFESPEREF=EBRANERT
fair value measurements are categorised as Level 3 mainly BETHERANBERE AZRBEEE
include the terminal growth rates, WACC, DLOM and other BIEKERRE - MEFIHEREA
assumptions. Please refer to notes 24 and 25 for further RAORBETIIRR EMAMERE o £
details. FHIEESHMEE24 %25 -
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. &ptEIEERBERBE

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and
cash equivalents, interest-bearing bank borrowings, preferred
shares, warrants and convertible bonds. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as accounts receivable and accounts payable,
which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on
minimising potential adverse effects of these risks, with
material impact, on the Group’s financial performance. The
board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

The Group mainly operates in Mainland China with
most of the Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and
transactions principally denominated in Renminbi and
United States dollars. The Group has not used any
derivative to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk.

The following table indicates the approximate change
in the Group’s loss before tax and the Group’s equity in
response to reasonably possible changes in the foreign
exchange rates to which the Group has significant
exposure at the end of the reporting period with all other
variables held constant:

FEENTESHTABRERERRE
ZEY - STRRITEN > BER - RR
ERETHRRES - ZSTMTANE
EEHNAFEESELEMTES - &
SETMEZERAXBEEMAEESIH
NHMEREEREE - AIIEKAR
K EASERAR ©

FAEEESRTAMTRNEZRRBI
EmE - FERBREABERERRE - A%
ENEERREETIEINEERE
ZEEREARTENERE NS EI
RENBETANHE -EZETTEEY
HAEEEZERERBERILBRNT o

FEBEEEFERERRER
28 HEANIEREE &
BERRZEETEUARBERET
FHE - AEBWEMEREFITE
T HEhE TS R SNE R o

TRIIREMBEEMEZEERETR
BN T A& B A )R &5 HA R &
STEREBHINEEZFTSIER
AR B =R ANEERBIA
B 1R R AN & B R 5 T R AR 40 2
B :
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. EREIGEEBERBIK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
Increase/
Change in (decrease) Increase/
exchange in loss (decrease)
rate before tax in equity
BRELAIE 1R R

ER2E #mORd) B ORD)
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% AR®TRT AR®TR

31 December 2018 —E-N\F
+=A=+—8H

If the Renminbi Yuan weakens EARMHETRE

against the United States dollar 5) (5,513) (14,290)
If the Renminbi Yuan strengthens & AR® R ETHHE

against the United States dollar 5 5,513 14,290
If the Renminbi Yuan weakens EAREHBLTRE

against the Hong Kong dollar (5) (11,111) (14,349)
If the Renminbi Yuan strengthens & AR R B THE

against the Hong Kong dollar 5 11,111 14,349
31 December 2017 —E2—+tF

+=A=+—8H

If the Renminbi Yuan weakens EARMHETRE

against the United States dollar 5) (563) (15,562)
If the Renminbi Yuan strengthens B AR¥ R ETHE

against the United States dollar 5 563 15,562
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy NEFEFEHERTHEE2EHFN
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers EoFETRES - AEBNBE
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to EREEEREEEHETTEN
credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable EEHALKRBEEEZIEF ° It
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the G FEURGE R LUFR B BR 12 G 7
Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. For EEWERRRIT RE X o giif
transactions that are not denominated in the functional IR E B E s E
currency of the relevant operating unit, the Group does NRXEMsS » AEBITEELRE
not offer credit terms without the specific approval of EEERETEEEENERT
the head of credit control. B8 -

—E2-\Fi BNSBARAT #\
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31

38. £RtEEEEBAIERBE
(#8)
(b) EEREE (&)
R-B—N\E+=-A=+—818

December 2018 REERREREESE
The table below shows the credit quality and the TRITKR=-ZB-—NE+=ZA=
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s T—BRBAEEEEREXZS
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due NWEEEZR&aEERE » £
information unless other information is available without ZMRBEAHER (BRIFEFHA
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification BABZHARE N AESH
as at 31 December 2018. The amounts presented are HihER)  URFREEMED
gross carrying amounts for financial assets. Bo-MEleBATHEERT
HE -
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+={@8A
HHEE
g > HRMEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach
P ER 1 PEER2 PRE3 LA
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETRT AR¥TR AR®TR AR®T:R
Accounts receivable* FEUBRTR - = = 444,023 444,023
Financial assets included ST AFE{SFIE »
in prepayments, other HAthFEWFRIE
receivables and other REAMEEN
assets SREE
- Normal* —E&E* 47,533 - - - 47,533
Pledged deposits BIRHER
— Not yet past due — KRB 34,317 - = — 34,317
Cash and cash equivalents B&RES
ZEY
_ Not yet past due Rk 303,436 - - - 303436
385,286 - - 444,023 829,309
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38. £REMEEBFERBUR

(%)

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31

December 2018 (continued)

* For accounts receivable to which the Group applies the
simplified approach for impairment, information based on
the provision matrix is disclosed in note 17 to the financial
statements.

*k

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past due
and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial
assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Maximum exposure as at 31 December 2017

As at 31 December 2017 the Group had certain
concentrations of credit risk as 27% of the Group’s
accounts receivable were due from the Group’s five
largest customers. In view of the aforementioned and
the fact that these customers have a good track record
with the Group based on past experience and no
significant credit risks on the balances. The carrying
amount of the accounts receivable represents the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation
to such financial assets. The Group has policies in
place to ensure that sales are made to customers with
an appropriate credit history. The credit risk of the
Group’s other financial assets arises from default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amounts of these instruments. The Group does
not hold collateral as security.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from accounts receivable
is disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements.

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., accounts receivable) and projected cash
flows from operations.
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[
(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBEETRS UARBTTIITR)
38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. £RLEIFEEBERBIR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) RHELEM (E)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities rEEEREERRESHARNE
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the ERHEARR (BB RTAAREER AR
contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows: T
31 December 2018 —F-/N\E+-HA=+—H
Within
1 year or 1to 2to
on demand 2 years 5 years Total
1ERTHRER 1ZE25 2F5% “ast

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR®TT AREFTR ARETR

Accounts payable FE{FBRFR 48,542 - - 48,542
Financial liabilities T AHMEARR
included in other HREFER
payables and accruals HKIERERS
- non-current portion  —3EENEAEES - - 500 500
— current portion — BNEAEE & 37,758 - - 37,758
Interest-bearing bank T ERITHE
borrowings 151,690 - - 151,690
237,990 - 500 238,490
31 December 2017 —T—tFE+-A=+—H
Within
1 year or 1to 2to
on demand 2 years 5 years Total
1FRFRER 182%F 2E5F st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TT ARBTR AR¥TR

Accounts payable FE{SBRFX 52,576 - - 52,576
Financial liabilities T AR
included in other EHREGTTER
payables and accruals HERIEE
- non-current portion  —3EENEAEES - 60,523 500 61,023
— current portion —BIEAEE 29,993 - - 29,993
Interest-bearing bank T EIRITER
borrowings 10,524 - - 10,524
Convertible bonds AR E S 41,196 - - 41,196
134,289 60,523 500 195,312
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(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives for managing capital are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratio in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion
to risk. The Group manages its capital structure and
makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debts. In
the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
Group’s capital risk is low. No change was made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the year.

The Group monitors capital using current ratio, which
is total current assets divided by total current liabilities,
and gearing ratio, which is total liabilities divided by total
assets. The current ratios and gearing ratios at the end
of each of the reporting periods are as follows:

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

38. £REMEEBFERBUR

(%)

(d)

EXEHE
FEBEREANTEZEBRBR
BASENSESERD Lk
FREMNEARLLR  LIXEER
BRRBEACRREE-

rEERABLEAREERS
B AKESERHEAREY
RIBEBRRBERBEEEN
REREHEEELRAE RER
RABRELRE  AEETES
AEARRETRR - HTHRR
BRBHEEEMRE - AAFE
ERR  ARENELRRERR
B-RFER > EXEENER
RS FIIEBER L -

REEBEBERARELL R (LUR
HEERERARBAGERTE)
REXAEER (LAERERUA
BEIEZER - REWEHK
HRBLLERREARERMT -

2018 2017

—T—)\&F —E—+F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREET T

Total current assets TBEEAER 1,057,440 287,815
Total non-current assets ERBEEAE 255,494 37,896
Total current liabilities RENE B 430,967 135,858
Total non-current liabilities FREEEHEEE 6,473 362,325
Current ratio BB EEEE 2.45 2.12
Gearing ratio EREEE 33% 153%
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(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

39. MEHEEIR
RZE-—NAF=A=+=H £&2QF
EEERARMERBE-ZE—XRE=
B=1+t—HAHEHHN-"ZFT—<ERH
@ a2 BARA ([ETZEAD
113,662,000 = bR I B& 15 B84
HAFRRAEMRE  FAEE (R
H ) o RIBRATEZSNIERBIK
HERBEEENREBTE  ESRENSZ
PREIRDEE(AS B IR A HAE U F AR
BFERA - BREARENE—FFHE
ESHEAQARERA_E-NF=A_
TZHHHEBASE -

39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 22 March 2019, the board of directors of the Company
resolved and approved to grant 13,662,000 RSUs to 22
grantees (the “Grantees”) pursuant to the 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme adopted on 31 March 2016, subject to
acceptance by the Grantees (the “Grant”). The RSUs granted
shall be vested to the Grantees within four years from the
date of Grant in accordance with the vesting schedule
determined by the board of directors of the Company upon
all vesting conditions having been satisfied. For further details
of the Grant, please refer to the related announcement of the
Company dated 22 March 2019.

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 40. KA TMABIRR T

THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the RATARE BRI BER R TROE R0
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: T -
2018 2017
—ET—)\F —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—EHB LA RMNIRE 669,898 246,930
Total non-current assets FREEELRE 669,898 246,930
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Cash and bank balances HERIRITERR 232,729 12
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets F&{fFXIE + HAfEWRFRIE
MEMEE 6,575 =
Total current assets BB EAE 239,304 12
CURRENT LIABILITIES piEI=RE
Other payables and accruals HiEMAFIEREGTER 84,107 33
Total current liabilities RENEEHAE 84,107 33
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) TmEEE,(Af)FHE 155,197 (21)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES HEEBRBERS 825,095 246,909
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(Expressed in thousands in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BRBEERI UARBFTIIT)

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 40. KATMBRRFE (8)
THE COMPANY (continued)

2018 2017
—T-N\E —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTR ARET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FERBEE
Other payables H A FRIE - 60,523
Preferred shares BER - 259,944
Warrants R REE - 41,358
Total non-current liabilities EREE B - 361,825
Net assets/(liabilities) BE (834 825,095 (114,916)
EQUITY e
Issued capital BE(TIRAR 1 _*
Treasury shares [EXEANE) —* _
Other reserves (note) H i (ME) 825,094 (114,916)
Total equity/(deficiency in assets) RREAERE(EETR) 825,095 (114,916)
& The amount is less than RMB1,000. * B TEARK1,0007T °
Note: PiE -
A summary to the Company’s reserve is as follows: AARZ HEREEHTIAOT
Employee
share-based Exchange
Share Capital compensation fluctuation  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
NRAA
ERMES
BRAEME BAfEE MG NERBRE ZitER @zt

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARBTR ARBTRT ARETR ARETR  ARETR

(Note 26) (Note 27)
(KizE26) (FizE27)
At 1 January 2017 R-B—+E—F—A 10,454 3,634 28,799 (4,469) (47,792) 0374)
Loss for the year FRER - - - - (150,709) (150,709)
Other comprehensive FREMEEBA
income for the year
Exchange differences EXER - - - 15,822 - 15,822
Total comprehensive loss ~ FRZEEEHAE
for the year - - - 15,822 (150,709) (134,887)
Issue of shares BT 27,479 - - - - 27,479
Equity-settled share DEREEN
option arrangements G drez 3 - - 1,866 - - 1,866

At 31 December 2017 RIE—tF
+=A=+-H 37,933 3,634 30,665 11,353 (198,501) (114,916)

“TNFH ENERARLS @/‘\
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BREHERI UARBTFTIIT)

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 40. KATMBRRFET (8)
THE COMPANY (continued)

Employee
share-based Exchange
Share Capital compensation fluctuation Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
WA
EiEiES
Fr by (E 2EN FUlRE  SNERERE At @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFR  AREFT  ARETT ARKTR ARETR  ARETR

(Note 26) (Note 27)
(Hf&E26) (Bakar)

At 31 December 2017and  R=ZE—+F

1 January 2018 +ZA=+-BK

—E2-\¥-F—-H 37,933 3,634 30,665 11,353 (198,501) (114,916)

Loss for the year FREE - - - - (524,838) (524,838)
Other comprehensive FREMEZEESE

loss for the year
Exchange differences ERER - - - (45,554) - (45,554)
Total comprehensive loss A2 HAEIELE

for the year - - - (45,554) (524,838) (570,392)
Issue of shares BTG 1,505,917 (3,634) - - - 1,502,283
Equity-settled share WRHEEN

option arrangements G drez 3 - - 8,119 - - 8,119
At 31 December 2018 A\ZE-N\E

+=B=+-A 1,543,850 - 38,784 (34,201) (723,339) 825,094
Employee share-based compensation reserve comprises DRHpAERNESTFMREREREER
the fair value of share options granted which are yet to be HHERITENERE A TE - B
exercised, as further explained in the accounting policy for HBERME24URDAERNARES
share-based payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements. BURE— SRR o ZFIEMRITEAEE
The amount will either be transferred to the share premium B IR RE RS B I IR (DR B ER - ShAERERE
account when the related options are exercised, or be BRRE B HA SR 15 % UR BB i = SR8 o
transferred to accumulated loss should the related options
expire or be forfeited.
41. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 41. HLERMTERER

STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for R=ZE-AF=A=+=H EE8E
issue by the board of directors on 22 March 2019. HEE IR RETI B BAFE IR R ©
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Definitions

R

“AGM” or

“Annual General Meeting”

[RFAFXE |

“Articles of Association”

A ERAA

“associate(s)”

R IN

“Audit Committee”

[EZEEE

“Auditor”
[ #8A

“Board” or
“Board of Directors”

[EEE)

“Beijing JinChi”

Mbmsith |

“ChiLe Consolidated

Affiliated Entities”
[ithEe S e BEE
“CG Code”

EgEaFA

“China” or “PRC”

[ |

the forthcoming 2018 annual general meeting of the Company to be held
on 6 June 2019
ARBABR-ZB-NERARNBETHNERE-S-N\FFERTBFAE

the amended articles of association of the Company adopted on 3
November 2018 and effective on 21 December 2018 and as amended
from time to time
AARR=ZZE—-NF+—-A=ZAEARER=Z—-N\FE+-A=+—HB%
MR RS RT A B E 2R

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

AR EmRAE T ZARNERE

the audit committee of the Company
RAREREES

Ernst & Young, the auditor of the Company
RABZHEI R RS TS

the board of directors of our Company
RABESS

Beijing Jinchi Guangxin Technology Co., Ltd. (It Z&tMEEREKRHE
FRA 7)), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC with limited
liability on 13 May 2009, which holds 49% of the equity interests in
Shanghai ChiLe

EREHEERNEROERAE  —FKR=2BEAFHA+=ZARBFEE
FREMAINERAT - 58 LShg49% KRiE

Shanghai ChiLe and its subsidiaries
Babi=yEy S R=ti) = NG|

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules

EHBRAE T NERBNEEEETA

the People’s Republic of China and, except where the context requires
and only for the purpose of this annual report, references in this annual
report to the PRC or China do not include Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau
REARANE  BRYXEZEERERAFRMNS - AFBAFENTE
BFRELE  EBRRF

—E2-\FiH BNSBARATE g\



Definitions

R

“Company”, “our Company”,
“the Company”

“connected person(s)”

[BREAL]

“connected transaction(s)”

[FAERS
“Consolidated

Affiliated Entities”
[ & EEE

“Contractual Arrangements”

[&#%=H]

“Controlling Shareholders”

I 2R AR |

“DAPG”
[ DAPG |

“Director(s)”

[EE
“Global Offering”

[&BkEE ]

“Group”, “our Group”,

“the Group”, “we”,
or “our”

US”,

[ AEEE =[]

*

a-

For identification purposes only

Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

Wanka Online Inc. (BW=EAGMRAF*), an exempted company with
limited liability incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on 7
November 2014 and the Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1762)

Wanka Online Inc.(BWEZEHAERQF) » —KR=Z—NE+—-HFtHR
BRSNS LIEEMRINERRZERLT  EROPEAER LD (R
MR 1 1762)

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BEA EmRAETZARNERE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EmRAETZANERE

the entity we control through the Contractual Arrangements, namely
Shanghai ChiLe and Huanju Times, and their respective subsidiaries
BMEBENTHZFINER LB RBBER  REZEWEAR

the series of contractual arrangements entered into by, among others
Shanghai ChiLe and Huanju Times, our Consolidated Affiliated Entities
and its shareholders, details of which are described in the section
headed “Report of the Directors — Connected Transactions — Contractual
Arrangements”

H(EHEE) LBt RBBERR (RMNEHHBEERRARR)ILHN
—RIEGHAZY  BRAFBHEANESSRE —BERS —a0TH -
E0]

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and, in the context
of this annual report, refers to Mr. Gao, Mr. Zheng, Wanka Media Limited
and Countryside Tech Inc.

AR ETRABETZANRER - RAFR - DIESEE WAL » Wanka
Media Limited & Countryside Tech Inc.

Data Al Platform Group, our proprietary platform powered by artificial
intelligence technology

HEATERFAESSE  ARMAUAIESRNERBNERF A

the director(s) of our Company

RATRES

the Hong Kong public offering and the international offering of shares in
connection with the IPO
B EHMEENE B ARSRERBEREERD

the Company, its subsidiaries and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities (the
financial results of which have been consolidated and accounted for as
a subsidiary of our Company by virtue of the Contractual Arrangements)
from time to time

ARE HEABZHWBLARAREHEBER (HUBEECHSHRIERSE
ABRFHERATMEAR)




Definitions

R

“Hong Kong” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
[&E] B PEEBERTHRE
“Hong Kong dollars” or Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
“HK dollars” or “HK$”
[#J ] B B BBEEEY
“Hong Kong Public the 7,639,000 Shares initially being offered for subscription in the Hong
Offer Shares” Kong Public Offering
[EEARBEERS B BELCEBREYDSIRE UMERENT,639,000 8% 45
“Hong Kong Public Offering” the offer of the Hong Kong Public Offer Shares for subscription by the
public in Hong Kong
[BEEAFBE] B REFBARBEROUEESBELRALRE
“HKFRS” Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
= BRI R E%ER
[ EEMBHREER B BBUKREER
“Huanju Times” Huanju Shidai Culture Media (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (BRERBFR S0 {LEE (4E3)

BBRA 7)), a company established in the PRC on March 7, 2014, owned
by Mr. Gao and Mr. Zheng as to 72% and 28% of its share capital,

respectively

[ EREFA B BEERAXEEERE (XR)BRAR —RR-ZZE-—NF=AtBAEHFEK
YRR SEERBEEDHIEEET72% K28%RA

“International Offer Shares” the 68,751,000 Shares initially being offered by the Company in the
International Offering

[ EIRREE &Rz {5 | B ARAARERRERBEENIIR2M968,751,000 R KR 7

“International Offering” the offer of the International Offer Shares outside the United States in

offshore transactions in accordance with Regulation S and in the United
States to qualified institutional buyers only in reliance on Rule 144A or any
other available exemption from registration under the U.S. Securities Act

[ BIPREEE B MESHEAUBERZHFRNEXEEN  RERB144ARHIREE(F %
E)NEMHAERAREECAEEXBRANSEREBERRZRER
BREERH

—E2-\FiH BNSBARATE #\



Definitions

R

“Listing”
(=

“Listing Date”

[ EH B

“Listing Rules”

[ LAl

“Main Board”

[ &R

“MHA”

[ EsE 2 |

“Model Code”

[=%=<rAl ]

“Mr. Gao”

(& ]

“Mr. Zheng”

[ERSE |

“Nomination Committee”

[RBEEE

“Post-IPO Share

Option Scheme”

[ ERARE ERMEtEsT &

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
IR RO AT BT EAR £

21 December 2018, being the date the Shares were listed on the Stock
Exchange

“E-NF+ZAZ+—H - IROREERA LR EHE

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (as amended from time to time)
BEBHMERZMARAR(RSZ LHRA) BREHERT)

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operates in parallel with the
Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange

GXTEENR S XSG (TEERETS)  BYNEXAGEMIEE I
1TEE

Mobile Hardcore Alliance, a network of seven Android smartphone
manufacturers in China, namely Huawei, OPPO, vivo, Coolpad, Gionee,
Lenovo and Meizu

WZHEE > ATELRLEEEFHREERRL  BES - OPPO - vivo »
B ~ &3~ BEAA R MR

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
EmR A ST AE( EMBITAESETESRZNERETE)

Mr. GAO Dinan (&3 §), our chairman of the Board, executive Director,
chief executive officer and one of our Controlling shareholders

EHRBEE  HMNESSIE TES EEHTEREMNES—F
ZERRR

Mr. ZHENG Wei (&Ff1&), our vice chairman of the Board, executive Director
and one of our Controlling shareholders

EIRAL  RMESERIER  ATESREMANEF —BEZRRE

nomination committee of the Company

KABREBEES

the share option scheme adopted by our Company on 3 November 2018,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section headed “Report of
the Directors — Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”
ARARZZE-—NF+—-B=HERANBRETS > EXERTBERIE
EERE-ERLHBRERBRES -8




Definitions

R

“Prospectus”

Bz &R |

“QAA”

[k e FRESE A |

“Quick App(s)”

["BeAER |

“Regulation S”

[ SHfl ]

“Remuneration Committee’

[FHNEEE

“Relevant Period”

[ AEARARE |

“Reporting Period”
[$R&H] |

“RMB”
TAR¥

“RSU(S)”

I 2R A% o B8 fir |

the prospectus of the Company dated 11 December 2018 relating to its
initial public offering

AARRMA-ZE-\F+ A+ -HEBRAEBR A HBENERER

Quick App Alliance, a network of ten major Android smartphone
manufacturers, namely vivo, Huawei, OPPO, Xiaomi, Lenovo, Gionee,
Meizu, ZTE, Nubia and Oneplus

REMBE BT AREEREFHEER - Blvivo~ #£A ~ OPPO ~ /K »
B18 ~ £ - MR - PEL - BHETER—MN

mobile apps that allow instant usage without having to visit any app store
or download anything, and are easier to develop than traditional mobile
apps

RFNREANBEEARS  EFFRTMEABESLTHEMRS - B
LERBBERARFE S R

Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act
KB EE T HSHKEA

the remuneration committee of the Company

RARFHMNEES

the Period from the Listing Date to December 31,2018
tHBEE=E-N\F+ZA=1+—HEHE

the year ended 31 December 2018
—E-N\F+ZA=+-HLEFE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of PRC
ARYE  FEUEZEE

restricted share units granted pursuant to the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme

RE-Z—AFROBETERENZ RO EN

—E-\FH BMEHERAS 5\



Definitions

R

“RSU Trustee”

[ ZPRHIRR P EEGIZFEA |

“Rule 144A”

[E144A0 ]

“SFO”

[ RAERS

“Shanghai ChiLe”

[ Ligithse]

“Share(s)”
[R5 J

“Shareholder(s)”
M=

“Stock Exchange”
[ B 32 P |

“subsidiary(ies)”

[ BB 2AE ]

“substantial shareholder”

[ EERER]

“United States,”
“U.S.” or “US”
[EHE |

“US$”
[ ]

% Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2018

The Core Trust Company Limited, a company incorporated on 25
September 2012 and existing under the laws of Hong Kong, an
independent third party

BEETEARAT  —FRZB-—ZFAAS+HEBERBEBEETMAT
WHFENRE  B—EBBUE=FR

Rule 144A under the U.S. Securities Act
EEFEFEE T HE144AK

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time

EBEBIEST EC(E S RBAEMRG) EREHERT ~ BRARUEAMI XER)

Shanghai Chile Information Technology Co., Ltd. (L/&th&s B8Rl HE
BR A 7]), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC with limited
liability on 18 June 2014, owned by Mr. Gao and Beijing JinChi as to
51.0% and 49.0% of its share capital, respectively
EPEHEEEREERAR  —KR=F—WF-A T+ N\BRBHEEET
MALNERAT  ASEERIEEEMD BIHEBH51.0% K% 49.0% R4

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of our Company with a par value of
US$0.0000002 each
AR R G IR E{E0.0000002 3% T E EAR

holder(s) of Share(s)
ROEFEA

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BBHMERZMBERAR

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

AR EmRAETZANERE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
BB EmRAETZARNEE

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas
subject to its jurisdiction
EFRERE > HELT  BHRSHALEENREHE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
£ XBUEERY




Definitions

R

J

“Wanka Hong Kong” Wanka Holdings Limited (JtWliZ &R A7), a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong on 6 June 2014, and our directly wholly-
owned subsidiary

[ TToE | 18 GIWERBERAT  — KR -E—WFABASBERBEMRILNERA
7 AERMNEE2ENBAT

“Wanka Huanju” or “WFOE” Wanka Huanju Culture Media (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (BtMIEEE (L& (b 3)
BBRAT]), a company established in the PRC on 10 October 2014, and
our wholly-owned subsidiary

[ STUNEE X[ b B E 2 | & UM B ALEE (LR ERAT  —RR=ZF—NFE+ A+ BEFERK
VAT AERMNEENRB AT

“%” per centum

[ %] = ERalnd

“2016 Share Incentive Scheme” the share incentive scheme adopted by the Company on 6 January 2016

which was amended, restated and replaced in its entirety by a restricted
share unit scheme on 24 May 2018, the principal terms of which are set
out in the section headed “Report of the Directors — 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme”

[ ZF—RERH RS B ARARZB-AF-AXRBERANROEBTE R=T-N\FEA=+
MMBUZRERDEMAFEREREMEE - EFIRER - HXERINES
HBE— - RFROZ/E -

* for identification purposes only * EHER

The English names of the PRC entities, PRC laws or regulations, REFHTEPEERE - FEAEDER AR
and the PRC governmental authorities referred to in this annual FEIB TR B R EE 1 ER X &7
report are translations from their Chinese names and are for LUHRGELEY - B2  BIXP X EFEHE -
identification purposes. If there is any inconsistency, the Chinese

names shall prevail.

Certain amounts and percentage figures included in this annual ~— KAEHFTHE FLHERETHLEFEAIE -
report have been subject to rounding adjustments. Accordingly, Bt » ETFRIEFIBEEARLERE FEER
figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be an arithmetic =~ HJEMAEH  HEZRFENLF  BEHL+E
aggregation of the figures preceding them and figures rounded HI B F R BT T3] 5 AT BB F 2 o
to the nearest thousand, million or billion may not be identical to

figures that have been rounded differently to them.

—E-\FH BMEHERAS J\



Definitions

R

For the purpose of this annul report announcement, the exchange  RAEEHEF - EFRA1ETEARE
rate of HK$1 = RMBO0.8793 has been used, where applicable, for =~ 0.8793 T ZEZX (f5E /) - 1EEH#HZH 8 - I
purpose of illustration only and does not constitute a representation THRANFAEEEAGETLTAREEA
that any amount has been, could have been or may be exchanged — Hjs{ 1T/ E fth A Ai#% 7% B R s (T ] A it [ =
at such rates or any other rates or at all on the date or dates in HBE o

question or any other date.
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